
 

 

  
PUBLIC NOTICE AND AGENDA OF THE WEST BRANCH CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

SCHEDULED TO CONVENE AT 7:00 P.M. TUESDAY FEBRUARY 16, 2021 IN THE CITY 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 110 NORTH POPLAR STREET, WEST BRANCH, IOWA. 
 
Mayor Roger Laughlin mayor@westbranchiowa.org 

Mayor Pro Tem Colton Miller mcolton@rocketmail.com 

Council Member Jodee Stoolman j.stoolmanwbcc@yahoo.com  

Council Member Nick Goodweiler nickgoodweilerwbcc@gmail.com  

Council Member Tom Dean tdiowa@hotmail.com  

Council Member Jerry Sexton jerrysextonwb@gmail.com  

City Administrator Redmond Jones II rjonesii@westbranchiowa.org 

City Attorney Kevin Olson kevinolsonlaw@gmail.com 

Deputy City Clerk Leslie Brick leslie@westbranchiowa.org 
 

Please note:  Most written communications to or from government officials regarding government 

business are public records available to the public and media upon request.  Your e-mail 

communications may therefore be subject to public disclosure.  Electronic Meeting (Pursuant to 

Iowa Code section 21.8) An electronic meeting is being held because a meeting in person is 

impossible or impractical due to concerns for the health and safety of council members, staff and 

the public presented by COVID-19.  You can watch and/or participate in the meeting at the following 

link https://zoom.us/j/5322527574 or dial in phone number 1-312-626-6799 with Meeting ID 532 

252 7574.  A video of the meeting will also be made available February 22nd on the City Website.  

For your safety and the safety of others please explore all available opportunities to participate by 

phone or computer.  If you are unable to attend or participate by computer or phone, you may come 

to City Hall as an audience member. 

 

AGENDA 

A. Call to Order 

 

B. Opening Ceremonies 
 

1. Pledge of Allegiance 
2. Welcome – In honor of President’s Day and in the words of West Branch native 

Herbert Hoover our 31st President – “Equality of opportunity is the right of every 
American, rich or poor, foreign or native born, without respect to race or religion.  
By its maintenance alone we can hold open the door of full achievement to every 
new generation and to every boy and girl.” 

 

C. Roll Call 

 

D. Guest Speaker, Presentations and Proclamations. 
 

 

E. Public Comment 

 
 

mailto:mayor@westbranchiowa.org
mailto:mcolton@rocketmail.com
mailto:rjonesii@westbranchiowa.org
mailto:kevinolsonlaw@gmail.com
mailto:leslie@westbranchiowa.org
https://zoom.us/j/5322527574


 

 

F. Approve Agenda / Consent Agenda / Move to Action 
Routine items and items not anticipated to be controversial are placed on the Consent Agenda to expedite the 

meeting.  If a Council member, staff member or member of the Public wishes to discuss any item on the 

Consent Agenda, they can request the item be removed from the Consent Agenda for discussion.    
1. Motion to Approve Meeting Minutes for City Council Meeting February 1, 2021.  
2. Motion to Approve a Class C Native Wine, with Outdoor Service and Sunday Sales 

Liquor License Renewal for Elmira Winery (aka Brick Arch Winery), Located at 116 W. 
Main Street.    

3. Motion to Approve a Class C Liquor License, Class B Native Wine, with Outdoor 
Service and Sunday Sales for “Eldr LLC”, Located at 2 Ember Lane West Branch, Iowa.  

4. Motion to Set the Public Hearing to Consider Authorizing the City Administrator to 
Execute the State Revolving Fund (SRF) Planning and Design Loan Related to the City’s 
Wastewater Treatment System for March 1st at 7:00pm.  

5. Motion to Approve Writing off an Unpaid Utility Balance as per Resolution 1087 – Fox 
Run Golf Course.  

6. Motion to Approve Writing off an Unpaid Utility Balance as per Resolution 1087 – 213 
Cedar Street.  

7. Motion to Approve the Claims Report. 
 

G. Public Hearing / Non-Consent Agenda  
1. Public Hearing: on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract and Estimate of Cost for the 

I-80 Water Main Relocation Project. 
2. Resolution 1980 - A Resolution Approving the Plans and Specifications for the I-80 

Water Main Relocation Project.  
3. Public Hearing: Considering a Proposed Amendment to Section 165 (adding section 50 

– Swimming Pools) of the West Branch Zoning Ordinance. 
4. First Reading of Ordinance 780 – An Ordinance Amending Chapter 165; Entitled, 

“Zoning Regulations” regarding adding section 50 – Swimming Pools to the West 
Branch Zoning Ordinance.   

5. Resolution 1978 – A Resolution Authorizing Certain Fund Transfers for the College 
Street Bridge, and Second Street Improvements Project. 

6. Resolution 1979 – A Resolution Establishing a New Fund. 
7. Discussion Item: Budget topics (fine tuning) and Early Draft of the City Administrator’s 

Recommended Budget.  
 

H. Reports 

1. City Administrator’s Report 
2. City Attorney Report 
3. Staff Hearsays 

I. Comments from the Mayor and City Council Members 
 
J. Adjournment 

 



 

(The following is a synopsis of the minutes of the West Branch City Council meeting. A video recording is available 

for inspection on the City of West Branch Website at westbranchiowa.org/city-of-west-branch/mayor-city-

council/meetings/.  The minutes are not approved until the next regularly scheduled City Council meeting.) 

 

West Branch, Iowa                                               City Council                                       February 1, 2021 

Council Chambers                                            Regular Meeting                                            7:00 p.m.                                                                         

 
An Electronic Meeting (pursuant to Iowa Code Section 21.8) of the City Council of the City of West Branch, 

Cedar County, IA was held on Monday, February 1, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. because a meeting in person was 

impossible or impractical due to concerns for the health and safety of Council Members, Staff and the 

Public presented by COVID-19.   

 

Until further notice, all of our Council Meetings will be held electronically.  Persons may still attend, 

observe and participate in the meeting at the Council Chambers, City Office, 110 N. Poplar St, West 

Branch, Iowa.  Social distancing practices shall be observed for any persons attending the meeting in 

person at City Hall. 

  
Mayor Roger Laughlin called the West Branch City Council regular meeting to order at 7:02 p.m.  Roll call: 

Council members: Colton Miller, Jodee Stoolman, Jerry Sexton, Tom Dean and Nick Goodweiler were present. 

City Staff present:  City Administrator Redmond Jones II, Deputy Clerk Leslie Brick and Finance Officer 

Gordon Edgar.  City Staff attending via Zoom:  Police Chief John Hanna, Public Works Director Matt Goodale, 

Park & Recreation Director Melissa Russell, Library/IT Director Nick Shimmin, City Engineer Dave 

Schechinger and City Attorney Kevin Olson. 

 

GUEST SPEAKER PRESENTATIONS - NONE 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT - NONE 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 Motion to Approve Meeting Minutes for City Council Meeting January 19, 2021. 
 
 Motion to Approve the Destruction of Certain Records with Shred-it Services Listed on Records 

Destruction Form per the Record Manual for Iowa Cities. 
 
 Motion to Set the Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract and Estimate of Cost for the 

I-80 Water Main Relocation project for February 16th at 7:00pm. 
 
 Motion to Approve the Claims Report. 

 
EXPENDITURES      2/1/2021  
    
ALTORFER INC     REPAIR PARTS     399.31  
AMAZON      BOOKS, OFFICE & PROGRAM SUPPLI   406.87  
BAKER & TAYLOR INC.     BOOKS      279.41  
BIG COUNTRY SEEDS INC    ICE MELT      779.10  
BOWERS CUSTOM SERVICES LLC    HAULING ROCK - CUBBY PARK    1,815.00  
BROWN SUPPLY CO. INC.    SNOW PLOW CUTTING EDGES    6,297.00  
CJ COOPER & ASSOCIATES    DRUG TEST     35.00  
D&R PEST CONTROL     PEST CONTROL SERVICE    70.00  
DEMCO      BUILDING SUPPLIES     626.64  
HEIMAN FIRE EQUIPMENT    ECLIPSE CAMERA SN-DX01555    5,000.00  
IOWA ONE CALL     UTILITY SERVICE LOCATION    35.10  
LIBERTY COMMUNICATIONS    LIBERTY COMMUNICATIONS    1,562.26  
LYNCH'S EXCAVATING INC    SNOW REMOVAL     1,125.00  
MAINSTAY SYSTEMS, INC.    SOFTWARE LICENSES     328.00  
OLSON, KEVIN D     LEGAL SERVICES- FEBRUARY, 2021   1,500.00  
OVERDRIVE INC     BOOKS      718.14  
PORT 'O' JONNY INC.     SERVICE CEMETERY     101.00  
QC ANALYTICAL SERVICES LLC    LAB ANALYSIS     913.00  
 
QUILL CORP     CLEANING SUPPLIES     58.93  
UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPAN   UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY OF   674.14  
VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    I-80 WIDENING COORDINATION    190.00  

https://westbranchiowa.org/city-of-west-branch/mayor-city-council/meetings/
https://westbranchiowa.org/city-of-west-branch/mayor-city-council/meetings/
rjonesii
Typewritten Text
         Consent Item 1



 

VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    LOT SITE PLAN REVIEW    90.50  
VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    KOFRON PROPERTY PUD REVIEW    724.00  
VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    319 UTILITY RELOCATION & I-80 WIDENING   1,740.00  
VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    321   WIDENING WAPSI CREEK @ BERANEK PARK 3,888.50  
VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    WBHS SITE PLAN REVIEW    543.00  
VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    323   I-80 WEST, WATER MAIN RELOCATION   1,754.12  
VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    324   WW TREATMT FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS 2021 17,490.00  
VEENSTRA & KIMM INC.    WFPO GRANT REVIEW    362.00  
VERIZON WIRELESS     VERIZON WIRELESS     420.89  
WELLMARK     JANUARY INSURANCE ADJUSTMENTS   17,578.88  
WEST BRANCH COMM DEVELOPMENT   DOWNTOWN $ FOR HOT MEAL GRANT   2,000.00  
WEST BRANCH FORD     VEHICLE REPAIR     346.37  
    
TOTAL  CHECKS DATED 1-27-2021 MAILED 2/1/2021      69,852.16  
    
PAYROLL      1/22/2021      66,673.50  
    
PAID BETWEEN MEETINGS    
    
PAID 1-27-2021    
CEDAR COUNTY COOPERATIVE    VEHICLE FUEL     508.21  
JAB INK GRAFIX & DESIGNS    VEHICLE REPAIR     830.00  
LEE CASSABAUM     VEHICLE REPAIR     3,098.35  
SHIMMIN, NICK     WINTER READING PROGRAM PRIZES   20.00  
TOTAL            4,456.56  
    
PAID PRIOR TO 1-27-2021    
BRICK, LESLIE     MILEAGE      20.33  
CILEK, LOGAN     CLOTHING ALLOWANCE    205.98  
MERCHANT SERVICES     CREDIT CARD FEES     59.91  
WAGEWORKS-HEALTH EQUITY    EMPLOYEE FLEX PLAN     869.28  
BUSINESS RADIO SALES    PAGER REPAIR     235.93  
HOFFMAN, MEGAN     CLEANING SERVICE     234.00  
HOTSY CLEANING SYSTEMS    VEHICLE MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES   381.00  
MEDIACOM     CABLE SERVICE     41.90  
PITNEY BOWES PURCHASE POWER   REPLENISH POSTAGE METER    500.00  
QUAD CITY SAFETY INC    CALIBRATION GAS     715.88  
US BANK CORPORATE CARD    REPAIR PARTS, SUPPLIES    352.31  
WEST BRANCH FIREFIGHTERS FOUNDATION   EQUIPMENT REPAIR     696.71  
WEST BRANCH REPAIRS    VEHICLE REPAIR     173.98  
 
TOTAL            4,487.21  
    
GRAND TOTAL EXPENDITURES          145,469.43  
    
FUND TOTALS    
001   GENERAL FUND     40,792.69  
022   CIVIC CENTER     98.88  
031   LIBRARY     8,504.69  
110   ROAD USE TAX     18,008.68  
112   TRUST AND AGENCY   24,915.04  
308   PARK IMP - PEDERSEN VALLEY   960.00  
319 UTILITY RELOCATION & I-80 WIDENING   1,740.00  
321   WIDENING WAPSI CREEK @ BERANEK PARK  3,888.50  
323   I-80 WEST, WATER MAIN RELOCATION   1,754.12  
324   WW TREATMT FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS 2021  17,490.00  
600   WATER FUND     12,943.69  
610   SEWER FUND     13,141.86  
740   STORM WATER UTILITY    362.00  
950   EMPLOYEE FLEX PLAN    869.28  
    
GRAND TOTAL     145,469.43 
 

Stoolman questioned why there was a claim for snow removal from Lynch Excavating.  Goodale replied that 

he contacted them for assistance after the New Year’s Day snowstorm.  Goodale said his staff was not able to 

get the downtown snow piles moved quickly between storms and called for their help. 

Motion by Sexton, second by Miller approve agenda/consent agenda.  AYES:  Sexton, Miller, Stoolman, Dean, 

Goodweiler.  NAYS:  None.  Motion carried.   

 



 

PUBLIC HEARING / NON-CONSENT AGENDA 

 
Public Hearing: Considering the Maximum Tax Dollars from Certain Levies To Be Certified in the Proposed 

Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Budget. 

Laughlin opened the public hearing at 7:05 p.m.  Jones clarified that the current property tax levy rate of 

$13.09 would not change for FY22. Jones said there was an increase in general growth from valuations from 

$143,758,299 in 2020/2021 to $150,927,653 for 2021/2022.  There were no public comments.  Laughlin 

closed the public hearing at 7:06 p.m. 

 

Resolution 1975 – Approving the Maximum Tax Dollars from Certain Levies for the City’s Proposed Fiscal 

Year 2021-2022 Budget. / Move to action. 

Motion by Goodweiler, second by Dean to approve Resolution 1975.  AYES:  Goodweiler, Dean, Miller, 

Sexton, Stoolman.   NAYS:  None.  Motion carried. 

 

Resolution 1976 – Approving An Engineering Services Agreement Between Veenstra & Kimm, Inc. and the 

City of West Branch, Iowa for the 2021 Bridge Inspection and Load Rating. / Move to action. 

The council discussed which bridges would be inspected (per Exhibit A of the agreement) and approved the 

agreement without objection. 

Motion by Sexton, second by Goodweiler to approve Resolution 1976.  AYES:  Sexton, Goodweiler, 

Stoolman, Miller, Dean.   NAYS:  None.  Motion carried. 

 

Resolution 1977 – Authorizing the Completion and Submission of a Clean Water SRF “Sponsored Project 

Application”, and the Related Agreement for Engineering Services. / Move to action. 

Miller asked if projects such as bank stabilization or creek clean-up would be suitable projects to add under 

as a water quality project under the terms of the SRF Loan for the Wastewater Treatment System 

improvements loan.  Schechinger said he would check with Impact 7G, who will be assisting Veenstra & 

Kimm on the application, if those activities would qualify under the program.  Miller then asked Jones how 

the City was planning on paying for the engineer’s fee.  Jones replied that he planned on using some of the 

park money ear marked for the Wapsi Creek widening project.  Miller asked if storm water funds could be 

used instead and stated that all of the recent projects seemed to be trying to use the same funds.  The council 

agreed and wanted to ensure that there would still be money left to extend the baselines at Cubby Park as 

planned.  Jones said he would discuss further with Edgar to ensure this would not interfere with other 

planned projects. 

Motion by Miller, second by Dean to approve Resolution 1977.  AYES:  Miller, Dean, Goodweiler, 

Stoolman, Sexton.   NAYS:  None.  Motion carried. 

 

Motion to approve Revenue Estimates to be incorporated in the City Administrator’s Recommended Budget. 

/ Move to action. 

Jones said revenue estimates would not change from FY21 and were to remain the same for FY22. 

Motion by Miller, second by Sexton.  AYES:  Miller, Sexton, Dean, Stoolman, Dean, Goodweiler. NAYS:  

None.  Motion carried. 

 

Motion to approve the Salary Plan Intended to be incorporated into the City Administrator’s Recommended 

Budget. / Move to action. 

Jones said the exercise used at the last Council meeting that anonymously polled the council on their 

preference on COLA percentages for city employees with a range of 1.38% to 2%, showed a split decision 

(which included the Mayor weighing in).  Stoolman reminded the Mayor that his vote shouldn’t count in the 

matter, but Laughlin disagreed with him being able give his input on the subject.  Jones said he is 

recommending the 2% COLA for FY22 since the last 3 years only COLA had been given to most employees 

and that local rate increases should be considered.  Miller disagreed with Jones and said that many City 

employees don’t even live within the City limits and therefore are not affected by the local increases.  

Stoolman said her opinion was that 2% was too much since additional employee benefits were added last 

year (disability benefits and increased life insurance).  Dean added that in his (current) job, he only received 

a one percent increase this year.  Stoolman then said her salary is frozen and she wouldn’t be receiving an 

increase this year.  Sexton commented that City employees don’t all do the same job, which indicates salaries 



 

can’t be similar.  Different skills, different responsibilities warranted different pay and that a wage gap is 

probably unavoidable referring to Dean’s proposed Merit Pay plan discussed at recent meetings.  While the 

council had mixed feelings on the subject, the Mayor asked for a member to make a motion to approve the 

2% COLA increase. 

Motion by Sexton, second by Miller.  AYES:  Sexton, Miller, Goodweiler. NAYS:  Dean, Stoolman.  Motion 

carried. 

 
 
Motion to a?pprove the Non-Salary Department Expenditures (City Goals That Will Be Funded in the 

Proposed Budget). / Move to action. 

Jones reviewed the list of Council goals set for FY22 and indicated which ones were ‘funded’ and which 

ones were not.  The list included several other goals and projects set by the Council as priorities that will not 

require public funds, rather staff time only in completing.  After further discussion the Council agreed that 

the alley overlay project between 4th and 5th Streets should be removed from the list of projects for FY22 and 

the number of votes on the subject was not truly representative of Council support.  

Motion by Dean, second by Goodweiler to approve the non-salary expenditures minus the alley overlay 

project.  AYES:  Dean, Goodweiler, Sexton, Miller, Stoolman.   NAYS:  None.  Motion carried. 

 
 
Motion to approve the transfer from current city e-mail service to Google Workspace. / Move to action. 

Shimmin explained his proposal to move the city e-mail to Google Workspace which would improve 

reliability, functionality, sustainability and ease of use.  Shimmin added the current system has older 

technology which continually has issues that affect sending and receiving email.  Shimmin’ proposal for the 

move will cost the City approximately $1080.00 per year. The Council had no objection to Shimmin’s 

proposal. 

Motion by Goodweiler, second by Sexton.  AYES:  Goodweiler, Sexton, Miller, Stoolman, Dean.   NAYS:  

None.  Motion carried. 

 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR REPORT 

Jones reported that the planning & design portion of the SRF loan had been approved and the next step was to 

talk with the bond counsel.  Jones said V&K had provided updated cost estimates for the restructure of Cedar- 

Johnson Road from West Main Street to Birdie Lane at $3.2 million.  Jones said now that “we have a number” 

we can start planning on how to fund that project.  He also reported that a 28E agreement was being worked 

on with Johnson County on the round-about project slated to begin later this summer.  Jones said Schechinger 

was continues to work with the Gaskill’s and the creek widening project.  And finally, Jones asked the Council 

if they wanted the City Office to reopen to the public.  The Mayor and Council felt that the office should remain 

closed through at least February and then reassessed again in March. 

 

CITY ATTORNEY REPORT 

No report. 

 

STAFF REPORTS  

No reports. 

 

COMMENTS FROM MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Laughlin announced that Hoover’s Hometown Days planning was underway which includes the fireworks 

display and other events scaled back.  Laughlin said the planning group will meet monthly and updates will be 

provided as they are known.   

 

Dean said he spoke with WBSCD Superintendent Jimmerson who advised him the school board tabled the 28E 

Agreement proposed by the Council that had the City paying $150,000 of the proposed turn-lane project on 

West Main Street in front of the high school.  Jimmerson indicated that the school board was hoping for the 

City to pay fifty percent of the total cost of the improvements.  Dean asked the Council if they wanted to 

entertain further negotiations on the subject.  The Council discussed the subject but felt that they had offered 

the best deal they could and finally decided that if the school board wanted something different, they should 

come to them and make a request. 

 



 

Miller asked if fund balances could be made more readily available to the Council for making financial 

decisions on certain subjects.  Edgar said he would provide that information in the future. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion to adjourn the regular meeting by Miller, second by Sexton.  Motion carried on a voice vote.  City 

Council meeting adjourned at 8:57 p.m.  

 

 

              

                           _________________________________________  

                                        Roger Laughlin, Mayor 

 

 

 

ATTEST: ______________________________________________ 

                   Leslie Brick, Deputy City Clerk  



 

 

  

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Motion to Approve a Class C Native Wine, with Outdoor Service and 

Sunday Sales License Renewal for Elmira Winery (aka Brick Arch Winery), 

116 W. Main St., West Branch, IA. 

CITY GOAL: Promote quality of life including public safety, community pride events, 

strong citizen involvement, parks and recreation opportunities and 

investment. 

PREPARED BY: Leslie Brick, Deputy City Clerk 

DATE:  February 12, 2021  
     
BACKGROUND:  
 

Approve Class C Native Wine (WCN) with the following privileges: 

 

Class C Native Wine 

 Outdoor Service 

Sunday sales 

 

The Brick Arch Winery, 116 W. Main St., West Branch, IA. 

 

Renewal is effective March 1, 2021 – February 28, 2022. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Motion – Move to Action 
 
REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        
 

Consent Item 2 



 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Motion to Approve Class C Liquor License, Class B Native Wine, with 

Outdoor Service and Sunday Sales for Eldr LLC, 2 Ember Lane, West 

Branch, IA. 

CITY GOAL: Promote quality of life including public safety, community pride events, 

strong citizen involvement, parks and recreation opportunities and 

investment. 

PREPARED BY: Leslie Brick, Deputy City Clerk 

DATE:  February 12, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  

 
Approve Class C Liquor License (LC) (Commercial) with the following privileges: 

 

Class B Native Wine 

 Outdoor Service 

Sunday sales 

 

Little Lights on the Lane, 2 Ember Lane, West Branch, IA. 

 

Renewal is effective March 1, 2021 – February 28, 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Motion – Move to Action 
 

REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        
 

Consent Item 3 



 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Motion to Set a Public Hearing: to Consider Authorizing the City 

Administrator to Execute the State Revolving Fund (SRF) Planning and 

Design Loan Related to the City’s Wastewater Treatment System for March 

1st at 7:00pm. 

CITY GOAL: Promote quality of life including public safety, community pride events, 

strong citizen involvement, parks and recreation opportunities and 

investment. 

PREPARED BY: Leslie Brick, Deputy City Clerk 

DATE:  February 12, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  

 

This Notice will hereby be given that a public hearing will be held by the City of West Branch 

considering the authorization and execution of a State Revolving Fund (SRF) Planning and Design 

Loan in the amount not to exceed $619,000 for wastewater treatment system improvements.   

 

The proposed project involves the installation of an Enhanced Treatment Aerated Lagoon with 

Submerged Attached Growth Reactor (SAGR).  The SAGR system will allow the City to comply 

with their new, more stringent ammonia limits.  The existing lagoon infrastructure would be 

retained for primary and secondary treatment.  UV disinfection facilities are included in the 

construction plans to address compliance with bacteria limits.  An additional aerated lagoon, 

aeration equipment, SAGR media, baffle replacement and a UV disinfection system would be 

included as a part of this overall project. 

 

The purpose of this Public Hearing is to inform area residents of the community of West Branch of 

this proposed action, discuss the actual project, any anticipated user fees associated with the 

project, and address citizen’s concerns, if any, with the plan. 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Motion – Move to Action 
 

REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        
 

Consent Item 4 



 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  

 

STATE REVOLVING FUND PLANNING AND DESIGN LOAN FOR WASTEWATER 

TREATMENT SYSTEM IN WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 

Notice is hereby given that a public hearing will be held by the City of West Branch 

considering the authorization and execution of a State Revolving Fund (SRF) Planning and 

Design Loan in the amount not to exceed $619,000 for wastewater treatment system 

improvements.   

 

The proposed project involves the installation of an Enhanced Treatment Aerated Lagoon 

with Submerged Attached Growth Reactor (SAGR).  The SAGR system will allow the City to 

comply with their new, more stringent ammonia limits.  The existing lagoon infrastructure 

would be retained for primary and secondary treatment.  UV disinfection facilities are 

included in the construction plans to address compliance with bacteria limits.  An 

additional aerated lagoon, aeration equipment, SAGR media, baffle replacement and a UV 

disinfection system would be included as a part of this overall project. 

 

The purpose of this Public Hearing is to inform area residents of the community of West 

Branch of this proposed action, discuss the actual project, any anticipated user fees 

associated with the project, and address citizen’s concerns, if any, with the plan. 

 

The Public Hearing location and time are as follows: 

 

March 1, 2021 - meeting at 7:00 p.m.  

West Branch City Hall, Council Chambers 

110 North Poplar Street,  

West Branch, Iowa 52358 

 

All interested persons are encouraged to attend this hearing.  Written comments on this 

matter may also be submitted prior to the hearing.  Question regarding this hearing or 

documentation may be directed to the City Administrator Office at 319-643-5888. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                   

Published by the order of the City of West Branch, Iowa. 

 

     CITY OF WEST BRANCH, IOWA, 

                   

      Roger Laughlin, Mayor    

 
  



Ttoigo
Typewritten Text
PDCW-2174CS1920982





 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Motion to Approve Writing off an Unpaid Utility Balance as per Resolution 

1087 – Fox Run Golf Course. 

CITY GOAL: Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, 

progressive thinking and modernizing the organization. 

PREPARED BY: Leslie Brick, Deputy City Clerk 

DATE:  February 12, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  

Fox Run Golf Course, under previous ownership had a history of delinquent utility bills.  The 

account balance had a lien placed on it in February 2016 in the amount of $591.33, which was 

recovered through a property tax assessment.   The account balance after the initial lien was paid 

was $101.99.    

 

A new tenant took over the golf course from May 2016 to November 2016.  The prior balance was 

transferred back to the original property owner and storm water fees in the amount of $150.00 were 

billed monthly (and remained unpaid).   

 

The final balance on the account when the property was sold was $251.99. 

 

Per Resolution 1087, section 4, the City Council must approve writing off unpaid utility balances in 

excess of $250.00.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Motion – Move to Action 
 

REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        
 

 

Consent Item 5 





 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Motion to Approve Writing off an Unpaid Utility Balance as per Resolution 

1087 – 213 Cedar Street.    

CITY GOAL: Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, 

progressive thinking and modernizing the organization. 

PREPARED BY: Leslie Brick, Deputy City Clerk 

DATE:  February 12, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  

 

This property was a foreclosure property in 2016.  The account was transferred to Metropolitan Life 

Insurance of Coral Gables, Florida in September of 2016.   

 

Monthly utility bills were mailed to the address provided in Florida and remained unpaid from 

November 2016 through April of 2017.  There was no usage (water, sewer or recycling) during this 

time and the curb stop was determined to be inoperable when unpaid bills required the water to be 

shut off.   

 

A 30 day lien notice was mailed to Metropolitan Life Insurance in February 2017, however  

the property was sold in March 2017 and a new owner took possession of the property. 

 

The final balance on this account is $255.32. 

 

Per Resolution 1087, section 4, the City Council must approve writing off unpaid utility balances in 

excess of $250.00.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Motion – Move to Action 
 

REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        
 

 

Consent Item 6 





 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Motion to Approve the Claims Report. 

CITY GOAL: Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, 

progressive thinking and modernizing the organization. 

PREPARED BY: Gordon Edgar, Finance Director 

DATE:  February 10, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  

These are routine expenditures that include such items as payroll, budget expenditures, and other 

financial items that relate to City Council approved items and/or other day to day operational 

disclosures. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Claims Report – Move to Action 

 

REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        

 

Consent Item 7 















 

 

  
                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Public Hearing: on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract and Estimate of 

Cost for the I-80 Water Main Relocation project for February 16th at 

7:00pm. 

CITY GOAL: Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, 

progressive thinking and modernizing the organization. 

PREPARED BY: Redmond Jones II, City Administrator 

DATE:  January 25, 2021  
     
BACKGROUND:  
 

Notice is hereby given that a public hearing will be held by the City of West Branch on the 

proposed contract documents (plans, specifications, and form of contract) and estimated 

cost for the I-80 Water Main Relocation project at its meeting at 7:00 p.m. on the 16th day 

of February, 2021, in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 110 North Poplar Street, West 

Branch, Iowa.  At the hearing, the City will receive and consider any objections made by 

any interested party, to the Plans and Specifications, proposed Form of Contract, and the 

Estimate of the Cost for the project.   

 

The work will include but is not limited to the following improvements: 

 

 I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 

 

Construct I-80 Water Main Relocation including all labor, equipment, and materials 

necessary for removal of existing water main; installation of 12" water main; valves; 

hydrants; steel casing; grading; seeding; and associated work. 

 

A bid occurred February 10th.  More than a dozen bids were submitted.  Currently they are 

under review.  At this time staff will be recommending City Council approval of the plans 

and specifications.  The award of bid and form of contract is recommended to be 

considered March 15th to allow for references and past performance background check(s). 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Open Public Hearing / Public Feedback / Close Public Hearing 
 
REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        

Non Consent Item 1 



 

 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Resolution 1980 – A Resolution Approving the Plans and Specifications for 

the I-80 Water Main Relocation Project. 

CITY GOAL: Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, 

progressive thinking and modernizing the organization. 

PREPARED BY: Redmond Jones, City Administrator 

DATE:  January 25, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  

 

Since the form of contract and award of contract is still under review; staff recommends moving 

forward with accepting and approving the plans and specifications for the I-80 Water Main 

Relocation Project. 

 

 I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 

 

Construct I-80 Water Main Relocation including all labor, equipment, and materials 

necessary for removal of existing water main; installation of 12" water main; valves; 

hydrants; steel casing; grading; seeding; and associated work. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Resolution 1980 / Move To Action 
 

REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        
 

 Non Consent Item 2 



W psinonoc Creek
a

80

NO. DRAWING TITLE

1 INDEX & TITLE SHEET

2 DETAILS

3 UTILITIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

5 - 9 PLAN & PROFILE

DRAWING INDEX

DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
INDEX & TITLE SHEET

 
1

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_P
R

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

IN
D

EX
 &

 T
IT

LE
W

ed
ne

sd
ay

, J
an

ua
ry

 2
7,

 2
02

1 
12

:1
0:

11
 P

M

VICINITY MAP
NOT TO SCALE

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

PROJECT
LOCATION

PLANS  FOR
I-80 WATER MAIN  RELOCATION
WEST  BRANCH,  IOWA

GENERAL  NOTES

PROTECTION  OF  VEGETATION

1. ALL ELEVATIONS ARE TO NAVD 88 STATE PLANE SOUTH.
2. SHAPE ALL DITCHES TO DRAIN AFTER CONSTRUCTION.
3. CONFIRM LOCATION AND DEPTH OF ALL EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS

REQUIRED TO ELIMINATE CONFLICTS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. ALLOW UTILITY
PERSONNEL TO RELOCATE UTILITIES WHERE CONFLICTS OCCUR.

4. DO NOT INTERRUPT EXISTING UTILITIES OR INDIVIDUAL SERVICES UNLESS
DIRECTED BY ENGINEER.

5. LOCATIONS OF CONSTRUCTION LIMIT LINES SHOWN ON PLANS ARE
APPROXIMATE. ENGINEER WILL LOCATE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS IN FIELD.
CONFINE ALL CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS, INCLUDING ACCESS TO WORK, TO
CONSTRUCTION LIMITS.

6. STATIONING IS ALONG CENTER LINE OF WATER MAIN.
7. PROTECT UTILITY POLES, LINES AND APPURTENANCES NOT SHOWN FOR

RELOCATION.
8. RESET ALL PROPERTY PINS DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION; PINS RESET BY

REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR; COST IS INCIDENTAL TO CONSTRUCTION.
9. PROTECT ALL SURFACING, NOT INDICATED BY SHADING FOR REMOVAL AND

REPLACEMENT FROM DAMAGE DURING CONSTRUCTION.

TREES AND OTHER VEGETATION WHICH MAY BE REMOVED ARE MARKED WITH AN
"X" OVER THE APPROPRIATE SYMBOL. FOR EXAMPLE       12" INDICATES THE
REMOVAL OF A 12" TREE. REPLACEMENT, BY CONTRACTOR, OF  THESE ITEMS IS NOT
REQUIRED. TUNNEL, INSTALL TIGHT SHEETING, HAND EXCAVATE OR EMPLOY OTHER
MEANS APPROVED BY ENGINEER TO PROTECT EXPOSED PORTIONS AND ROOT
SYSTEMS OF TREES AND OTHER VEGETATION NOT SCHEDULED FOR REMOVAL. IF
TREES AND OTHER VEGETATION NOT SCHEDULED FOR REMOVAL ARE DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION, REPLACE IN KIND AND SIZE AT NO COST TO CITY OR
PROPERTY OWNER.

NOTE: THIS IS A GENERAL LEGEND. ITEMS MAY OR MAY NOT APPEAR ON DRAWINGS.

SURVEY LINE & STATION INDICATOR
CONCRETE SURFACE

LOW GRADE ASPHALT SURFACE

ASPHALT SURFACE

EXISTING STORM SEWER AND SIZE

CONCRETE W/ASPHALT OVERLAY

GRANULAR SURFACE
DIRT SURFACE

EXISTING WATER MAIN AND SIZE

BRICK SURFACE
SURFACING REMOVAL/REPLACEMENT

EXISTING FORCE MAIN AND SIZE

EARTH SECTION
NEW SEWER/MANHOLE

GAS MAIN AND SIZE

NEW SEWER/INTAKE
NEW WATER MAIN

UNDERGROUND POWER LINE

NEW FORCE MAIN
NEW HYDRANT

OVERHEAD POWER LINE

NEW WATER VALVE
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER AND SIZE

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE
CABLE TELEVISION LINE
FIBER OPTICS
TOP OF EMBANKMENT
TOE OF EMBANKMENT
DRAINAGE COURSE
SANITARY MANHOLE

CURB INTAKE
AREA OR BEEHIVE INTAKE
EXISTING HYDRANT
EXISTING WATER VALVE
GAS VALVE
UTILITY POLE

STREET LIGHT
GUY ANCHOR

TRAFFIC SIGNALS

SIGN
TELEPHONE CABLE JUNCTION BOX

PEDESTRIAN CONTROL LIGHT
RAILROAD CONTROL LIGHT
RAILROAD SIGN
UTILITY ACCESS COVER
PARKING METER
TREE
EVERGREEN
STUMP
BUSH, SHRUB OR HEDGE

CULVERT; SIZE AND TYPE
FLARED END SECTION
RAILROAD
MAILBOX
FENCE (MISC.)
SECURITY FENCE
WOOD FENCE

OR

PROPERTY LINE
PROPERTY PIN
SECTION CORNER
PLAT BOUNDARY
BUILDING

8"S

ELEVATION MARKER
CENTERLINE
DIAMETER
ELEVATION

T

POLYVINYLCHLORIDE PIPE
CAST IRON PIPE
DUCTILE IRON PIPE
CORRUGATED METAL PIPE
VITRIFIED CLAY PIPE
REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE
REINFORCED CONCRETE ARCH PIPE
LINED REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE
LINED CONCRETE PRESSURE PIPE
STATION
LINE AHEAD
LINE BACK
BENCH MARK AND NUMBER
RIGHT-OF-WAY
POINT OF INTERSECTION
POINT ON TANGENT
LINEAR FEET
TACKED HUB
SOIL BORING AND NUMBER
POINT OF VERTICAL CURVATURE
POINT OF VERTICAL TANGENCY
VERTICAL CURVE
POINT OF CURVATURE
POINT OF TANGENCY
MIDDLE ORDINATE
DRAWING
CONTROL POINT AND NUMBER
TYPICAL
HIGH PRESSURE GAS
INTERMEDIATE PRESSURE GAS
INVERT
EACH WAY, EACH FACE
EACH WAY
AT
DRAWING NUMBER

18"ST

6"FM

FO

CTV

12"CMP
OR

@
E.W.

E.W.,E.F.
INV.
IPG
HPG

(TYP.)
CP-1
DWG.

MO
PT
PC
VC
PVT
PVC
SB-2
TH
LF

POT
PI

ROW
BM-2

LB
LA

STA.

ELEV.
PVC
CI
DI

CMP
VCP
RCP

RCAP
LRCP
LCPP

DIA.
C

3

855.55

L

UE

*

GENERAL  LEGEND

PL

SF SILT FENCE
CHAIN LINK FENCE

8"W

4"G

OHE

OR

STORM WATER MANHOLE
ELECTRIC MANHOLE
TELEPHONE MANHOLE
WATER MANHOLE

OR

4 DEMOLITION PLAN & SURVEY CONTROL

1/27/2021

ssmith
Stamp

ssmith
Architect
2021-0167W

ssmith
Architect
February 11. 2021

ssmith
Architect
(Water main portions only)

rjonesii
Typewritten Text
To skip plans and specifications go to page 116



DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
DETAILS

 
2

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_P
R

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

D
ET

A
IL

 S
H

EE
T

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

an
ua

ry
 2

7,
 2

02
1 

12
:1

0:
19

 P
M



UTILITIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH
PUBLIC WORKS
MATT GOODALE, DIRECTOR 319-325-8213
REDMOND JONES, CITY ADMINISTRATOR 319-643-5888
110 NORTH POPLAR STREET

WEST BRANCH POLICE DEPARTMENT 319-643-2222
EMERGENCY 911

WEST BRANCH FIRE DEPARTMENT 319-643-2110
EMERGENCY 911

VEENSTRA & KIMM, INC.- CORALVILLE 319-466-1000

IOWA ONE CALL 800-292-8989
ALLIANT ENERGY:  JOSHUA MILLER 319-929-9591
WINDSTREAM:  KELLY EGGERS 319-385-5004
MEDIACOM:  DARWIN DRISCOLL 845-204-5742
LIBERTY COMMUNICATIONS:  JEFFKOSTNER 715-495-2420

DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
UTILITIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

 
3

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_P
R

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

Q
U

A
N

TI
TI

ES
 &

 E
ST

 R
EF

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

an
ua

ry
 2

7,
 2

02
1 

12
:1

0:
26

 P
M



12" MAIN

6"
 M

AI
N12

" M
AI

N

CONTROL POINT TABLE

Point #

CP-859

CP-8446

CP-8447

CP-8448

CP-8449

CP-8453

CP-9045

CP-9061

CP-9062

CP-9063

CP-9064

CP-9065

Northing

7938462.32

7938291.08

7938297.96

7938293.18

7938234.18

7938494.20

7938400.89

7938046.84

7938053.88

7938095.72

7937953.88

7937946.83

Easting

20587425.23

20585649.18

20586064.69

20586561.04

20586817.16

20587425.38

20584408.72

20586899.75

20587127.44

20587127.52

20587128.03

20586900.11

Elevation

793.93

766.02

779.74

763.84

754.75

793.87

757.28

765.87

779.62

776.88

781.48

766.62

Description

PRP CUT X

PRP ROW RAIL

PRP ROW RAIL

PRP ROW RAIL

PRP ROW RAIL

SC CUT X

PRP ROW RAIL

PRP 5\8IN 14675Y

PRP 5\8IN 14675Y

PRP 3\4IN PIPE

PRP 5\8IN 14675Y

PRP 5\8IN 14675Y

DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:
 W

at
er

 M
od

el
 IR

C
S-

10
 &

 A
er

ia
l C

ed
ar

 IC
R

S-
10

 &
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

Li
ne

s 
IC

R
S_

10

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
DEMOLITION PLAN &
SURVEY CONTROL

4

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_P
R

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

D
EM

O
LI

TI
O

N
W

ed
ne

sd
ay

, J
an

ua
ry

 2
7,

 2
02

1 
12

:1
0:

36
 P

M

0' 100' 200'



332+28

333+00

334+00

335+00

33
6+

00

33
7+

00

PI
: 3

34
+8

2.
36

PI
: 3

34
+8

8.
71

PI
: 3

34
+9

2.
71

PI
: 3

35
+5

8.
45

40 LF OF 12'' R.J.D.I.P.

1435+00
12'' DIP-90° BEND
STA. 335+58.45
N=7938260.69
E=20584840.08

12" GATE VALVE W/ BOX
STA. 335+53.66

N=7938265.43
E=20584840.77

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

STA 337+00

742

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

742

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

332+28 333+00 334+00 335+00 336+00 337+00

77
4.

3
77

4.
26

77
2.

1
77

2.
08

77
0.

3
77

0.
30

77
0.

8
77

0.
83

77
2.

0
77

2.
00

76
8.

5
76

8.
50

76
8.

1
76

8.
14

76
8.

2
76

8.
23

76
4.

4
76

4.
39

76
2.

0
76

2.
00

76
4.

9
76

4.
93

12'' R.J.D.I.P.

12'' R.J.D.I.P.

40 LF OF 12'' R.J.D.I.P.

68 LF OF 24” STEEL CASING PIPE @2.77%.  INSTALL NEW 12”
RESTRAINED JOINT DI WATER MAIN. CONNECT TO EXISTING WATER
MAIN WITH JOINT RESTRAINT.  INSTALL CASING CHOCKS TO CENTER

WATER MAIN IN NEW CASING PIPE.  SLIDE CASING PIPE OVER NEW
WATER MAIN AND BUTT UP TO EXISTING CASING PIPE.  GRIND

ENDS OF CASING PIPE TO BEVEL FOR FILLET WELD.  PROVIDE
CONTINUOUS WELD AROUND CASING PIPE JOINT.

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

D
EP

TH
=6

.0
'

D
EP

TH
=1

0.
1'

D
EP

TH
=1

1.
4'

0' 20' 40'

DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:
 T

R
N

_P
ro

p_
Su

rf
_I

D
O

T-
IR

C
S-

10
 &

 W
at

er
 M

od
el

 IR
C

S-
10

 &
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

Li
ne

s 
IC

R
S_

10
 &

 A
er

ia
l C

ed
ar

 IC
R

S-
10

 &
 P

E-
01

 R
um

m
el

ls
 F

ar
m

s 
Ea

se
m

en
t

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
PLAN & PROFILE

 
5

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_D
ES

IG
N

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

S\
D

ES
IG

N
 W

A
TE

R
 M

A
IN

 R
EL

O
C

A
TI

O
N

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

an
ua

ry
 2

7,
 2

02
1 

12
:1

0:
52

 P
M

NOTES:
1. PROVIDE TRAFFIC CONTROL TO PROTECT THE TRAVELING

PUBLIC.  SEE STANDARD ROAD PLANS FOR TRAFFIC
CONTROL LAYOUT.

2. STRIP AND STOCKPILE TOP 18 INCHES OF TOPSOIL IN ALL
AREAS TO BE DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION.  UPON
COMPLETION OF INSTALLATION OF NEW WATER MAIN,
GRADE DISTURBED AREAS TO 18” BELOW FINISH GRADE.
DISC SURFACE TO 12 INCH DEPTH AND SPREAD TOPSOIL
OVER DISCED SURFACE.  DO NOT COMPACT TOPSOIL BY
DRIVING OVER AREA WITH CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT.

3. PROVIDE ORDINARY BACKFILL FOR ALL TRENCHES.
4. SEED ALL NON-TILLED AGRICULTURAL AREAS WITH RURAL

SEED MIX.
5. PROVIDE RESTRAINED JOINTS ON ALL FITTINGS AND BENDS.

PROVIDE THRUST BLOCKS ON ALL BENDS 22-1/2 AND
GREATER.

6. VERIFY LOCATION, SIZE, DEPTH AND MATERIAL OF EXISTING
WATER MAIN PRIOR TO INSTALLING NEW WATER MAIN.
PROVIDE BENDS AND FITTINGS AS NECESSARY TO CONNECT
TO THE EXISTING WATER MAIN.  CONTACT ENGINEER IF
EXISTING WATER MAIN VARIES FROM PLANS.

7. COORDINATE FILLING AND FLUSHING OF NEW WATER
MAIN WITH CITY.  PROVIDE EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS
NECESSARY TO REDUCE CHLORINE LEVELS TO ACCEPTABLE
LEVEL PRIOR TO FLUSHING WATER MAIN.

8. REPAIR FIELD TILE ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION.
MARK ENDS OF REPAIRED FIELD TILE WITH TEMPORARY
2X4 MARKER UNTIL LOCATION CAN BE RECORDED.
REMOVE TEMPORARY MARKERS PRIOR TO TOPSOIL
PLACEMENT.

9. TEMPORARILY REMOVE FIELD FENCE AND ERECT
CONSTRUCTION FENCE AROUND END OF EXISTING CASING
PIPE TO LIMIT CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY IN IDOT
RIGHT-OF-WAY.  REMOVE CONSTRUCTION FENCE UPON
COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION AND REPLACE FIELD
FENCE.



337+00
338+00 339+00

340+00
341+00

342+00

343+00

PI
: 3

41
+1

3.
36

PI
: 3

41
+9

9.
30

PI: 343+14.58

12''-22.50° BEND
STA. 341+99.30

N=7938222.49
E=20585479.79

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

HYDRANT ASSEMBLY
STA. 338+25.00

N=7938244.78
E=20585106.16

12'' GATE VALVE W/ BOX
STA. 338+20.00
N=7938245.08
E=20585101.16

ST
A 

33
7+

00

STA 342+50

740

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

780

785

740

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

780

785

337+00 338+00 339+00 340+00 341+00 342+00 342+50

76
4.

9
76

4.
93

76
9.

2
76

9.
17

77
2.

0
77

2.
00

77
2.

0
77

2.
00

77
0.

0
76

9.
95

76
6.

7
76

6.
71

76
2.

7
76

2.
70

75
7.

5
75

7.
50

75
3.

8
75

3.
76

75
1.

8
75

1.
76

75
1.

8
75

1.
80

75
3.

9
75

3.
92

D
EP

TH
=-

6.
0'

D
EP

TH
=-

6.
0'

0' 20' 40'

DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:
 T

R
N

_P
ro

p_
Su

rf
_I

D
O

T-
IR

C
S-

10
 &

 W
at

er
 M

od
el

 IR
C

S-
10

 &
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

Li
ne

s 
IC

R
S_

10
 &

 A
er

ia
l C

ed
ar

 IC
R

S-
10

 &
 P

E-
01

 R
um

m
el

ls
 F

ar
m

s 
Ea

se
m

en
t

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
PLAN & PROFILE

 
6

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_D
ES

IG
N

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

S\
D

ES
IG

N
 W

A
TE

R
 M

A
IN

 R
EL

O
C

A
TI

O
N

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

an
ua

ry
 2

7,
 2

02
1 

12
:1

1:
01

 P
M

NOTES:

1. PROVIDE TRAFFIC CONTROL TO PROTECT THE TRAVELING PUBLIC.
SEE STANDARD ROAD PLANS FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL LAYOUT.

2. STRIP AND STOCKPILE TOP 18 INCHES OF TOPSOIL IN ALL AREAS TO
BE DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION.  UPON COMPLETION OF
INSTALLATION OF NEW WATER MAIN, GRADE DISTURBED AREAS TO
18” BELOW FINISH GRADE.  DISC SURFACE TO 12 INCH DEPTH AND
SPREAD TOPSOIL OVER DISCED SURFACE.  DO NOT COMPACT
TOPSOIL BY DRIVING OVER AREA WITH CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT.

3. PROVIDE ORDINARY BACKFILL FOR ALL TRENCHES.
4. SEED ALL NON-TILLED AGRICULTURAL AREAS WITH RURAL SEED MIX.

5. PROVIDE RESTRAINED JOINTS ON ALL FITTINGS AND BENDS.
PROVIDE THRUST BLOCKS ON ALL BENDS 22-1/2 AND GREATER.

6 VERIFY LOCATION, SIZE, DEPTH AND MATERIAL OF EXISTING WATER
MAIN PRIOR TO INSTALLING NEW WATER MAIN.  PROVIDE BENDS
AND FITTINGS AS NECESSARY TO CONNECT TO THE EXISTING WATER
MAIN.  CONTACT ENGINEER IF EXISTING WATER MAIN VARIES FROM
PLANS.

7. COORDINATE FILLING AND FLUSHING OF NEW WATER MAIN WITH
CITY.  PROVIDE EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS NECESSARY TO REDUCE
CHLORINE LEVELS TO ACCEPTABLE LEVEL PRIOR TO FLUSHING WATER
MAIN.

8. REPAIR FIELD TILE ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION.  MARK
ENDS OF REPAIRED FIELD TILE WITH TEMPORARY 2X4 MARKER UNTIL
LOCATION CAN BE RECORDED.  REMOVE TEMPORARY MARKERS
PRIOR TO TOPSOIL PLACEMENT.



342+00

343+00
344+00

345+00

346+00

347+00

348+00

PI
: 3

41
+9

9.
30

PI
: 3

43
+1

4.
58

PI
: 3

45
+4

9.
95

PI
: 3

47
+2

4.
98

12''-22.50° BEND
STA. 341+99.30

N=7938222.49
E=20585479.79

12''-22.50° BEND
STA. 343+14.58
N=7938259.97
E=20585588.81

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

HYDRANT ASSEMBLY
STA. 347+00.00
N=7938260.30
E=20585974.23

12'' GATE VALVE W/ BOX
STA. 346+95.00

N=7938260.28
E=20585969.22

ST
A 

34
2+

50

ST
A 

34
7+

50

740

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

780

785

740

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

780

785

342+50 343+00 344+00 345+00 346+00 347+00 347+50

75
3.

9
75

3.
92

75
7.

4
75

7.
35

76
6.

6
76

6.
63

77
0.

3
77

0.
30

77
3.

0
77

3.
01

77
5.

0
77

4.
96

77
6.

6
77

6.
62

77
8.

5
77

8.
45

77
9.

0
77

8.
98

77
9.

0
77

9.
00

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

D
EP

TH
=6

.0
'

0' 20' 40'

DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:
 T

R
N

_P
ro

p_
Su

rf
_I

D
O

T-
IR

C
S-

10
 &

 W
at

er
 M

od
el

 IR
C

S-
10

 &
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

Li
ne

s 
IC

R
S_

10
 &

 A
er

ia
l C

ed
ar

 IC
R

S-
10

 &
 P

E-
01

 R
um

m
el

ls
 F

ar
m

s 
Ea

se
m

en
t

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
PLAN & PROFILE

 
7

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_D
ES

IG
N

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

S\
D

ES
IG

N
 W

A
TE

R
 M

A
IN

 R
EL

O
C

A
TI

O
N

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

an
ua

ry
 2

7,
 2

02
1 

12
:1

1:
11

 P
M

NOTES:

1. PROVIDE TRAFFIC CONTROL TO PROTECT THE TRAVELING PUBLIC.  SEE
STANDARD ROAD PLANS FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL LAYOUT.

2. STRIP AND STOCKPILE TOP 18 INCHES OF TOPSOIL IN ALL AREAS TO BE
DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION.  UPON COMPLETION OF INSTALLATION
OF NEW WATER MAIN, GRADE DISTURBED AREAS TO 18” BELOW
FINISH GRADE.  DISC SURFACE TO 12 INCH DEPTH AND SPREAD
TOPSOIL OVER DISCED SURFACE.  DO NOT COMPACT TOPSOIL BY
DRIVING OVER AREA WITH CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT.

3. PROVIDE ORDINARY BACKFILL FOR ALL TRENCHES.
4. SEED ALL NON-TILLED AGRICULTURAL AREAS WITH RURAL SEED MIX.
5. PROVIDE RESTRAINED JOINTS ON ALL FITTINGS AND BENDS.  PROVIDE

THRUST BLOCKS ON ALL BENDS 22-1/2 AND GREATER.

6 VERIFY LOCATION, SIZE, DEPTH AND MATERIAL OF EXISTING WATER
MAIN PRIOR TO INSTALLING NEW WATER MAIN.  PROVIDE BENDS
AND FITTINGS AS NECESSARY TO CONNECT TO THE EXISTING WATER
MAIN.  CONTACT ENGINEER IF EXISTING WATER MAIN VARIES FROM
PLANS.

7. COORDINATE FILLING AND FLUSHING OF NEW WATER MAIN WITH
CITY.  PROVIDE EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS NECESSARY TO REDUCE
CHLORINE LEVELS TO ACCEPTABLE LEVEL PRIOR TO FLUSHING WATER
MAIN.

8. REPAIR FIELD TILE ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION.  MARK
ENDS OF REPAIRED FIELD TILE WITH TEMPORARY 2X4 MARKER UNTIL
LOCATION CAN BE RECORDED.  REMOVE TEMPORARY MARKERS PRIOR
TO TOPSOIL PLACEMENT.



347+00
348+00

349+00
350+00

351+00 352+00

353+00

PI
: 3

47
+2

4.
98

PI
: 3

51
+7

7.
26

SURVEYOR'S REC. BK 7, PG 2912''-22.50° BEND
STA. 351+77.26
N=7938265.01
E=20586451.46

HYDRANT ASSEMBLY
STA. 347+00.00
N=7938260.30
E=20585974.23

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

12'' GATE VALVE W/ BOX
STA. 346+95.00

N=7938260.28
E=20585969.22

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

ST
A 

34
7+

50

ST
A 

35
2+

50

740

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

780

785

740

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

780

785

347+50 348+00 349+00 350+00 351+00 352+00 352+50

77
9.

0
77

9.
00

77
6.

6
77

6.
63

77
4.

5
77

4.
51

77
2.

4
77

2.
41

76
8.

0
76

8.
03

76
4.

9
76

4.
93

76
5.

6
76

5.
64

76
6.

7
76

6.
73

76
5.

1
76

5.
14

76
1.

8
76

1.
82

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

D
EP

TH
=-

6.
0'

D
EP

TH
=-

8.
1'

D
EP

TH
=-

6.
0'

0' 20' 40'

DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:
 T

R
N

_P
ro

p_
Su

rf
_I

D
O

T-
IR

C
S-

10
 &

 W
at

er
 M

od
el

 IR
C

S-
10

 &
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

Li
ne

s 
IC

R
S_

10
 &

 A
er

ia
l C

ed
ar

 IC
R

S-
10

 &
 P

E-
01

 R
um

m
el

ls
 F

ar
m

s 
Ea

se
m

en
t

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
PLAN & PROFILE

 
8

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_D
ES

IG
N

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

S\
D

ES
IG

N
 W

A
TE

R
 M

A
IN

 R
EL

O
C

A
TI

O
N

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

an
ua

ry
 2

7,
 2

02
1 

12
:1

1:
20

 P
M

NOTES:

1. PROVIDE TRAFFIC CONTROL TO PROTECT THE TRAVELING PUBLIC.  SEE
STANDARD ROAD PLANS FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL LAYOUT.

2. STRIP AND STOCKPILE TOP 18 INCHES OF TOPSOIL IN ALL AREAS TO BE
DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION.  UPON COMPLETION OF INSTALLATION
OF NEW WATER MAIN, GRADE DISTURBED AREAS TO 18” BELOW
FINISH GRADE.  DISC SURFACE TO 12 INCH DEPTH AND SPREAD
TOPSOIL OVER DISCED SURFACE.  DO NOT COMPACT TOPSOIL BY
DRIVING OVER AREA WITH CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT.

3. PROVIDE ORDINARY BACKFILL FOR ALL TRENCHES.
4. SEED ALL NON-TILLED AGRICULTURAL AREAS WITH RURAL SEED MIX.
5. PROVIDE RESTRAINED JOINTS ON ALL FITTINGS AND BENDS.  PROVIDE

THRUST BLOCKS ON ALL BENDS 22-1/2 AND GREATER.

6 VERIFY LOCATION, SIZE, DEPTH AND MATERIAL OF EXISTING WATER
MAIN PRIOR TO INSTALLING NEW WATER MAIN.  PROVIDE BENDS
AND FITTINGS AS NECESSARY TO CONNECT TO THE EXISTING WATER
MAIN.  CONTACT ENGINEER IF EXISTING WATER MAIN VARIES FROM
PLANS.

7. COORDINATE FILLING AND FLUSHING OF NEW WATER MAIN WITH
CITY.  PROVIDE EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS NECESSARY TO REDUCE
CHLORINE LEVELS TO ACCEPTABLE LEVEL PRIOR TO FLUSHING WATER
MAIN.

8. REPAIR FIELD TILE ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION.  MARK
ENDS OF REPAIRED FIELD TILE WITH TEMPORARY 2X4 MARKER UNTIL
LOCATION CAN BE RECORDED.  REMOVE TEMPORARY MARKERS PRIOR
TO TOPSOIL PLACEMENT.



351+00

352+00

353+00

354+00

355+00

355+01

PI: 351+77.26

PI
: 3

54
+4

6.
02

PI
: 3

54
+8

9.
10

12''-22.50° BEND
STA. 351+77.26
N=7938265.01
E=20586451.46

12''-45° BEND
STA. 354+89.10

N=7938153.31
E=20586738.35

12''-22.50° BEND
STA. 354+46.02

N=7938183.41
E=20586707.53

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

12'' GATE VALVE W/ BOX
STA. 354+95.00

N=7938147.40
E=20586738.42

ST
A 

35
2+

50

730

735

740

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

730

735

740

745

750

755

760

765

770

775

352+50 353+00 354+00 355+00 355+50

76
1.

8
76

1.
82

75
8.

5
75

8.
48

75
1.

5
75

1.
49

75
1.

0
75

1.
04

75
1.

9
75

1.
90

D
EP

TH
=6

.0
'

D
EP

TH
=6

.0
'

PROPOSED 12'' PVC WATER MAIN

0' 20' 40'

DWG. NO.

PROJECT

PL
O

TT
ED

:
FI

LE
 P

A
TH

:
X-

R
EF

S:
 T

R
N

_P
ro

p_
Su

rf
_I

D
O

T-
IR

C
S-

10
 &

 W
at

er
 M

od
el

 IR
C

S-
10

 &
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

Li
ne

s 
IC

R
S_

10
 &

 A
er

ia
l C

ed
ar

 IC
R

S-
10

 &
 P

E-
01

 R
um

m
el

ls
 F

ar
m

s 
Ea

se
m

en
t

SCALE

DRAWN

CHECKED

APPROVED

DATE

ISSUED FOR

DATE REVISIONS
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION

CITY OF WEST BRANCH

368276

 
PLAN & PROFILE

 
9

AS NOTED

EDG

LJB

DRS

BIDDING

1-26-2021

Z:
\W

ES
T 

B
R

A
N

C
H

 3
68

27
6 

IN
TE

R
ST

A
TE

 8
0 

W
ID

EN
IN

G
_D

S\
D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

_D
ES

IG
N

 D
R

A
W

IN
G

S\
D

ES
IG

N
 W

A
TE

R
 M

A
IN

 R
EL

O
C

A
TI

O
N

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

an
ua

ry
 2

7,
 2

02
1 

12
:1

1:
30

 P
M

NOTES:

1. PROVIDE TRAFFIC CONTROL TO PROTECT THE TRAVELING PUBLIC.  SEE
STANDARD ROAD PLANS FOR TRAFFIC CONTROL LAYOUT.

2. STRIP AND STOCKPILE TOP 18 INCHES OF TOPSOIL IN ALL AREAS TO BE
DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION.  UPON COMPLETION OF INSTALLATION
OF NEW WATER MAIN, GRADE DISTURBED AREAS TO 18” BELOW
FINISH GRADE.  DISC SURFACE TO 12 INCH DEPTH AND SPREAD
TOPSOIL OVER DISCED SURFACE.  DO NOT COMPACT TOPSOIL BY
DRIVING OVER AREA WITH CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT.

3. PROVIDE ORDINARY BACKFILL FOR ALL TRENCHES.

4. SEED ALL NON-TILLED AGRICULTURAL AREAS WITH RURAL SEED MIX.

5. PROVIDE RESTRAINED JOINTS ON ALL FITTINGS AND BENDS.  PROVIDE
THRUST BLOCKS ON ALL BENDS 22-1/2 AND GREATER.

6 VERIFY LOCATION, SIZE, DEPTH AND MATERIAL OF EXISTING WATER
MAIN PRIOR TO INSTALLING NEW WATER MAIN.  PROVIDE BENDS
AND FITTINGS AS NECESSARY TO CONNECT TO THE EXISTING WATER
MAIN.  CONTACT ENGINEER IF EXISTING WATER MAIN VARIES FROM
PLANS.

7. COORDINATE FILLING AND FLUSHING OF NEW WATER MAIN WITH
CITY.  PROVIDE EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS NECESSARY TO REDUCE
CHLORINE LEVELS TO ACCEPTABLE LEVEL PRIOR TO FLUSHING WATER
MAIN.

8. REPAIR FIELD TILE ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION.  MARK
ENDS OF REPAIRED FIELD TILE WITH TEMPORARY 2X4 MARKER UNTIL
LOCATION CAN BE RECORDED.  REMOVE TEMPORARY MARKERS PRIOR
TO TOPSOIL PLACEMENT.



 
 

 
  
 VEENSTRA & KIMM, INC. 

 
SPECIFICATIONS 
 
FOR 
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

rjonesii
Typewritten Text
To skip specifications go to page 116



 
Prepared by 

VEENSTRA & KIMM, INC. 
Coralville, 

Iowa 

 
SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR 
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 

WEST BRANCH, IOWA 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by 
me or under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly 
licensed Professional Engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa.  
 
Signed:  Date: 

 
 
 
             1/27/2021  
 Dave Schechinger, P.E. 
 Iowa License No. 16538 
 My license renewal date is December 31, 2022 
 

Detailed parts covered by this seal:  
  ALL    
    

 
 

ssmith

ssmith
Architect
2021-0167W

ssmith
Architect
February 11, 2021

ssmith
Architect
(Water main portions only)



 
I - 1 

 
 368276 

INDEX 
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 
 
TITLE  PAGE 
  
NOTICE TO BIDDERS NB-1 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING NPH-1 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS IB-1 
PROPOSAL P-1 
SPECIAL BIDDING REQUIREMENTS 
 BIDDER STATUS FORM 
BID BOND BB-1 
CONTRACT C-1 
BOND B-1 
GENERAL CONDITIONS GC-1 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS SC-1 
PLANS LIST PL-1 
DETAILED SPECIFICATIONS 

PART NO. 
 1  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 1-1 
 2 SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION 2-1 
 3 EXCAVATION, BACKFILL AND SITEWORK 3-1 
 4 WATER MAINS AND APPURTENANCES 4-1 

 
  
  



NB-1 
 

368276 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS  
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 
Sealed proposals will be received by the City Clerk of the City of West Branch, Iowa, at 
City Hall, 110 North Poplar Street, West Branch, Iowa, until 2:00 p.m. on the 10th day of 
February, 2021, for the construction of I-80 Water Main Relocation as described in the 
plans and specifications therefore, now on file in the office of the City Clerk. Proposals will 
be opened and the amount of the bids announced by the City Clerk at the time and date 
specified above. Proposals will be acted upon by said City at the February 16th City 
Council Meeting or at such later time and place as then may be fixed. 
 
Work on the improvement shall commence within ten days of the issuance of a written 
Notice to Proceed.  The Notice to Proceed will be issued upon approval of the contract by 
the Council, and be completed as stated below. 
 
The work will include but is not limited to the following improvements: 
 
 I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
 

Construct I-80 Water Main Relocation including all labor, equipment, and materials 
necessary for removal of existing water main; installation of 12" water main; valves; 
hydrants; steel casing; grading; seeding; and associated work. 

   
Copies of said plans and specifications are now on file in the office of the City Clerk, for 
examination by bidders.  Copies may be obtained from RAPIDS REPRODUCTIONS, 
415 Highland Avenue, Suite 100, Iowa City, Iowa 52240.  Contact Nikki Lunden at  
319-354-5950 or email nikkil@rapidsrepro.com.  A refundable deposit of $30 is required.  
Please make checks to Veenstra & Kimm, Inc.  Mail said deposit checks to Rapids 
Reproductions, 415 Highland Avenue, Suite 100, Iowa City, Iowa 52240, Attn: Nikki 
Lunden.  Upon receiving deposit check, plans and specifications will be mailed out.  
When plans and specifications are returned in good condition within 14 days of the award 
date of the project, deposit checks will be returned. 
 
All proposals and bids in connection therewith shall be submitted to the City Clerk of said 
City on or before the time herein set for receiving bids.  All proposals shall be made on 
official bidding blanks furnished by the City, and any alternations in the official form of 
proposal will entitle the Council, at its option, to reject the proposal involved from 
consideration.  Each proposal shall be sealed and plainly identified. 
                 
Each proposal shall be made out on a blank form furnished by the municipality and must 
be accompanied in a sealed envelope by either (1) a certified or cashier's check drawn on 
a solvent Iowa bank or a bank chartered under the laws of the United States or a certified 
share draft drawn on a credit union in Iowa or chartered under the laws of the United 



NB-2 
 

368276 

States, in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the bid, or (2) a bid bond executed by a 
corporation authorized to contract as a surety in the State of Iowa, in the penal sum of five 
percent (5%) of the bid. 
 
The bid security should be made payable to the CITY OF WEST BRANCH, IOWA.  The 
bid security must not contain any conditions either in the body or as an endorsement 
thereon.  The bid security shall be forfeited to the City as liquidated damages in the event 
the successful bidder fails or refuses to enter into a contract within 10 days after the award 
of contract and post bond satisfactory to the City insuring the faithful fulfillment of the 
contract and the maintenance of said work, if required, pursuant to the provisions of this 
notice and other contract documents.  Bidders shall use the bid bond form bound in the 
specifications. 
 
No bidder may withdraw a proposal within thirty (30) days after the date set for opening 
bids. 
 
The successful bidder will be required to furnish a bond in an amount equal to one 
hundred percent (100%) of the contract price, said bond to be issued by a responsible 
surety approved by the City Council and shall guarantee the faithful performance of the 
contract and the terms and conditions therein contained and shall guarantee the prompt 
payment for all materials and labor and protect and save harmless the City from claims and 
damages of any kind caused by the operations of the Contractor, and shall guarantee the 
work against faulty workmanship and materials for a period of four (4) years after its 
completion and acceptance by the City Council. 
 
All Contractor(s) and subcontractor(s) are required to obtain tax exemption certificates from 
the City of West Branch, Iowa for this project.  These tax exemption certificates are only for 
use on this specific project as covered under the Contract.   
 
The work under the contract shall commence within ten (10) days after date set forth in 
written Notice to Proceed, but not sooner than April 15, 2021.  All work shall be 
completed by July 15, 2021, subject to any extensions of time which may be granted by 
the City Council. 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per consecutive 
calendar day will be assessed for each day that work shall remain uncompleted after the 
end of the contract period, with due allowance for extensions of the contract period due to 
conditions beyond the control of the Contractor. 
 
Payment to the Contractor for said improvements will be made in cash derived from the 
proceeds of the issuance and sale of such bonds and/or from such cash funds of the City as 
may be legally used for said purposes.  Any combination of the above methods of payment 
may be used at the discretion of the City Council. 
 



NB-3 
 

368276 

Payment to the Contractor will be on the basis of monthly estimates equivalent to ninety 
five percent (95%) of the contract value of the work completed and payments made to 
material suppliers for materials ordered specifically for the project or delivered to the site 
during the preceding calendar month.  Estimates will be prepared on the last day of each 
month by the Contractor, subject to the approval of the Engineer, who will certify to the 
City for payment each approved estimate on or before the tenth (10th) day of the following 
month.  Such monthly payments shall in no way be construed as an act of acceptance for 
any part of the work partially or totally completed.  Upon completion of the work and its 
acceptance by the Council, the Contractor will be paid an amount which, together with 
previous payments, will equal ninety five percent (95%) of the contract price of the 
contract.  Final payment of the remaining five percent (5%) will be made not less than 
thirty one (31) days after completion and acceptance by resolution of the City Council of 
the completed contract, subject to the conditions and in accordance with the provisions of 
Chapter 573 of the Code of Iowa, as amended.  No such partial or final payments will be 
due until the Contractor has certified to the City that the materials, labor and services 
involved in each estimate have been paid for in accordance with the requirements stated 
in the specifications. 
 
The request for payment may also include an allowance for the cost of such major 
materials and equipment which are suitably stored either at or near the site.  Proof of 
purchase amount and verification of insurance for stored materials must be provided with 
any request for payment of stored materials. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority preference will be given to products and provisions grown 
and coal produced within the State of Iowa and to Iowa domestic labor. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident bidder shall be allowed a preference as against 
a nonresident bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country gives or 
requires any preference to bidders from that state or foreign country, including but not 
limited to any preference to bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force preference, 
or any other form of preferential treatment to bidders or laborers from that state or foreign 
country. The preference allowed shall be equal to the preference given or required by the 
state or foreign country in which the nonresident bidder is a resident. In the instance of a 
resident labor force preference, a nonresident bidder shall apply the same resident labor 
force preference to a public improvement in this state as would be required in the 
construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign country in which the 
nonresident bidder is a resident.  
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Iowa Department of Labor all bidders must 
submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form. The Bidder Status Form must be included 
with and is considered an essential attachment to the Proposal. Any Proposal that does not 
include a fully completed Bidder Status Form may result in the Proposal being determined 
non-responsive and rejected. 
 



NB-4 
 

368276 

If it is determined that adherence to these Iowa statutory requirements may cause denial of 
federal funds which would otherwise be available for a public improvement, or would 
otherwise be inconsistent with requirements of any federal law or regulation, the 
application of Iowa Code Chapters 73 and 73A shall be suspended to the extent necessary 
to prevent denial of the funds or to eliminate the inconsistency with federal requirements. 
 
The City of West Branch reserves the right to reject any or all bids, to waive informalities, 
and to enter into such contract, or contracts, as it shall deem to be in the best interest of 
the City. 
 
Posted by the order of the City of West Branch, Iowa. 
 
     



NPH-1 
 

368276 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 
Notice is hereby given that a public hearing will be held by the City of West Branch on the 
proposed contract documents (plans, specifications, and form of contract) and estimated 
cost for the I-80 Water Main Relocation project at its meeting at 7:00 p.m. on the 16th day 
of February, 2021, in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 110 North Poplar Street, West 
Branch, Iowa.  At the hearing, the City will receive and consider any objections made by 
any interested party, to the Plans and Specifications, proposed Form of Contract, and the 
Estimate of the Cost for the project.   
 
The work will include but is not limited to the following improvements: 
 
 I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
 

Construct I-80 Water Main Relocation including all labor, equipment, and materials 
necessary for removal of existing water main; installation of 12" water main; valves; 
hydrants; steel casing; grading; seeding; and associated work. 

 
Sealed proposals will be received by the City Clerk of the City of West Branch, Iowa, at City 
Hall, 110 North Poplar Street, West Branch, Iowa, until 2:00 p.m. on the 10th day of 
February, 2021, for the construction of I-80 Water Main Relocation as described in the 
plans and specifications therefore, now on file in the office of the City Clerk. Proposals will 
be opened and the amount of the bids announced by the City Clerk at the time and date 
specified above. Proposals will be acted upon by said City at the February 16th City Council 
Meeting or at such later time and place as then may be fixed. 
 
 
Published by the order of the City of West Branch, Iowa. 
 
     CITY OF WEST BRANCH, IOWA, 
       
     Roger Laughlin, Mayor   



 
IB-1 

 
368276 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 
INDEX 

 
 1. DEFINITION OF TERMS 
 2. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 3. METHOD OF BIDDING 
 4. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS 
 5. SUBMISSION OF BIDS 
 6. EVALUATION OF BIDS 
 7. WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS 
 8. BID SECURITY 
 9. EXAMINATION OF WORK 

 10. EXECUTION OF CONTRACT 
 11. CONTRACT TERMINATION 
 12. TAXES 
 13. PREFERENCE FOR LABOR AND 

MATERIALS 
 14. PAYMENT 
 15. APPROVAL OF MATERIALS 
 16. PERIOD OF GUARANTEE AND 

BOND
 
 1. DEFINITION OF TERMS 
 
  A. "Owner", and "City" shall mean the City of West Branch, Iowa, acting through 

the City Council or an authorized representative of the City Council. 
 
  B. "Person" shall mean any individual, partnership, society, association, joint stock 

company, corporation, estate, receiver, trustee, assignee or referee, whether 
appointed by a court or otherwise, and any combination of individuals. 

 
  C. "Bidder" shall mean any person who submits a proposal to furnish the work 

described in the Contract Documents. 
 
  D. "Contractor" shall mean the person with whom the Owner may enter into 

contract for the execution of the work specified. 
 
  E. "Subcontractor" shall mean the person supplying materials, labor, equipment, 

and appurtenances for the work, such person having contractual relations with 
the Contractor, but not with the Owner. 

 
  F. "Engineer" shall mean VEENSTRA & KIMM, INC., Coralville, Iowa. 
 
  G. "Standard Drawings" shall mean construction detail drawings bound with these 

specifications. 
 
  H. "Work" shall mean the work to be done and the equipment, supplies and 

materials to be furnished under the contract, unless some other meaning is 
indicated by the context. 



 Instructions to Bidders 
 

 
IB-2 

 
368276 

 
  I. "Station", "Sta." shall mean one hundred (100) linear feet measure. 
 
 2. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
  A. Contract Documents, sometimes referred to as the "plans and specifications", 

shall mean and include the following parts as used herein: 
   1. Notice to Bidders 
   2. Notice of Public Hearing 
   3. Instructions to Bidders 
   4. Proposal 
   5. Contract 
   6. Bond  
   7. General Conditions 
   8. Special Conditions 
   9. Plans List 
   10. Detailed Specifications 
   11. Plans listed in the Specifications 
   12. Numbered addenda issued to the foregoing.  
   
 3. METHOD OF BIDDING 
 
  A. Bidders shall submit unit and lump sum prices for work covered by the plans 

and specifications.  Prices shall cover complete work and include all costs 
incidental thereto, unless indicated otherwise.  

 
  B. Bids will be computed using quantities shown on Proposal.  Where unit price 

bids are called for, quantities are approximate and only for comparison of bids.  
Engineer retains right to change location, quantities and combination of units be 
required during progress of construction.  Compensation due Contractor will be 
computed on basis of final quantities of completed work. 

   1. In the event of discrepancies between unit prices and unit price extensions 
listed in bidder's proposal, unit prices shall govern and unit price extensions 
and total bid shall be corrected, as necessary, for agreement with unit prices.  
The total price will be determined on the basis of corrected extensions of the 
unit prices. 

   2. In the case of an obvious and serious clerical or entry error in the Proposal 
where the City is able to clearly determine the bidder’s intent from the 
Proposal the City may waive irregularities that are in the best interest of the 
City as long as the integrity of the bidding process is not affected by waiving 
the clerical or entry irregularity. 

 



 Instructions to Bidders 
 

 
IB-3 

 
368276 

  C. Unit prices for payment items included in the specifications, but not listed in the 
Proposal, will be negotiated, if needed. 

 
 4. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS 
 
  A. Bidders shall be prepared to satisfy Owner as to integrity, experience, adequacy 

of equipment and personnel, and financial ability to perform work specified. 
 
  B. If successful bidder is a non-Iowa corporation, he shall submit proof to Owner 

prior to execution of contract that he has been authorized by Secretary of State 
to do business in Iowa. 

 
 5. SUBMISSION OF BIDS 
 
  A. Bidders shall submit the Proposal stamped "Official Proposal".  The Proposal 

stamped "Official Proposal" is considered the original Proposal and shall be 
used for bidding.  Submit in a sealed envelope.  Envelope shall bear return 
address of the bidder and shall be addressed as follows: 

 
   To:   
 
   City Clerk 
   City of West Branch 
   110 North Poplar Street 
   West Branch, IA 52358

Proposal for: 
 
I-80 Water Main Relocation

 
  B. Bids shall be signed by a legally authorized representative of the bidder. 
 
  C. Bidders shall submit the Bidder Status Form with the Proposal. 
 
  D. Mark each envelope with "Sealed Bid.  Do Not Open." 
 
  E. Bidders shall submit the specified bid security with the Proposal. 
 
 6. EVALUATION OF BIDS 
 
  A. Award of contract will be made on the lowest, responsive, responsible bid as 

selected by the City that is in the best interest of the City of West Branch. 
 
  B. Time of completion of the work, delivery dates, experience, and responsibility 

of the bidder will be considered in determining which bid is in the Owner's best 
interests. 



 Instructions to Bidders 
 

 
IB-4 

 
368276 

  
  C. Low bid will be determined on basis of lowest responsive bid from responsible 

bidder.  
 
 7. WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS 
 
  A. A bidder may withdraw his bid at any time prior to scheduled closing time for a 

receipt of bids, but no bid shall be withdrawn for a period of 30 calendar days 
from the date of receiving bids. 

 
 8. BID SECURITY 
 
  A. Each bid shall be accompanied by bid security in the form and amount set out 

in the Notice to Bidders. 
 
  B. Bid security shall be enclosed in the sealed envelope with the bid or in a 

separate sealed envelope. 
 
  C. The bid security shall be forfeited and become the property of the Owner in 

case the Bidder fails or refuses to enter into contract and to furnish bond within 
10 calendar days after his proposal shall have been accepted. 

 
  D. Bid security of the unsuccessful bidders will be returned as soon as the 

successful bidder is determined or within 30 calendar days, whichever is 
sooner; bid security of successful bidder will be returned upon execution of 
contract and furnishing of bond. 

 
  E. Bidders shall use bid bond form included with specifications. 
 
 9. EXAMINATION OF WORK 
 
  A. Bidders shall familiarize themselves with the specifications and with all 

conditions which will affect construction.  It will be assumed that bidders have 
made a personal examination of the job and the physical conditions affecting 
the work. 

 
 10. EXECUTION OF CONTRACT 
 
  A. The successful bidder shall enter into a written contract with the Owner, within 

10 days after acceptance of his proposal on the forms included with these 
specifications, for the performance of the work awarded to him. 

 



 Instructions to Bidders 
 

 
IB-5 

 
368276 

  B. The contract, when executed, shall be deemed to include the entire agreement 
between the parties hereto, and the Contractor shall not claim any modification 
thereof resulting from any representation or promise made at any time by any 
representative of the Owner or any other person. 

 
 11. CONTRACT TERMINATION 
 
  A. Provisions of law, as contained in Chapter 573A of the Code of Iowa shall apply 

to and be a part of this contract.  Chapter 573A provides for termination of 
contracts for construction of public improvements when construction or work 
thereon is stopped because of a national emergency.  The provisions of 
Chapter 573A shall be binding upon all parties thereto, including subcontractors 
and sureties upon any bond given or filed in connection therewith. 

 
 12. TAXES 
 
  A. The City will issue a sales tax exemption certificate for all materials purchased 

on the project.  The City will issue the appropriate tax exemption certificates 
and authorization letters to the Contractor and all subcontractors completing 
work on the project.  Tax exemption certificates are applicable only for the 
specific project for which the tax exemption certificate is issued. 

 
  B. Contractor shall provide a listing to the City identifying all appropriate 

subcontractors qualified for use of the tax exemption certificate.  Contractor and 
subcontractors may make copies of the certificate and provide, to each supplier 
providing construction material, a copy of the tax exemption certificate. 

 
  C. Successful bidder is subject to payment of Iowa income tax on income from this 

work in amounts prescribed by law.  If successful bidder is a non-Iowa 
partnership, individual or association, he shall furnish evidence prior to 
execution of contract, that bond or securities have been posted with the Iowa 
Department of Revenue in the amount required by law. 

 
 13. PREFERENCE FOR LABOR AND MATERIALS 
 
  A. By virtue of statutory authority, preference will be given to products and 

provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa, and to Iowa 
domestic labor, to the extent lawfully required under Iowa Statutes; provided 
that the award of contract will be made to the lowest responsible bidder  

   submitting the lowest responsive bid.  The Iowa Reciprocal Preference Act (SF 
2160) applies to the contract with respect to bidders who are not Iowa residents.    

 



 Instructions to Bidders 
 

 
IB-6 

 
368276 

  B. The Iowa Reciprocal Preference Act (SF2160) applies to the contract with 
respect to bidders who are not Iowa residents. 

   1. In accordance with the requirements of the Iowa Department of Labor all 
bidders must submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form. The Bidder Status 
Form must be included with and is considered an essential attachment to the 
Quotation. Any Quotation that does not include a fully completed Bidder 
Status Form may result in the Quotation being determined non-responsive. 

 
 14. PAYMENT 
 
  A. Payment will be made in accordance with the payment provisions set out in 

Notice to Bidders. 
 
  B.  Payment will be made on the basis of estimates prepared by Contractor and 

approved by Engineer, solely for the purpose of payment; approval by Engineer 
shall not be deemed approval of workmanship or materials. 

 
 15. APPROVAL OF MATERIALS 
 
  A. Approval of substitutions of any materials or equipment other than that specified 

shall be obtained in writing from Engineer. Otherwise, it will be assumed 
Contractor will furnish materials or equipment specified. 

 
 16. PERIOD OF GUARANTEE AND BOND 
 
  A. Contractor shall guarantee work for period of four (4) years from date of final 

acceptance as provided for in the Code of Iowa.  Surety bond furnished by 
Contractor shall run for a like period. 



 
 P-1 
 
 368276 

PROPOSAL 
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 
 

Name of Bidder   
 
Address of Bidder     
 
To: City Council 
 City of West Branch 
 110 North Poplar Street 
 West Branch, Iowa 52358 
 
The undersigned bidder submits herewith bid security amounting to five percent (5%) of 
the total amount of the bid which shall become the property of the City of West Branch 
should the undersigned fail or refuses to execute a contract and to furnish bond as called 
for in the specifications within the time provided. 
 
The undersigned bidder, having examined the Contract Documents, and having 
familiarized himself with the nature and location of the work to be done and the 
conditions under which the work will be performed, hereby proposes to provide the 
required labor, services and materials and to perform the work described in the 
specifications, and addenda    ,    ,    ,     and    , within the time and for the sum or sums 
stated hereinafter on attached proposal schedule, which proposal schedule is hereby made 
a part of this Proposal.   
 
The undersigned bidder certifies that this proposal is made in good faith, without collusion 
or connection with any other person or persons bidding on the work. 
 
The undersigned bidder states that this proposal is made in conformity with the 
specifications and agrees that in the event of any discrepancies or differences between any 
conditions of his proposal and the specifications prepared by VEENSTRA & KIMM, INC., 
that the provisions of the latter shall prevail. 
 
 

Bidder    
 
By   

 
Title   



 Proposal 
 

 
 P-2 
 
 368276 

 PROPOSAL SCHEDULE 
 
I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
 
 1. Construct the I-80 Water Main Relocation for the following unit and lump sum prices: 

Item 
No. Description Unit 

Estimated 
Quantity  

Unit 
Price  

Extended 
Price 

1 Mobilization LS 1 $  $  

2 Construction Staking LS 1     

3 Clearing & Grubbing LS 1     

4 Traffic Control LS 1     

5 Temporary Access Road LS 1     

6 Field Drain Lines LF 140     

7 Erosion Control LS 1     

8 Silt Fence LF 2,000     

9 Water Main Removal LF 2,000     

10 12" Water Main pvc Open Cut LF 1,902     

11 12" Water Main RJ DI Open Cut LF 48     

12 12" RJ DIP in 24" Steel Casing Pipe LF 68     

13 12" Gate Valve Ea. 4     

14 Hydrant Assembly Ea. 2     

15 Slope Protection, Wood Excelsior Sq. 14     

16 Connection to Existing Ea. 2     
 TOTAL BID (Items 1-16) $  

 
 
 2. The work will commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in 

written Notice to Proceed.  All work on the project shall be completed as set out in 
the Notice to Bidders. 

 
 3. Liquidated damages in the amount of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per 

consecutive calendar day will be assessed for each day that the work shall remain 
uncompleted after the end of the contract period, with due allowance for extensions 
of the contract period due to conditions beyond the control of the Contractor. 



Bidder Status Form

You must submit the completed form to the governmental body requesting bids 
per 875 Iowa Administrative Code Chapter 156. 

This form has been approved by the Iowa Labor Commissioner.
309-6001 02-14

My company is not a subsidiary of another business entity or my company is a subsidiary of another 
business entity that would qualify as a resident bidder in Iowa.

Part A To be completed by all bidders
Please answer “Yes” or “No” for each of the following:

If you answered “Yes” for each question above, your company qualifies as a resident bidder.  Please 
complete Parts B and D of this form.
If you answered “No” to one or more questions above, your company is a nonresident bidder.  Please 
complete Parts C and D of this form.

My company has been conducting business in Iowa for at least 3 years prior to the first request for 
bids on this project.

My company is authorized to transact business in Iowa. 
(To help you determine if your company is authorized, please review the worksheet on the next page).

NoYes

My company has an office to transact business in Iowa.NoYes
My company’s office in Iowa is suitable for more than receiving mail, telephone calls, and e-mail.NoYes

NoYes

NoYes

Part B To be completed by resident bidders

My company has maintained offices in Iowa during the past 3 years at the following addresses: 

Dates: to/ / / / Address:

City, State, Zip:

You may attach additional sheet(s) if needed.

Part C To be completed by non-resident bidders

1.  Name of home state or foreign country reported to the Iowa Secretary of State:

2.  Does your company’s home state or foreign country offer preferences to bidders who are residents? NoYes

3.  If you answered “Yes” to question 2, identify each preference offered by your company’s home state or foreign country 
and the appropriate legal citation.

Dates: to/ / / / Address:

City, State, Zip:

Dates: to/ / / / Address:

City, State, Zip:

You may attach additional sheet(s) if needed.

Part D To be completed by all bidders

I certify that the statements made on this document are true and complete to the best of my knowledge and I know that my 
failure to provide accurate and truthful information may be a reason to reject my bid.

Firm Name:

Signature: Date:



This worksheet may be used to help complete Part A of the Resident Bidder Status form. If at least one of the following 
describes your business, you are authorized to transact business in Iowa.

Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business

My business is currently registered as a contractor with the Iowa Division of Labor.NoYes

My business is a sole proprietorship and I am an Iowa resident for Iowa income tax purposes.NoYes

My business is a general partnership or joint venture. More than 50 percent of the general 
partners or joint venture parties are residents of Iowa for Iowa income tax purposes.

NoYes

My business is an active corporation with the Iowa Secretary of State and has paid all fees 
required by the Secretary of State, has filed its most recent biennial report, and has not filed 
articles of dissolution.

NoYes

My business is a corporation whose articles of incorporation are filed in a state other than Iowa, 
the corporation has received a certificate of authority from the Iowa secretary of state, has filed 
its most recent biennial report with the secretary of state, and has neither received a certificate of 
withdrawal from the secretary of state nor had its authority revoked.

NoYes

My business is a limited liability partnership which has filed a statement of qualification in this 
state and the statement has not been canceled.

NoYes

My business is a limited liability partnership which has filed a statement of qualification in a 
state other than Iowa, has filed a statement of foreign qualification in Iowa and a statement of 
cancellation has not been filed.

NoYes

My business is a limited partnership or limited liability limited partnership which has filed a 
certificate of limited partnership in this state, and has not filed a statement of termination.

NoYes

My business is a limited partnership or a limited liability limited partnership whose certificate of 
limited partnership is filed in a state other than Iowa, the limited partnership or limited liability 
limited partnership has received notification from the Iowa secretary of state that the application 
for certificate of authority has been approved and no notice of cancellation has been filed by the 
limited partnership or the limited liability limited partnership.

NoYes

My business is a limited liability company whose certificate of organization is filed in Iowa and has 
not filed a statement of termination.

NoYes

My business is a limited liability company whose certificate of organization is filed in a state other 
than Iowa, has received a certificate of authority to transact business in Iowa and the certificate 
has not been revoked or canceled.

NoYes

309-6001 02-14



 
 BB-1 
 
 368276 

 BID BOND 
 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  That we,   
    

of   as Principal and     

  of     

as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the City of West Branch, Iowa, hereinafter 
defined as Obligee, in the penal sum of five percent (5%) of the total amount of the bid  
($ ), for which payment said Principal and Surety bind themselves, their heirs, 
executors, administrators, successors, and assigns jointly and severally, firmly by these 
presents. 
 
The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas the Principal has 
submitted to the City of West Branch, Iowa, a certain bid, in a sealed envelope, and 
hereby made a part hereof to enter into a contract in writing, for: I-80 Water Main 
Relocation. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, if the said bid by said Principal be accepted, and the Principal shall 
enter into a contract with the Obligee in accordance with the terms of such bid, and give 
such bond as may be specified in the contract documents with good and sufficient surety 
for the faithful performance of such contract, for the prompt payment of labor and material 
furnished in the prosecution thereof, and for the maintenance of said improvements as 
may be required therein, then this obligation shall become null and void or in the event of 
the failure of the Principal to enter such contract and give such bond, the Principal shall 
pay to the Obligee the full amount of the bid bond, together with court costs, attorney's 
fees, and any other expense of recovery. 
 
Signed and sealed this  day of  , 2021. 
 
 
                      

 Principal 
 

By   
 Contractor's Signature 

 
 
                                           
                                                            Surety 
 
                                       By   

Attorney-in-Fact 



 
 C-1 
 
 368276 

 CONTRACT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this   day of  , 2021, 
by and between the City of West Branch, Iowa, party of the first part, hereinafter referred 
to as the "Owner", and    ,  
party of the second part, hereinafter referred to as the "Contractor". 
  
 
WITNESSETH: THAT WHEREAS, the Owner has heretofore caused to be prepared certain 
specifications and proposal blanks, dated the   day of  , 2021, for 
I-80 Water Main Relocation, under the terms and conditions therein fully stated and set 
forth, and, 
 
WHEREAS, said specifications and proposal blanks accurately and fully describe the terms 
and conditions upon which the Contractor is willing to perform the work specified: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED: 
 

1. That the Owner hereby accepts the proposal of the Contractor for the work, as 
follows: 

 
  
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
                          



 Contract 
 

 
 C-2 
 
 368276 

2. That this contract consists of the following component parts which are made a part of 
this agreement and contract as fully and absolutely as if they were set out in detail in 
this contract: 

 
 A. Contract Documents, including: 
  1. Notice to Bidders 
  2. Notice of Public Hearing 
  3. Instructions to Bidders 
  4. Proposal 
  5. Bond 
  6. General Conditions 
  7. Special Conditions 
  8. Plans List 
  9. Detailed Specifications 
  10. Plans listed in the specifications. 
  11. Numbered addenda issued to the foregoing. 
 
 B. This Instrument. 
 
 C. The above components are complementary and what is called for by one shall be 

as binding as if called for by all. 
 
3. That payments are to be made to the Contractor in accordance with and subject to 

the provisions embodied in the documents made a part of this contract. 
 
4. That this contract is executed in triplicate. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have hereunto set their hand and seal the date 
first written above. 
 
CONTRACTOR  CITY OF WEST BRANCH, IOWA 
 

 
By     

 Mayor 
 
Title  
 
ATTEST:  ATTEST: 
 
     

 City Administrator 
 
Title  



 
 B-1 
 
 368276 

 BOND 
 
KNOW ALL MEN: That we,   
of  , hereinafter called the Principal, and 
  , 
hereinafter called the surety, are held and firmly bound unto the City of West Branch, 
Iowa, hereinafter called the Owner in the sum of   
 Dollars ($ ), 
for the payment whereof the Principal and Surety bind themselves, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly, by these presents. 
 
WHEREAS, the principal has, by means of a written Agreement dated  , 
2021, entered into a Contract with the Owner for I-80 Water Main Relocation, which 
Agreement includes a guarantee of all work against defective workmanship and materials 
for a period of four (4) years from the date of final acceptance of the work by the Owner, a 
copy of which Agreement is by reference made a part hereof; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the condition of this Obligation is such that, if the Principal shall 
faithfully perform the Contract on his part and shall fully indemnify and save harmless the 
Owner from all costs and damage which he may suffer by reason of failure so to do and 
shall fully reimburse and repay the Owner all outlay and expense which the Owner may 
incur in making good any such default, 
 
And Further, that if the Principal shall pay all persons who have contracts directly with the 
Principal for labor or materials, failing which such persons shall have a direct right of 
action against the Principal and Surety under this Obligation, subject to the Owner's 
priority, 
 
Then this Obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
Provided, however, that no suit, action or proceeding by reason of any default whatever 
shall be brought on this Bond after five (5) years from the date of final acceptance of the 
work. 
 
And Provided, that any alterations which may be made in the terms of the Contract, or in 
the work to be done under it, or the giving by the Owner of any extension of time for the 
performance of the Contract, or any other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or 
the Principal to the other shall not in any way release the Principal and the Surety, or 
either of them, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors or assigns from their 
liability hereunder, notice to the Surety of any such alteration, extension or forbearance 
being hereby waived. 
 
And Further Provided, the Principal and Surety on this Bond hereby agree to pay all 
persons, firms, or corporations having contracts directly with the Principal or with 
subcontractors all just claims due them for labor performed or material furnished, in the 
performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, when the same are 
not satisfied out of the portion of the contract price which the Owner shall retain until 
completion of the improvements, but the Principal and Surety shall not be liable to said 
persons, firms, or corporations unless the claims of said complaints against said portions of 
the contract price shall have been established as provided by law. 
 
  



 
 B-2 
 
 368276 

 
 
The Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held, any contract to the contrary 
notwithstanding, to consent without notice: 
 
 a. To the extension of time to the Principal in which to perform the Contract. 
 
 b. To changes in the plans, specifications, or Contract, when such changes do not 

involve an increase of more than twenty percent (20%) of the total contract price, and 
shall then be released only as to such excess increase. 

 
 c. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid which limits to 

less than five (5) years from the date of final acceptance of the work the right to sue 
on this Bond for defects in workmanship or materials not discovered or known to the 
Owner at the time such work was accepted. 

 
The Bond is executed in triplicate. 
 
Signed and Sealed this   day of  , 2021. 
 
 
 
 

PRINCIPAL: 
 
                                                    
 Contractor 
 
                                                        
 Signature 
 
                                            
 Title 
 
SURETY: 
 
                                            
 Surety Company 
 
                                           
 Signature, Attorney-in-Fact 
 
                                            
 Name of Attorney-in-Fact 
 
                                           
 Company Name 
 
                                           
 Company Address (Including Zip Code) 

 
   
 Company Telephone Number 



 GC-1 
 
 368276 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 
INDEX 

 
 1. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 2. SURETY BOND  
 3. CONTRACTOR'S 

RESPONSIBILITY  
 4. SUBCONTRACTS   
 5. CONTRACTOR'S EMPLOYEES 
 6. PERMITS AND REGULATIONS  
 7. PATENTS          
 8. GUARANTEE  
 9. SHOP DRAWINGS  
 10. THE ENGINEER  
 11. PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS  
 12. INTERPRETATION OF PLANS 

AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 13. DECISIONS BY ENGINEER  
 14. WORKMANSHIP AND 

MATERIALS  
 15. ON-SITE REVIEW OR 

OBSERVATION 
 16. RESIDENT ENGINEER AND/OR 

ENGINEER TECHNICIANS 

 17. TESTS 
 18. TIME 
 19. DELAYS 
 20. CHANGES 
 21. EXTRA WORK 
 22. OWNERSHIP OF MATERIALS 
 23. OTHER CONTRACTS 
 24. OWNER'S RIGHT TO DO WORK 
 25. OWNER'S RIGHT TO 

TERMINATE CONTRACT 
 26. CONTRACTOR'S RIGHT TO 

STOP WORK OR TERMINATE 
CONTRACT 

 27. PAYMENTS WITHHELD 
 28. ACCEPTANCE AND FINAL 

PAYMENT 
 29. SUSPENSION OF WORK 
 30. CLEANING UP 
 31. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
 32. IOWA HAZARDOUS CHEMICAL 

RISKS RIGHT-TO-KNOW LAW

 1. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
  A. All documents listed or identified as part of contract are each and all essential 

and component parts of agreement between Owner and Contractor. 
 
  B. Contract Documents shall be signed in triplicate by Owner and Contractor. 
 
  C. Contract Documents are complementary, and what is called for by any one shall 

be as binding as if called for by all.  The intention of documents is to include all 
labor and materials, equipment and transportation necessary for proper 
execution of work.  It is not intended that materials or work not covered by or 
properly inferable from any heading, branch, class or trade of the specifications 
shall be supplied unless distinctly noted.  Materials or work described in words, 
which have a well known technical or trade meaning, shall be held to refer to 
such recognized standards. 

 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-2 
 
 368276 

 2. SURETY BOND 
 
  A. Contractor shall furnish a good and sufficient surety bond in full amount of 

contract prior to signing contract.  Surety bond shall guarantee faithful 
performance of all provisions of contract and payment of all bills and 
obligations arising from said contract.  Should surety become irresponsible 
during time contract is in force, Owner may require additional and sufficient 
sureties.  Contractor shall furnish said additional sureties to satisfaction of 
Owner within ten (10) days after written notice to do so.  In default thereof, 
contract may be suspended as hereinafter provided. 

 
 3. CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY 
 
  A. Contractor shall assume full responsibility for safekeeping of all materials and 

equipment and for all unfinished work until final acceptance by Owner.  
Materials and equipment which are damaged or destroyed from any cause shall 
be replaced at Contractor's expense. 

  
  B. Contractor shall indemnify and save harmless Owner against any liens filed for 

non-payment of Contractor's bills in connection with contract work.  Contractor 
shall furnish Owner satisfactory evidence that all persons who have done work 
or furnished materials, equipment, or service of any type, under the contract 
have been fully paid prior to acceptance of work by Owner. 

 
  C. Contractor shall erect and maintain such barriers and lights as will prevent 

accidents as a consequence of its work.  It shall indemnify and save harmless the 
Owner and its agents from all suits brought against Contractor for any injuries 
received or sustained by any person or persons by or through Contractor, its 
servants, or agents, in construction of work, or by or in consequence of any acts 
or omissions or negligence in performing contract work. 

  
 4. SUBCONTRACTS 
 
  A. Contractor shall not assign, sub-let or transfer the whole or any part of work 

herein specified without written consent of Owner.  Assignment, sub-letting or 
transfer shall not relieve Contractor from its responsibilities set forth herein. 

 
  B. Detailed specifications are separated into titled parts for convenience or 

reference and to facilitate letting of contracts and subcontracts.  Such 
arrangement shall not obligate Engineer to establish limits on contracts between 
Contractors and subcontractors. 

 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-3 
 
 368276 

 5. CONTRACTOR'S EMPLOYEES 
 
  A. Contractor shall personally supervise its work or provide a capable 

superintendent satisfactory to Engineer.  Superintendent shall be authorized to 
receive instructions from Engineer. 

 
  B. Incompetent or incorrigible employees shall be dismissed by the Contractor or 

its representative when requested by Engineer.  Such dismissed persons shall not 
be permitted to return to work without written consent of Engineer. 

 
  C. Contractor shall give preference to local labor in execution of this contract, 

insofar as is practicable. 
 
 6. PERMITS AND REGULATIONS 
 
  A. In execution of work specified herein, Contractor shall conform to regulations 

and ordinances of any governmental body which may apply in execution of 
specified work.  Contractor shall obtain such permits and licenses as may be 
required for construction of work. 

 
 7. PATENTS 
 
  A. All fees or royalties for patented inventions, equipment or arrangements used in 

construction or erection of work, or any part thereof, shall be included in 
contract price.  Contractor shall protect and hold harmless Owner against any 
and all claims or litigation by reason of infringement of any patent rights on any 
materials, equipment of construction furnished by Contractor. 

 
 8. GUARANTEE 
 
  A. Contractor shall guarantee all work against faulty workmanship and materials for 

the period specified after date of final acceptance of work by Owner unless 
otherwise set out in "SPECIAL CONDITIONS" or "INSTRUCTIONS TO 
BIDDERS."  Contractor shall repair or replace any defective workmanship and 
materials in a manner acceptable to Owner, without expense to Owner, within 
ten (10) days after written notification by Owner of such defect.  If said repairs 
or replacements are not made within ten (10) days, Owner may make said 
repairs or replacements and charge the cost to Contractor. 

 
  B. Contractor shall provide Owner with a good and sufficient surety maintenance 

bond in the full amount of contract prior to signing contract.  Maintenance bond 
shall run for the period specified from time of acceptance to protect Owner from 
faulty workmanship and materials as outlined in preceding paragraph.  



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-4 
 
 368276 

 
 9. SHOP DRAWINGS 
 
  A. Contractor shall provide Engineer with drawings, data and information regarding 

materials or equipment specified, or as may be called for by Engineer, for its 
review, within a reasonable time after award of contract.  After review, Engineer 
shall return to Contractor one copy within a reasonable time after receipt. 

   1. Submit 5 copies of all shop drawing submittals. 
 
  B. Fabrication and shipment of materials or equipment prior to Engineer's review 

of drawings, data and information mentioned above shall be at Contractor's risk. 
 
 10. THE ENGINEER 
 
  A. Engineer shall make general observation of work as agent of Owner.  Engineer's 

general observation shall not be construed that it shall direct or control 
operations of Contractor. 

 
 11. PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 
  A. Engineer shall provide Contractor with 5 sets of plans and specifications after 

execution of contract.  If additional plans and specifications are required, 
Contractor shall compensate Engineer for costs of printing. 

 
  B. Engineer shall provide Contractor with additional and supplemental plans as 

may be required to show details of construction after approval of manufacturers' 
drawings and data on materials and equipment. 

 
  C. Engineer will provide Contractor with such revised plans and specifications as 

may be required to show any authorized changes or extra work. 
 
 12. INTERPRETATION OF PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 
  A. Plans and specifications shall be interpreted by Engineer.  Its decision shall be 

final and binding on all parties concerned. 
 
  B. Contractor will not be allowed to take advantage of errors or omissions in plans 

and specifications.  Engineer will provide full instructions when errors or 
omissions are discovered. 

 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-5 
 
 368276 

 13. DECISIONS BY ENGINEER 
 
  A. Engineer shall make decisions, in writing, on claims between Contractor and 

Owner within a reasonable time after presentation.  Such decisions shall be 
regarded as final except for appropriate legal recourse. 

 
 14. WORKMANSHIP AND MATERIALS 
 
  A. All work done and all materials and equipment furnished by Contractor shall 

conform to plans and specifications.  Competent labor and tradesmen shall be 
used on all work. Experienced manufacturers' representatives shall be used to 
supervise installation of equipment. 

 
  B. In absence of detailed specifications in other sections, all materials shall 

conform to standards of American Society for Testing Materials. 
 
  C. Wherever items of materials or equipment are specified by a manufacturer's 

name and type, or equal, it is the intent that materials or equipment of other 
manufacturers, equal in quality and performance, may be substituted.  Such 
substitution may be made only with written authorization of Engineer. 

  
  D. Wherever items of materials or equipment are specified by a manufacturer's 

name and type, or equal, and additional features of items are specifically 
required by specifications, additional features specified shall be provided  
whether or not they are normally included in standard manufacturer's items 
listed. 

 
  E. Wherever items of materials or equipment are specified by a manufacturer's 

name and type, or equal, and specified items are or become obsolete and no 
longer available, Contractor shall provide acceptable equal items which are 
currently available at no change in contract price. 

 
  F. When proposing "or equal" items or substitutions, Contractor shall furnish 

general arrangement drawings, full descriptive data, manufacturer's 
specifications and such performance data as required to satisfy Engineer that 
materials or equipment proposed are equal to that specified.  Burden of proof of 
equality shall be responsibility of Contractor. 

 
  G. Whenever items of materials or equipment are specified by a manufacturer's 

name and type and 'or equal" is not listed, Contractor shall provide specified 
equipment without substitution, unless prior approval of Engineer is obtained for 
any substitution. 

 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-6 
 
 368276 

  H. Contractor shall abide by Engineer's decision when proposed substitutes of 
material or equipment are deemed to be unacceptable and in such an event 
Contractor shall furnish items of equipment or materials specified. 

 
  I. Engineer reserves right to consider such factors as overall project arrangement, 

overall project cost, and similar factors in determining whether proposed 
substitutions will be acceptable. 

 
 15. ON-SITE REVIEW OR OBSERVATION 
 
  A. All materials used and all work done by Contractor shall be subject at all times 

to review, observation, tests and approval by Engineer.  Contractor shall furnish 
samples of materials for observation and tests as requested by Engineer.  
Contractor shall furnish any information required concerning nature or source of 
any proposed materials or equipment. 

 
  B. Construction, fabrication and manufacture of equipment or materials specified 

herein may be observed by Engineer at plant or factory. 
 
  C. Materials, equipment or work which do not satisfactorily meet specifications 

may be condemned by Engineer by written notice to Contractor.  Condemned 
materials, equipment or work shall be promptly removed and replaced. 

 
  D. Defective materials, equipment or work may be rejected by Engineer at any time 

prior to final acceptance by Owner even though said defective items may have 
been previously overlooked. 

 
 16. RESIDENT ENGINEER AND/OR ENGINEER TECHNICIANS 
 
  A. Resident engineer and/or engineer technicians may be appointed by Engineer or 

Owner to ensure that work is performed in accordance with plans and 
specifications. 

 
  B. Resident engineer and/or engineer technicians shall have authority to notify 

Contractor in writing of work which is not being properly performed.  
Contractor shall be liable for any work determined by Engineer as not being 
properly performed. 

 
  C. Resident engineer and/or engineer technicians shall have no authority to permit 

deviation from plans and specifications and Contractor shall be liable for any 
deviations made without written order from Engineer. 

 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-7 
 
 368276 

 17. TESTS 
 
  A. Tests shall be performed by Contractor upon materials and equipment specified, 

to determine if the materials and equipment meet requirements of specifications, 
conditions of operation and guarantees of Contractor. 

 
  B. Equipment shall be subject to factory tests specified herein.  Certified evidence 

of tests shall be furnished when requested by Engineer. 
 
  C. Tests shall be made in accordance with standards of American Society of 

Mechanical Engineers, Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers, American 
Society for Testing Materials, and other recognized standards. 

 
 18. TIME 
 
  A. Contractor shall commence work within time specified and shall complete work 

within time specified in contract. 
 
 19. DELAYS 
 
  A. Delays caused by injunction or legal actions, damages by elements, or other 

causes beyond control of Contractor (of which Owner shall be sole judge) shall 
entitle Contractor to a reasonable extension of time within which to complete 
work. 

 
  B. Application for extension of time shall be made to Owner by Contractor and 

shall state reasons for request for extension of time. 
 
  C. No extension of time shall be valid unless made in writing by Owner. 
 
  D. Normal weather conditions shall not form the basis of request for extension of 

time. Abnormal weather conditions shall form basis of request for extension of 
time only to the delay in excess of that resulting from normal weather 
conditions. 

 
 20. CHANGES 
 
  A. Engineer shall have the right to make changes in location and quantities of work 

as may be deemed advisable with consent of Owner and without notice to 
sureties on Contractor's bond. 

 
  B. No change shall be made under this paragraph which will increase or decrease 

total contract amount more than twenty percent (20%) of original contract price 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-8 
 
 368276 

and no changes shall be made in plan of improvement that would necessitate 
additional or different construction processes and equipment. 

 
  C. Amount due Contractor shall be adjusted for changes in following manner: 
   1. Where unit prices have been bid, these unit prices shall be used to compute 

adjustment in compensation. 
   2. Where no such unit prices have been bid, Engineer and Contractor shall 

negotiate a reasonable adjustment in Contractor's compensation.  Limitations 
on compensation in B. of "21. EXTRA WORK" shall apply to changes where 
compensation is negotiated. 

   3. No changes shall be authorized unless they are shown on revised plans or in 
written instructions of Engineer. 

   4. Authorized changes which require additional time to complete shall entitle 
Contractor to proportionate extension of time to completion which shall be 
determined by Engineer. 

 
 21. EXTRA WORK 
 
  A. Required extra work not specified under this contract shall be done at an agreed 

price satisfactory to Contractor and Owner, or on basis of actual cost of work 
plus not more than ten percent (10%) for Contractor's overhead and profit.  
Actual cost shall include expense for equipment, materials, and labor and shall 
include no overhead items or profit. Where extra work is done by a 
subcontractor, with approval of Owner, there may be included in Contractor's 
actual cost, ten percent (10%) for subcontractor's profit. 

 
  B. The term "extra work" as used herein shall not be construed to apply to changes 

described in "20. CHANGES". 
 
  C. No compensation shall be allowed Contractor for extra work unless such work 

has been authorized in writing by Engineer and approved by Owner. 
 
  D. Contractor shall submit a statement of costs to Engineer for approval when extra 

work is performed on an actual cost plus basis.  After such a statement is 
approved, Engineer shall certify its correctness to Owner. 

 
 22. OWNERSHIP OF MATERIALS 
 
  A. All materials and work covered by partial payments shall become sole property 

of Owner, but this provision shall not be construed as relieving Contractor from 
sole responsibility for all materials and work for which payments have been 
made, for restoration of damaged work, or as a waiver of rights of Owner to 
require fulfillment of all terms of contract. 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-9 
 
 368276 

 
 23. OTHER CONTRACTS 
 
  A. Owner reserves right to let other contracts in connection with this work.  

Contractor shall afford other contractors reasonable opportunity for introduction 
and storage of their materials and execution of their work, and shall properly 
connect and coordinate its work with theirs. 

 
  B. When proper execution of Contractor's work depends upon work of another 

contractor, it shall inspect other work and report any defects to Engineer.  
Contractor's failure to inspect and report shall constitute an acceptance of other 
contractor's work except for defects which may develop in work after 
completion. 

 
  C. To ensure proper execution of its subsequent work, Contractor shall measure 

work already in place and shall at once report to the Engineer any discrepancy 
between the executed work and drawings. 

 
 24. OWNER'S RIGHT TO DO WORK 
 
  A. If Contractor neglects to prosecute work properly or fails to perform any 

provision of this contract, Owner, after three (3) days' written notice to 
Contractor, may, without prejudice to any other remedy it may have, make 
good such deficiencies and may deduct the cost thereof from the payment then 
or thereafter due the Contractor, provided, however, that Engineer shall approve 
both such action and amount charged to Contractor. 

 
 25. OWNER'S RIGHT TO TERMINATE CONTRACT 
 
  A. Owner, upon certification of Engineer that there is sufficient cause to justify 

termination of contract, may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy, 
and after giving Contractor seven (7) days' notice may terminate employment of 
Contractor for any of following reasons: 

   1. Contractor makes a general assignment for benefit of its creditors, or if 
adjudged a bankrupt. 

   2. Receiver is appointed on account of Contractor's insolvency. 
   3. Contractor persistently or repeatedly fails or refuses, except when extension 

of time to complete is granted, to provide enough skilled workmen or proper 
materials. 

   4. Contractor fails to make prompt payment to subcontractors for material or 
labor. 

   5. Contractor persistently disregards laws and ordinances or instructions of 
Engineer. 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-10 
 
 368276 

   6. Contractor violates a provision of contract. 
 
  B. If Owner terminates employment of Contractor, it shall take possession of 

premises and all materials, tools and appliances thereon.  It shall finish work by 
whatever method it may deem expedient.  In such case Contractor shall not be 
entitled to receive any further payment until work is finished. 

 
  C. If unpaid balance of contract price exceeds expense of finishing the work 

including compensation for additional managerial and administrative services, 
excess shall be paid to Contractor.  If expense exceeds unpaid balance, 
Contractor shall pay difference to Owner. Expense incurred by Owner as herein 
provided, and damage incurred through Contractor's default, shall be certified 
by Engineer. 

 
 26. CONTRACTOR'S RIGHT TO STOP WORK OR TERMINATE CONTRACT 
 
  A. If Engineer fails to issue any certificate for payment within fifteen (15) days after 

it is due, or if Owner fails to pay to Contractor within thirty (30) days of its 
maturity and presentation, any sum certified by Engineer, then Contractor may, 
upon seven (7) days simultaneous written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop 
work or terminate this contract. If Contractor elects to stop work by written 
notice, work shall be resumed promptly upon payment by Owner.  If Contractor 
elects to terminate this contract by written notice it shall recover from Owner 
payment for all work executed to date of notice and any loss sustained upon any 
plant or materials plus a reasonable profit. 

 
 27. PAYMENTS WITHHELD 
 
  A. Engineer may withhold or nullify the whole or a part of payment certificate, on 

account of subsequently discovered evidence, to such extent as may be 
necessary to protect Owner from loss on account of: 

   1. Defective work not remedied. 
   2. Claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of claims. 
   3. Failure of Contractor to make payments properly to subcontractors or for 

materials or labor. 
   4. A reasonable doubt that contract can be completed for balance then unpaid. 
   5. Damage to another contractor. 
   6. Claims of Owner for liquidated damages. 
 
  B. Payments shall be made for amounts withheld when above grounds are 

removed.   
 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-11 
 
 368276 

 28. ACCEPTANCE AND FINAL PAYMENT 
 
  A. When work has been satisfactorily completed, Engineer will certify Contractor's 

final estimate stating that work has been completed in accordance with terms 
and conditions thereof with qualifications, if any, as stated.  Balance found to be 
due Contractor according to the terms of payment shall be paid by Owner as 
provided in contract, provided, however, that any state laws which designate 
manner of final payment shall be followed in lieu of manner of final payment 
outlined above.   

 
  B. Making and acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims 

by Owner, except those arising from unsettled liens, from faulty work or 
materials appearing after final payment or from requirements of the 
specifications, and of all claims by Contractor, except those previously made 
and still unsettled. 

 
 29. SUSPENSION OF WORK 
 
  A. Owner may suspend the work, or any part thereof, at any time, by giving ten 

(10) days' written notice to Contractor.  The work shall be resumed by 
Contractor within ten (10) days after date fixed in written notice from Owner to 
Contractor to do so. 

 
  B. If work, or any part thereof, shall be suspended and if Owner does not give 

written notice to Contractor to resume work within one (1) year of date of 
suspension, Contractor may abandon suspended portion of work.  Contractor 
will be entitled to estimates and payments for all work done on the portions so 
abandoned, if any. 

 
 30. CLEANING UP 
 
  A. Contractor shall keep premises free from accumulations of waste material or 

rubbish caused by its employees or work.  After completion of work it shall 
remove all its rubbish and all its tools, scaffolding and surplus materials from 
work site.  It shall leave its work "broom clean" or its equivalent, unless more 
exactly specified.  In case of dispute the Owner may remove rubbish and charge 
costs to Contractor as Engineer shall determine to be just. 

 
 31. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
 
  A. The use of Asbestos Construction Building Materials (ACBM) is specifically 

prohibited.  The Contractor, suppliers, and subcontractors shall warrant that all 
products used are asbestos free.  In the event that a specified product contains 



 General Conditions 
 

 GC-12 
 
 368276 

asbestos, it shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to notify the Owner so 
that an appropriate substitution can be made in a timely manner so as not to 
delay the project. 

 
  B. The Contractor shall provide the Owner a certificate that warrants that no 

materials, products, items or equipment contains any asbestos upon completion 
of the work of this Contract.  If asbestos is found to exist in any of the materials, 
products, items or equipment provided as part of this Contract, the Contractor 
shall be financially responsible for all costs resulting from removal in 
accordance with an Owner approved method and replacement of an asbestos 
free condition to finished drawings and specifications.  The financial 
responsibility of the Contractor shall not terminate with the end of the surety 
maintenance bond period, but shall continue through the life of the facility. 

 
 32. IOWA HAZARDOUS CHEMICAL RISKS RIGHT-TO-KNOW LAW 
 
  A. Owner's responsibility: 
   1. Owner shall provide to the Contractor a list of known hazardous chemicals 

within the project site to which their employees may be exposed and 
suggestions for appropriate protective measures. 

 
  B. Contractor's responsibility: 
   1. Contractor shall inform his/her employees of the Iowa Hazardous Chemical 

Risks Right-to-Know Law. 
   2. Contractor shall provide to the Owner a list of known hazardous chemicals 

that they anticipate will be used on site as well as all pertinent information 
relating to employee protection.  Contractor's Material Safety Data Sheets 
(MSDS) shall be available to Owner upon request. 



 
 SC-1 
 
 368276 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS 
 

INDEX 
 
 1. INTENT 
 2. LOCATION 
 3. RIGHT-OF-WAY 
 4. INTERRUPTIONS TO SERVICE 
 5. SERVICE FACILITIES 
 6. STORAGE OF MATERIALS AND 

EQUIPMENT 
 7. CONSTRUCTION FACILITIES BY 

CONTRACTOR  
 8. INSURANCE BY CONTRACTOR 

 9. EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES 
 10. INSPECTION BY STATE AND 

FEDERAL PERSONNEL 
 11. HISTORICAL/ARCHAEOLOGICAL 

FINDS 
 12. LINE AND GRADE 
 13. ORDER OF CONSTRUCTION 
 14. CONSTRUCTION IN HIGHWAY 

RIGHT OF WAY 

 
 1. INTENT 
 
  A. To supplement the provisions of the GENERAL CONDITIONS by outlining 

special conditions applicable to project. 
 
 2. LOCATION 
 
  A. Work is located along Interstate 80. 
    
  B. Transportation facilities: 
   1. Interstate 80. 
   2. County Highways X30 and F44. 
 
 3. RIGHT-OF-WAY 
 
  A. Owner will provide easements for construction on private lands. 
 
  B. Contractor will be provided list of construction easement widths. 
 
  C. Confine movements of equipment and personnel, storage of materials, 

excavation, spoil banks, and all other construction operations within right-of-
way and easements provided. 

   
  D. Contractor will be held liable by City and adjacent property owners for damages 

outside right-of-way and easements; failure of Engineer to warn Contractor about 
incidence of trespassing does not relieve liability. 

 



 Special Conditions 
 

 
 SC-2 
 
 368276 

 4. INTERRUPTIONS TO SERVICE 
 
  A. Existing utilities shall remain in substantially continuous operation during 

construction. 
 
  B. Do work which will interrupt utility service only at times approved by Engineer; 

hold interruptions of service to a minimum. 
 
 5. SERVICE FACILITIES 
 
  A. Water, electricity, compressed air, and other services shall be furnished by 

Contractor to meet his own requirements. 
 
 6. STORAGE OF MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT 
 
  A. Limited storage space for materials and equipment will be available at project 

sites and along easements. 
 
  B. Storage areas shall be subject to approval of Owner and Engineer. 
 
  C. Store materials and equipment in manner which will preserve their quality and 

fitness. 
 
 7. CONSTRUCTION FACILITIES BY CONTRACTOR 
 
  A. Provide telephone at which Contractor can be reached by Owner or Engineer at 

all times during the working day. 
 
  B. Provide suitable storage buildings necessary for proper storage of materials and 

equipment. 
 
  C. Location of all construction facilities, subject to approval by Engineer; remove 

all construction facilities upon completion of work. 
 
  D. Provide and maintain suitable sanitary facilities for construction personnel for 

duration of work; remove upon completion of work. 
 
  E. Provide fence, barricades, and/or watchmen to prevent access of unauthorized 

persons to site where work is in progress. 
 
  F. Provide telephone number(s) at which responsible representative of Contractor 

can be contacted evenings, weekends, and holidays in event of emergency. 
 



 Special Conditions 
 

 
 SC-3 
 
 368276 

 8. INSURANCE BY CONTRACTOR 
 
  A. Provide and maintain insurance throughout construction period in the following 

minimum amounts: 
   1. Workmen's compensation and occupational disease insurance in accordance 

with laws of the State of Iowa covering all employees who perform any 
obligations assumed under the contract. 

   2. Public liability and property damage liability insurance covering all 
operations under the contract; limits of bodily injury or death not less than 
$500,000 for one person and $1,000,000 for each accident; for property 
damage, not less than $250,000 for each accident and $500,000 aggregate 
for accidents during the policy period. 

   3. Automobile liability insurance on all self-propelled vehicles used in 
connection with the contract, whether owned, non-owned, or hired; public 
liability limits of not less than $500,000 for one person and $1,000,000 for 
each accident; property damage limit of $500,000 for each accident. 

 
  B. Provide addendum language attached to the Certificate of Insurance which 

preserves the Owner’s immunities.  The addendum language is as follows: 
 
   “The Companies affording coverage and the Additional Insured, City of West 

Branch, Cedar County, Iowa expressly agree and state that the purchase of this 
policy of insurance by the insured and the listing of the City of West Branch as 
an Additional Insured hereunder to not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the Additional Insured under Iowa Code 
Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 

 
    The Companies and the Additional Insured further agree that this policy of 

insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under Iowa Code Section 670.4 as it now exists and as 
it may be amended from time to time. 

 
    The Additional Insured shall be responsible for asserting any defense of 

governmental immunity, and may do so at any time and shall do so upon the 
timely written request of the Companies. 

 
    The Companies shall not deny coverage under this policy and the Companies 

shall not deny any of the rights and benefits accruing to the Insured or the 
Additional Insured under this policy for reasons of governmental immunity 
unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the 
defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the Additional Insured.”. 

 



 Special Conditions 
 

 
 SC-4 
 
 368276 

  C. Owner shall have right at any time to require public liability insurance and 
property damage liability insurance greater than required in above paragraphs.  
Additional premiums payable solely as result of such additional insurance shall 
be added to bid price. 

 
  D. Furnish certificates of insurance to Engineer made in favor of Owner showing 

compliance with foregoing requirements. 
 
  E. Owner and Engineer shall be listed as an additional insured by endorsement.   
 
  F. Notification in event of liability damage: upon occurrence of any event, the 

liability of which is herein assumed, Contractor agrees to forthwith notify 
Owner, in writing, such happenings, which notice shall forthwith give details as 
to the happening, cause as far as can be ascertained, estimate of loss or damage 
done, names of witnesses, if any, and stating amount of any claim. 

 
 9. EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES 
 
  A. Contractor, or his subcontractors, shall not employ any person whose physical 

or mental condition is such that his employment will endanger the health and 
safety of himself or others employed on the project. 

 
 10. INSPECTION BY STATE AND FEDERAL PERSONNEL 
 
  A. Provide full access and cooperation for inspection of work by representatives of 

participating State and Federal agencies. 
 
 11. HISTORICAL/ARCHAEOLOGICAL FINDS 
 
  A. If, during course of construction, evidence of deposits of historical or 

archaeological interest is found, cease operations affecting find and notify 
Owner who shall notify Iowa Department of Natural Resources and Director 
and Historic Preservation Officer, State Historical Department, East 12th and 
Grand, Des Moines, Iowa 50319.  No further disturbance of deposits shall 
ensue until notification by Owner that work may proceed.  Owner will issue 
notice to proceed only after state official has surveyed find and made 
determination to Department of Natural Resources and Owner. Compensation 
to Contractor, if any, for lost time or changes in construction to avoid find, 
determined in accordance with changed conditions or change order provisions 
of specifications. 

 



 Special Conditions 
 

 
 SC-5 
 
 368276 

 12. LINE AND GRADE 
 
  A. Construct to line and grades shown on plans or as specified hereinafter. 
 
  B. Engineer to establish required benchmarks and control points as shown on 

plans. 
 
  C. Contractor will perform detailed survey and staking for location, elevation, and 

grade of construction. 
 
  D. These conditions supersede conflicting provisions of GENERAL CONDITIONS. 
 
  E. Check all detailed surveys and stakeouts; assume full responsibility for accuracy 

and correctness thereof. 
 
  F. Contract shall provide, without extra compensation, all men, and necessary 

tools to make all test holes and exploration, at any time, for purpose of 
determining location of existing utilities beneath ground surface which might 
conflict with work of Contractor. 

 
  G. Contractor shall preserve all monuments, reference points, stakes, and 

benchmarks set by Engineer.  In case of destruction by Contractor's negligence 
or carelessness, he will be charged with resulting expense of replacement, and 
responsibility for any mistakes or loss of time caused thereby. 

 
 13. ORDER OF CONSTRUCTION 
 
  A. Provide Engineer with proposed schedule of construction showing dates of 

starting and completing various portions of work. 
 
  B. Contractor shall establish schedule of working hours for construction, subject to 

approval of Engineer. 
 
  C. Schedule construction to minimize use of street barricades and detours; clean 

up each portion of work as it is completed. 
 
  D. Adequate protection shall be provided for pedestrians.  If a section of sidewalk 

is closed, appropriate signing and barricading shall be utilized; signing and 
barricading shall remain in place until sidewalk is reopened for pedestrian use. 

   
  



 Special Conditions 
 

 
 SC-6 
 
 368276 

 14. CONSTRUCTION IN HIGHWAY RIGHT OF WAY 
 
  A. Submit detailed plans for construction operations for approval of Owner; start 

work after detailed plans are approved. 
 
  B. Notify Iowa Department of Transportation and the City of West Branch 72 hours 

in advance of intention to begin construction operations in right-of-way. 
 
  C. Right-of-Way must be restored to original condition from standpoints of 

compaction and surface restoration; comply with applicable sections of Iowa 
DOT Standard Specifications for Highway and Bridge Construction. 

 
  D. Provide flaggers, if directed by Engineer or Owner. 
 
  E. Keep all construction equipment and personnel off shoulders; parking on 

shoulders not permitted. 
 
  F. Comply with all traffic control and safety regulations of IDOT or as directed by 

Owner. 
 
  G. Perform work only in highway right-of-way from 30 min. after sunrise to 30 min. 

before sunset. 
 



PL-1 
 

368276 
 

PLANS LIST 
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 
 1. PLANS 
 
  A. The work on I-80 Water Main Relocation shall conform with the following 

drawings (bound separately) and Standard Drawings which constitute the 
"plans" and are an integral part of the Contract Documents. 

 
   

Title Drawing Number 

Index & Title Sheet 1 

Details  2 

Utilities & Contact Information 3 

Demolition Plan & Survey Control 4 

Plan & Profile 5-9 



 
 1-1 
 
 368276 

 DETAILED SPECIFICATIONS 
 

I-80 WATER MAIN RELOCATION 
WEST BRANCH, IOWA 

 
 PART 1 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
 INDEX 
 
 1. FORM 
 2. INTENT 
 3. INTERPRETATION 
 4. WORK INCLUDED 
 5. STARTING AND COMPLETION 

TIME 
 6. INFORMATION FOR ENGINEER 
 7. SHOP DRAWINGS 

 8. PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 9. STANDARDS AND CODES 
10. TESTS 
11. RESPONSIBILITY OF 

CONTRACTOR 
12. TEMPORARY WORK 
13. BARRICADES AND LIGHTS 
14. FINAL REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE 

 
 1. FORM 
 
  A. Detailed specifications are in outline form and include incomplete sentences.  

Omission of words or phrases is intentional.  Supply omitted words or phrases by 
inference. 

 
 2. INTENT 
 
  A. To set forth requirements of performance, type of equipment or structure desired, 

and standards of materials and construction. 
 
  B. To describe work set out in Contract Documents, unless otherwise specifically 

indicated. 
 
  C. To require performance of complete work in spite of omission of specific 

reference to any minor component parts. 
 
  D. To provide for new materials and equipment, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
 3. INTERPRETATION 
 
  A. Report errors or ambiguities in specifications to Engineer as soon as detected; 

Engineer will answer questions regarding and interpret intended meaning of 
specifications; Engineer's interpretation shall be accepted as final. 

 



 General Requirements 
 

 
 1-2 
 
 368276 

 4. WORK INCLUDED 
 
  A. Furnish all materials, labor and equipment to construct I-80 Water Main 

Relocation as set out in the Notice to Bidders. 
 
 5. STARTING AND COMPLETION TIME 
 
  A. Start work within 10 calendar days after date set forth in written Notice to 

Proceed.  It is anticipated that Notice to Proceed will be issued within 30 calendar 
days after date of receiving bids. Complete work within the times set out in Notice 
to Bidders. 

 
 6. INFORMATION FOR ENGINEER 
 
  A. After award of contract submit following information for Engineer's review.  Total 

number of review copies required for distribution: 4 plus copies required by 
Contractor. 

   1. Purchase orders and subcontracts without prices. 
   2. Shipping papers for all materials. 
   3. All materials test reports. 
   4. Portland cement concrete mix design; submit 8 days before proposed mix is to 

be used. 
    a. Include certified gradation of aggregates to be used. 
   5. Details of proposed method of sheeting, shoring and bracing. 
   6. Manufacturer's specifications and catalog data for manholes, intakes, pipe, 

castings and other special items. 
   7. Such other information as Engineer may request. 
 
  B. Within 15 days after award of contract, provide construction schedule showing 

dates of starting and completing various portions of work. 
 
 7. SHOP DRAWINGS 
 
  A. Intent of Engineer's review: to assist Contractor in interpreting plans and 

specifications. 
 
  B. Contractor's responsibility: to check drawings prior to submission of coordination 

and conformance with contract; do not submit without checking. 
 
  C. Engineer's review is only for general conformance with design concept of project 

and general compliance with information given in contract documents; any action 
shown is subject to requirements of plans and specifications; Contractor 
responsible for dimensions which must be confirmed and correlated at job site; 



 General Requirements 
 

 
 1-3 
 
 368276 

fabrication processes and techniques of construction; coordination of work with 
that of all other trades and satisfactory performance of work. 

 
  D. Prior to submission of shop drawings and catalog data to Engineer: affix 

Contractor's stamp with signature of responsible person to show material 
submitted has been checked and approved by Contractor; shop drawings 
submitted without appropriate stamp and signature will be returned without 
Engineer's review. 

 
8. PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 
  A. Engineer will furnish up to 5 sets of plans and specifications after award of 

contract.  Contractor shall compensate Engineer for printing costs for additional 
copies required. 

 
  B. Subcontractors will be furnished copies only at request of Contractor.  Engineer 

will be compensated for printing costs. 
 
  C. Provide one set of plans and specifications for each foreman or superintendent in 

charge of each crew on job. 
 
 9. STANDARDS AND CODES 
 
  A. Do work in accordance with best present-day installation and construction 

practices. 
 
  B. Conform to and test materials in accordance with applicable sections of latest 

revisions or tentative revisions of following codes and standards unless 
specifically noted to contrary. 

   1. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 
(AASHTO). 

   2. American Concrete Institute (ACI). 
   3. American Institute of Steel Construction (AISC). 
   4. American National Standards Institute (ANSI). 
   5. American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM). 
   6. American Standards Association (ASA). 
   7. American Water Works Association (AWWA). 
   8. American Welding Society (AWS). 
   9. Current Iowa Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). 
     10. Federal Specifications (FS). 
     11. Iowa Department of Transportation (IDOT); latest edition of standard 

specifications and addenda. 



 General Requirements 
 

 
 1-4 
 
 368276 

     12. Iowa Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1972 (Chapter 88, Code of Iowa 
2019) (IOSHA). 

     13. Manual of Accident Prevention in Construction by Associated General 
Contractors of America, Inc. (AGC). 

     14. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH). 
     15. National Safety Council (NSC). 
     16. Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (Public Law 91-596) (OSHA). 
     17. Standards and codes of the State of Iowa, Cedar County and applicable local 

standards and codes of the City of West Branch. 
     18. Other standards and codes which may be applicable to acceptable standards 

of the industry for equipment, materials and installation under the contract. 
 
10. TESTS 
 
  A. Includes all material tests or tests specified hereinafter. 
 
  B. Provide samples of materials required for laboratory tests. 
 
  C. Incorporate no materials in work until laboratory tests have been furnished which 

show compliance of materials with the specifications. 
 
  D. All materials subject to sampling, testing, inspection and rejection at site by 

Engineer. 
 
  E. Laboratory tests include the following: 
   1. Ductile iron pipe: certify that pipe conforms to ANSI A21.51. 
   2. Steel casing pipe: certify that pipe conforms to ASTM A53 or A139. 
   3. Cement: bin sample for entire requirement, ASTM C150. 
   4. Concrete aggregates: one (1) sample of each, ASTM C33. 
   5. Reinforced concrete pipe: test one (1) piece of each diameter of each class 

furnished; check reinforcing size and placement; ASTM C76. 
   6. Other pipe: certify that pipe conforms to applicable specifications.  

  
  F. Provide samples of excavated materials to determine moisture density relations of 

soils and perform moisture and density tests during construction; Contractor is to 
hire independent testing company to perform tests. 

 
  G. Compaction tests on subgrade: ASTM D1557; one (1) tests per 200 LF of 

embankment where compacted or ordinary backfill is specified; at each location; 
cooperate with Engineer and provide necessary excavations to allow compaction 
tests to be taken; Contractor is to hire independent testing company to perform 
tests. 

 



 General Requirements 
 

 
 1-5 
 
 368276 

11. RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTOR 
 
  A. Protection of his work. 
 
  B. Protection of all property from injury or loss resulting from his operations. 
 
  C. Replace or repair objects sustaining any such damage, injury or loss to satisfaction 

of Owner and Engineer. 
 
  D. Cooperation with Owner, Engineer and representatives of utilities in locating 

underground utility lines and structures.  Incorrect, inaccurate or inadequate 
information concerning location of utilities or structures shall not relieve 
Contractor of responsibility for damage thereto caused by his operation. 

 
  E. Keep cleanup current with construction operations. 
 
  F. Maintain set of record drawings of any changes made as work progresses which 

may vary from contract drawings. 
 
  G. Comply with all Federal, State of Iowa, Cedar County and City of West Branch, 

Iowa laws and ordinances. 
 
12. TEMPORARY WORK     
 
  A. Make all temporary connections necessary for maintaining utility service during 

course of work. 
 
  B. Construct temporary drains or bulkheads to keep work in the dry. 
 
13. BARRICADES AND LIGHTS 
 
  A. Erect and maintain barricades and lights in conformance with current Manual of 

Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) for protection and warning of 
pedestrians and vehicles.  All barricades, lights and/or watchmen at expense of 
Contractor. 

 
  B. Engineer will not allow work to proceed until all signs, barricades and lights are in 

place; requirements for type of signs and number of signs will be strictly enforced; 
improper signing during construction will constitute "improper work" and 
Engineer will cause Contractor to suspend work. 

 
  C. All signs, barricades, and other traffic control devices used on the project shall be 

furnished, installed and maintained by Contractor; all traffic control devices shall 



 General Requirements 
 

 
 1-6 
 
 368276 

be maintained in a state of good repair and shall be cleaned and washed 
periodically as needed. 

  
  D. Certain sections of public streets, and sidewalks can be closed with the following 

restrictions: 
   1. Adequate protection shall be provided for pedestrians; if a section of sidewalk 

is closed, appropriate signing and barricading shall be utilized; signing and 
barricading shall remain in place until sidewalk or trail is opened for 
pedestrian use.  

   2. Provide notice to City and businesses if access will be blocked.  Provide 
flaggers or necessary signage. 

   3. Notify City 48 hrs. prior to street or sidewalk closing. 
 
  E. At the end of each working day place barricades and lights as required; maintain 

barricades and lights at all times including non-working hours; maintain lights in 
operable condition at all times. 

 
14. FINAL REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE 
 
  A. Notify Engineer when installation is considered complete and ready for final 

review. 
 
  B. Owner will accept work and make final payment to Contractor: 
   1. When Engineer has certified that he has reviewed the work of the Contractor 

and stated that the work is complete and in conformance with the plans and 
specifications. 

   2. When Contractor has filed with Owner or Engineer documents called for in 
specifications. 

   3. When all government agencies involved have indicated, in writing, work is 
complete and acceptable. 

 



 
 2-1 
 
 368276 

PART 2 – SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION 
 

INDEX 
 

 1. GENERAL 
 2. COOPERATION WITH OTHERS  
 3. SURVEY MARKERS 
 4. CONTAMINATED SOIL FINDS 
 5. WEATHER LIMITATIONS 

 6. CONSTRUCTION STAKING 
 7. TRAFFIC CONTROL 
 8. STORMWATER PERMIT AND 

EROSION CONTROL 
 9. PAYMENT 

 
 1. GENERAL 
 
  A. Procedures outlined below are not intended to fully cover all special procedures 

or emergencies which may arise during construction but are offered as an aid to 
Contractor in planning work; Contractor will cooperate with Owner and 
Engineer to minimize inconvenience and construction delays. 

 
  B. Determine location of underground utilities and piping before starting work; 

locations of underground appurtenances are approximate and not guaranteed by 
Owner or Engineer. 

 
  C. Remove and replace all signs, mailboxes, fences and other appurtenances which 

interfere with construction operations; replace damaged items at no cost to 
Owner. 

   1. Maintain mail service to residents and businesses at all times. 
 
  D. Remove and replace culverts as required for construction; if damaged, replace 

in kind with new culvert at no cost to Owner. 
 
  E. Limit construction operations to property, right-of-way and easements provided 

by Owner; provide barricades, lights, signs and detours as necessary to reroute 
traffic around construction areas. 

 
  F. Arrange with operating utilities for relocation or temporary removal of utilities in 

conflict with construction and for services needed during construction. 
 
  G. Dispose of materials removed during construction at locations approved by 

Owner or Engineer. 
   1. Dispose of waste products containing putrescible materials at approved 

landfill. 
   2. Dispose of surfacing, broken concrete or rubble, brush, trees, excess 

excavated materials or spoil not suitable for backfill at site obtained by 
Contractor. 

 



 Special Construction 
 

 
 2-2 
 
 368276 

  H. Notify residents or businesses 2 days in advance when construction will disrupt 
or block access to property.  Provide door hangers with notification.  Limit 
disruption to seven (7) calendar days. 

 
  I. Remove, stockpile and replace fencing where required for construction as 

shown on plans; replace fences as work progresses. 
 
  J. Provide construction fence along boundaries of construction area as specified 

hereinafter and as directed by Engineer. 
   1. Install construction fence when area is prepared for excavation; install on 

steel posts with maximum spacing of 8'; maintain until work is completed. 
   2. Provide construction fence around all open trenches or open structures 

when left unattended. 
   3. Provide construction fence along boundaries of construction area in 

developed areas to prevent access of unauthorized persons to construction 
area. 

 
  K. Clean up and provide surface restoration as construction progresses. 
 
  L. Submit complete detailed construction procedure schedule after award of 

contract for planning, scheduling and controlling construction of project. 
 
  M. Contractor will be expected to provide adequate personnel and equipment to 

perform work within specified time of construction. 
 
  N. If delays in delivery of materials become apparent, notify Owner and Engineer 

promptly; take action to accomplish one of the following: 
   1. Substitute alternate materials with approval of Owner and Engineer. 
   2. Expedite delivery of materials. 
 
  O. Extensions of contract period will be given consideration upon written request 

of Contractor; request must include valid supporting data and bona fide reasons 
for requesting extension; Owner expects work to be complete and ready for 
final acceptance within completion time specified. 

 
  P. Maintain reasonable access to private properties along route of sidewalk unless 

property owners agree to other arrangements and Owner approves; provide 
temporary granular surfacing for access to private properties; cost of maintaining 
access is incidental to construction. 

  
  



 Special Construction 
 

 
 2-3 
 
 368276 

 2.  COOPERATION WITH OTHERS 
 
  A. Advise all utilities prior to excavating in area where construction might affect 

gas, electrical, communications or water service. 
   1. Advise communications company of proposed construction schedule as it 

relates to communications service. 
   2. Advise power company of proposed construction schedule as it relates to 

electrical power. 
   3. Advise gas company of proposed construction schedule as it relates to gas 

service. 
   4. Advise Owner of proposed construction schedule as it relates to water and 

sewer mains including services. 
   5. Advise cable television of proposed construction schedule as it relates to 

cable television service. 
 
  B. Cooperate with State and Federal regulatory agencies in matters under their 

jurisdiction over construction operations. 
 
  C. Cooperate with local governmental agencies; secure necessary building permits 

and arrange for inspections at proper time. 
 
 3. SURVEY MARKERS 
 
  A. Contractor responsible for hiring registered land surveyor to inventory existing 

pipe, pins and registered survey lot corners disturbed by construction; land 
surveyor responsible for setting reference markers required to re-establish 
location of existing pipe, pins and registered survey lot corners.  Replace in 
Accordance with Chapter 355 of the Iowa Code.  Work is incidental to 
construction. 

 
 4. CONTAMINATED SOIL FINDS 
 
  A. If during course of construction evidence of deposits of contaminated soils are 

found, cease operations affecting find and notify Owner who will notify Iowa 
Department of Natural Resources; no further disturbance of deposits will ensue 
until notification by Owner that work may proceed; Owner will issue notice to 
proceed only after contaminated soils have been identified and procedures for 
remediating contaminated soils have been identified and procedures for 
remedial action have been determined and approved by Iowa Department of 
Natural Resources and Owner; compensation to Contractor, if any, for lost time 
or changes in construction due to changed conditions will be in accordance 
with change order provisions of specifications. 

  



 Special Construction 
 

 
 2-4 
 
 368276 

 5. WEATHER LIMITATIONS 
 
  A. Owner will not pay extra for surfacing replaced prior to winter shutdown and 

removed at beginning of next construction season to expose temporary end of 
construction. 

 
  B. Owner expects paving of improvements during suitable weather within contract 

time period; contract time period includes calendar days for inclement weather; 
contract time period will not be extended for claims of wet weather or freezing 
weather; Owner will consider suspension of contract time period for winter 
months only after completion of cleanup. 

 
 6. CONSTRUCTION STAKING 
 
  A. Contractor responsible for providing all necessary construction staking to allow 

for project construction. 
 
  B. Contractor responsible for accuracy and completeness of all construction 

staking. 
 
  C. Owner or Engineer may review accuracy of construction staking at its own 

discretion at any time.  
 
 7. TRAFFIC CONTROL 
 
  A. Provide barricades, signs and lights to protect vehicular and pedestrian traffic 

during construction; comply with GENERAL REQUIREMENTS; see plans for 
details. 

 
  B. Conform to requirements of MUTCD and Iowa DOT. 
 
 8. STORMWATER PERMIT AND EROSION CONTROL 
 
  A. Construction of I-80 Water Main Relocation project will disturb more than 1 acre 

and requires compliance with storm water regulations as administered by Iowa 
Department of Natural Resources.   

 
  B. Contractor responsible for hiring persons knowledgeable in preparation of a Storm 

Water Pollution Prevention Plan.  Contractor will be the responsible party for 
publishing notice of intent as required for General Permit No. 2.  Contractor will 
be responsible party for development, implementation and monitoring for 
compliance of the Pollution Prevention Plan requirements and General Permit 
No. 2.  Contractor will be responsible for filing the notice of discontinuation of 



 Special Construction 
 

 
 2-5 
 
 368276 

General Permit No. 2 after vegetative growth has been re-established to the 
required levels of the permit.  Contractor will pay all fees and pay all fines for 
permit violation. 

 
  C. References to silt fences in the specifications and locations shown on plans are 

intended to illustrate typical erosion control measures to be implemented by 
Contractor.  In the event the requirements of the Pollution Prevention Plan 
conflict with other references in specifications or with illustration of silt fence 
locations shown on plans, requirements of the Pollution Prevention Plan will 
govern. 

 
  D. Contractor responsible for maintaining a copy of the Pollution Prevention Plan 

and permit on site for inspection by regulatory agencies. 
 
  E. Include all costs associated with preparation, implementation and monitoring of 

Pollution Prevention Plan and all necessary pollution control measures to be 
constructed and maintained by the Contractor in the lump sum price for Erosion 
Control. 

 
  F. Stage construction phases to comply with the phased pollution prevention 

implementation shown in the Pollution Prevention Plan. 
 
  G. Contractor responsible to coordinate Pollution Prevention Plan and erosion 

control activities with erosion control activities of other contractors working in 
same general area.  No additional compensation will be provided for 
coordination. 

 
     H. Provide copies of all applications, correspondence and permits to Owner. 
 
      I. Provide copy of Pollution Prevention Plan to all contractors working in general 

vicinity of project. 
  J. Contractor responsible to complete all requirements for NPDES General Permit 

No. 2 in a timely manner to avoid any delays in start of construction; notice to 
proceed for construction will not be issued until all General Permit No. 2 
requirements have been met; no extension of time for completion of construction 
will be granted for failure to timely meet requirements of General Permit No. 2. 

 
  K.  Erosion control measures shall be in accordance with Urban Standard 

Specifications for Public Improvements, as amended and adopted by the City of 
West Branch. 

 
  



 Special Construction 
 

 
 2-6 
 
 368276 

 9.  PAYMENT 
 
  A. No separate payment will be made for work covered under this part of the 

specifications except as set forth below.  Include all costs in appropriate unit 
prices. 

 
  B. Mobilization, LS: Lump sum price includes all costs for transporting all 

necessary equipment and tools to and from site and cleanup of equipment and 
tools from site upon completion of work. 

 
  C. Construction Staking, LS: Lump sum price includes all costs for labor, 

equipment and material to provide all construction staking and re staking 
necessary for the complete construction of the project. 

 
  D. Traffic Control, LS: Lump sum price includes furnishing signs, flagmen, 

barricades, flashers, channelizing devices, detour markers, and other 
miscellaneous traffic control items specified or required by Iowa DOT or City of 
West Branch during construction; includes set up, removal and miscellaneous 
associated work. 

 
  E. Erosion Control, LS: Lump sum includes all costs for labor, materials and 

equipment necessary to prepare an approved Pollution Prevention Plan, apply 
for and obtain a General Permit No. 2, implement and maintain all items of 
work required by the Pollution Prevention Plan, including temporary and final 
seeding, fertilizing and mulching placement and removal of temporary pollution 
prevention measures and miscellaneous associated work 



 
3-1 

 
368276 

PART 3 – EXCAVATION, BACKFILL AND SITEWORK 
 

INDEX 
 
 1. GENERAL 
 2. DEFINITIONS 
 3. TRENCH EXCAVATION 
 4. ROCK AND RUBBLE 

EXCAVATION 
 5. SHEETING, SHORING AND 

BRACING 
 6. DEWATERING 
 7.  EXISTING UTILITIES 
 8.  SURFACING REMOVAL 

 9. TRENCH BACKFILL 
 10. SURFACE RESTORATION 
 11.  FIELD DRAIN LINES 
 12.  SURFACE REPLACEMENT 
 13.  SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT 
 14.  CLEARING & GRUBBING 
 15. PIPE AND STRUCTURE REMOVAL 
 16. FENCE REMOVAL AND 

REPLACEMENT 
 17. PAYMENT 

  
 1. GENERAL 
 
  A. Excavate all materials encountered to depth indicated or specified; comply with 

safety rules of state and federal governments. 
 
  B. Schedule work to keep streets, roads and utilities in usable condition; avoid 

inconvenience to property owners insofar as practicable during construction. 
 
  C. Remove, replace and repair items such as fences, culverts, signs, hanging wires, 

shrubbery, flowers, trees and other obstructions to accommodate construction 
equipment or to facilitate excavation. 

 
  D. Remove trees, plantings and shrubbery where shown on plans; remove other 

plantings only with written authorization of Engineer; any plantings removed or 
damaged for convenience of Contractor: replace with equal plantings at no cost 
to Owner. 

 
  E. Pile excavated material suitable for backfill in an orderly manner sufficient 

distance back from edge of excavation to avoid slides or cave-ins; 2' minimum 
clear distance; cast dirt as directed by Engineer. 

 
  F. Remove spoil not suitable for backfill; waste at disposal area designated by 

Engineer; removal is incidental to construction. 
 
  G. Where new work crosses existing utilities or utility services, excavate in advance 

of pipe laying; determine crossing arrangement including exact construction line 
and grade. 

 
  



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-2 

 
368276 

  H. Excavate in open cut under existing streets, utilities and structures and for creek 
crossings except as noted on plans or as modified by Engineer. 

 
I. All excavations must meet Federal, State and local criteria, COE safety manual 

and OSHA criteria.  Excavation adjacent to the levees within the limits of the 
levee-projected slopes should be sloping no steeper than 1V on 1.5H from the 
bottom of the excavation. Stability analysis may be required for deep 
excavations.  

  
  J. Reference to percent maximum density: soil density not less than the stated 

percent of maximum density for soil as determined by ASTM D698 
Moisture-Density Relations of Soils, using 5.5-lb. Rammer and 12-in. Drop 
(Standard Proctor Method). 

 
  K. In event contaminated soil is discovered cease construction immediately and 

notify Engineer. 
 
  L.  Install signing and barricades for traffic control in accordance with Manual on 

Uniform Traffic Control Devices; include cost in appropriate unit or lump sum 
Price. 

 
 2.  DEFINITIONS 
 
  A. Earth: all materials, including clay, silt, sand, gravel, hardpan, disintegrated 

shale, highly weathered and broken limestone, debris, junk, brick, loose stones 
and boulders which can be removed by use of suitable excavating equipment 
and pneumatic tools. 

 
  B. Rock: boulders larger than 1 CY in volume or solid deposits so firmly cemented 

together that they cannot be removed without continuous use of pneumatic 
tools or blasting; rock excavation is not expected. 

 
  C. Rubble: buried concrete foundations, beams walls and other materials which 

require continuous use of pneumatic tools or blasting; some rubble may be 
encountered in portions of proposed project. 

 
 3.  TRENCH EXCAVATION 
 
  A. Keep width of trench as narrow as possible and still provide adequate room for 

backfill and jointing. 
 
  



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-3 

 
368276 

  B. Maximum width of trench at top of pipe is shown on SUDAS Standard Drawing 
SW-101. 

 
  C. Keep sides of trench as nearly vertical as can be safely done; maintain vertical 

walls of excavation below top of pipe. 
 
  D. Bottom of Trench: 
   1. Provide firm, stable and uniform support for full length of pipe. 
   2. Remove large clods, stones and other foreign material from bottom of trench. 
   3. Pipe bedding: 
    a. Water main under paving: use hand-shaped trench bottom on 

undisturbed earth with bell shaping.     
     1. After pipe has been laid and joints made, backfill to spring line of 

pipe with impervious backfill material; compact to 95% Standard 
Proctor density. 

     2. Trench excavated below required grade: backfill to proper elevation 
with impervious backfill material and compact to 95% standard 
proctor density at no cost to Owner. 

    b. Water main outside paving: use class P-3 bedding shown on SUDAS 
Standard Drawing SW-104.  Backfill above pipe with excavated material; 
compact material to 90% Standard Proctor Density to top of trench. 

   6. Provide granular pipe bedding at fire hydrants as shown on Standard 
Drawing: 3/4" ballast. 

 
  E. When unsuitable material is encountered which may not provide a suitable 

foundation for pipe: 
   1. Notify Owner immediately. 
   2. Engineer will investigate questionable material to determine its suitability for 

pipe foundation. 
   3. If material is considered unsuitable for foundation, Owner will specify and 

authorize remedial measures in writing. 
   4. If removal of unsuitable material is authorized: 
    a. Replace with stabilizing material outside levee zone. 
    b. Stabilizing material: sharp, clean crushed stone; complying with 

following gradation: 
 

Sieve % Passing 
2-1/2" 100 

2" 90-100 
1-1/2" 35-70 

1" 0-15 
1/2" 0-5 



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-4 

 
368276 

 
    c. Compact stabilizing material by rodding or slicing with shovel. 
    d. Place 2" of granular pipe bedding as specified herein on top of stabilizing 

material; bring pipe bedding up to spring line. 
    e. Pipe bedding: sharp, clean, crushed stone; comply with following 

gradation: 
Sieve   % Passing 
1" 100 
3/4"  80-95 
1/2"  50-60 
3/8"  20-40 
No. 4       0-5 

    f. Authorized over-excavation, stabilizing material and pipe bedding will 
be paid for as Stabilizing Material. 

   5. Authorized remedial measures not covered by contract unit prices will be 
paid for as Extra Work. 

 
 4.  ROCK AND RUBBLE EXCAVATION 
 
  A. Excavate to provide specified cover; lay pipe on pipe bedding. 
 
  B. Use of explosives: submit detailed plans outlining all proposed blasting 

operations, locations, methods and use of mats and other safety measures. 
   1. Obtain written approval from Engineer before using explosives. 
   2. Provide Special Hazard Insurance covering liability for all blasting 

operations. 
   3. Use thoroughly experienced demolition personnel. 
 
  C. Remove excavated rock and rubble not suitable for backfill to disposal areas 

obtained by Contractor. 
 
  D. Rock and rubble excavation are not anticipated on project,  If rock is 

encountered, notify engineer. 
 
 5. SHEETING, SHORING AND BRACING 
 
  A. Construct tight sheeting, shoring and bracing where required to hold walls of 

excavation, to provide safety for workers, or protect existing utilities or 
structures or to permit construction in the dry. 

 
  B. Leave in place all sheeting below a level 2' over top of pipe if pulling of 

sheeting disturbs pipe. 



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-5 

 
368276 

 
  C. Leave sheeting and shoring in place above 2' over top of pipe when removal 

might damage pipe, existing utilities or structures. 
 
D. Contractor may be required to install sheeting by regulatory agencies when not 

required by Engineer; in such case, Owner will only pay for sheeting left in 
place, as directed. 

  E. Sheeting will be paid for as Extra work on in-place square foot basis. 
 
 6. DEWATERING 
 
  A. Do all work in dry; provide for handling of water encountered during 

construction. No additional compensation will be provided for dewatering. 
 
  B. Lay no pipe in or pour no concrete on excessively wet soil. 
 
  C. Prevent surface water from flowing into excavation; remove water as it 

accumulates. 
 
  D. Divert stream flow away from areas of construction. 
 
  E. Do not pump water onto adjacent property without approval of Engineer. 
 
 7.  EXISTING UTILITIES 
 
  A. Locations of utility lines, mains, cables and appurtenances are in accordance 

with information provided by utility companies and from records of Owner; 
confirm locations of underground utilities by excavating ahead of work; 
Contractor responsible for damage to utilities during construction. 

   1. Request locations of utility lines, mains, cables and appurtenances prior to 
construction. 

   2. Service lines are not shown on plans. 
 
  B. Notify Owner immediately if conflicting utilities are not shown on plans or if 

utilities as located prior to construction conflict with proposed construction. 
 
  C. Water main and sanitary sewer conflicts: notify Owner immediately; provide all 

necessary shut-down, repair and relocation where conflicts occur; furnish labor,  
   equipment, pipe and fittings; repair and relocation will be paid for as Extra 

Work when broken due to carelessness, repair is incidental to construction. 
   



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-6 

 
368276 

  D. Utility lines, poles and appurtenances, except water mains and sewer lines, in 
direct conflict with line an grade of work will be relocated by utility company 
before or during construction at no expense to Contractor; advise utility 
companies of lines, poles and appurtenances to be moved after award of 
contract; cooperate with utility companies in relocation of lines, poles and 
appurtenances. 

 
  E. Support and protect, by timbers or other means, all utility pipes, conduits, poles, 

wires or other apparatus not to be moved; protective measures subject to 
approval of Engineer. 

  
  F. If Contractor wishes to move any utility line, pole or service not in direct 

conflict with line and grade of new work to accommodate equipment, method 
of operation or for convenience, Contractor must make own arrangements with 
utility company; cost of relocation is incidental to construction. 

 
 8.  SURFACING REMOVAL 
 
  A. Remove existing surfacing to limits shown on plans. 
   1. Cut vertically and horizontally on straight lines; saw cut full depth of 

surfacing. 
   2. Portland cement concrete pavement: remove to nearest joint or as directed 

by Engineer and as shown on plans; cut steel as necessary. 
   3. Sidewalk, and curb and gutter: remove existing concrete to nearest joint or 

as directed by Engineer and as shown on Standard Drawings or plan; use 
saw or other devices to cut smooth, even lines perpendicular to existing 
pavement surface. 

   4. Asphalt pavement: cut to a neat line.  Mill or grind asphalt paving to break 
up surface into particles that can be blended with granular subbase.  Asphalt 
shall be processed such that 100% of the material is a nominal 2” maximum 
size.  Material shall be of sufficiently stable quality to resist distortion during 
pavement construction. 

   5.  Milling of existing surfacing can include 2" asphalt surfacing and any depth 
of granular base material beneath paving that is required to facilitate milling 
operation.  Milled pavement is to be blended evenly with existing granular 
base material and stockpiled for reuse beneath new paving.  

   6. If remaining surfacing along saw cut line becomes cracked or broken during 
construction, provide additional saw cuts, surface removal and surface 
replacement as directed by Engineer at no cost to Owner. 

 
  B. Dispose of waste and excess material not suitable for reuse at acceptable 

disposal area. 



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-7 

 
368276 

 
 9. TRENCH BACKFILL 
 
  A. Backfill trench immediately after Engineer has recorded location of connections 

and appurtenances and after Engineer has inspected the work. 
 
  B. Allow no more than 100' of trench to be open at one time; install appurtenances 

and backfill as work progresses. 
 
  C. Backfill with suitable excavated material or borrow materials; use no large 

stones, large clods, organic matter, rubbish, frozen or unsuitable materials. 
 
  D. Backfill simultaneously on both sides of pipe to prevent displacement. 
 
  E. Use ordinary backfill, as specified hereinafter, except where compacted backfill 

is required. 
   1. Carefully hand place and compact suitable backfill to top of pipe. 
   2. Continue backfill operation with excavated material placed in layers not to 

exceed 12" up to 18" below required ground surface; moisture condition as 
required; compact to 85% Modified Proctor Density. 

   3. Fill upper 18" portion of trench with topsoil; match surrounding ground 
surface. 

   4. This section considered "Ordinary Backfill" for testing purposes. 
 
  F. New water main below existing water main, sewer or gas main: backfill under 

existing water main, sewer or gas main with pipe bedding material; compact to 
90% Modified Proctor Density; length of pipe bedding backfill at elevation of 
existing utility: equal to depth of excavation below utility. 

 
  G. Water main under and within 5' of paved surfaces, including streets, trails, 

sidewalks and driveways, backfill shall be placed in 8 inch lifts compacted to 
95% Standard Proctor Density. The top 12 inches directly below paved surfaces 
shall be Class A crushed stone compacted to 98% Standard Proctor Density.  If 
not under pavement, backfill to within 12 inches of finished surface. 

 
  H. If removal of sheeting disturbs compacted backfill, recompact backfill to comply 

with specifications. 
 
  I. If settlement of any trench occurs within period of guarantee and bond; refill, 

compact, level off and restore surfacing. 
 
  



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-8 

 
368276 

 10.  SURFACE RESTORATION 
 
  A. Grade tops of trenches to smooth, uniform lines without large lumps, clods or 

debris. 
 
  B. Replace damaged flowers, shrubbery and trees with new plantings of equal type 

and quality at no cost to Owner; trees removed because of conflict with 
alignment of pipe shall not be replaced, except where shown on plans. 

 
  C. Dispose of all brush and rubbish as specified hereinbefore. 
 
  D. Seed all areas disturbed by construction of water main except where shown 

otherwise on plans or as directed by Engineer. 
 1. Prepare site for seeding by discing, harrowing and hand raking or other 

means following site grading; work soil to depth of 3". 
   2. Precede seeding with uniform application of commercial grade fertilizer at 

rate per acre of 20 lbs. of nitrogen, 40 lbs. of phosphorous and 20 lbs. of 
potassium (400 lbs. of fertilizer grade 5-10-5 per acre, or equal); cultivate 
area 3" deep and work with harrow within 24 hours before seeding; smooth 
surface to eliminate clods and lumps before seeding. 

   3. Seeding in all areas disturbed by construction as shown on plans (Type 1): 
seed at rate of 85 lbs. per acre with following mixture proportioned by 
weight: 

      Seeding Percent 
Kentucky Bluegrass 35 
Annual Rye 25 
Perennial Rye 20 
Creeping Red Fescue 10 
Chewing Fescue 10 

 
   4. Seeding in pastures, farm fields and creek banks (Type 2): seed at rates of 

1.25 lbs. per 1,000 SF with the following mixture proportioned by weight; 
 

    Seeding Percent 

Bromegrass 60 
Alfalfa 20 
Red Clover 12 
Alsike Clover 8 

 
    a. Add rye to seed mixture at rate of 1 bushel per acre if seeded between 

August 15 and October 15; add oats at rate of 1-1/2 bushels per acre if 
seeded between April 1 and May 30. 



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-9 

 
368276 

    b. Inoculate alfalfa and clover seed not more than 8 hours before sowing.  
   5. Seed areas within IDOT right-of-way in accordance with IDOT Standard 

Specifications 2601.03 and 2601.04. 
   6. Seed between dates of August 15 and October 15 or between dates of 

April 1 and May 30. 
   7. Cover seed by rolling with cultipacker, or by dragging or hand raking. 
   8. Mulch all seeded areas; mulch: dry oat straw at rate of 4,000 lbs. per acre; 

stabilize mulch with tiller designed to anchor mulch to soil. 
   9. Water areas in accordance with IDOT Standard Specification 2601.08. 
   10. Water seeded areas sufficiently to saturate seed bed; continue watering all 

areas until growth is established. 
11. Contractor is responsible for turning over to Owner full stand of grass; 

replant or redevelop bare spots or areas not attaining full stand of grass 
during first growing season. 

 
  E. Payment for water main in place may be reduced by up to 15% by Engineer 

until cleanup and restoration is completed. 
 
 11.  FIELD DRAIN LINES 
 
  A. Field drain lines may be encountered along route of water main; notify Engineer 

if drain line conflicts with construction; provide pipe and material for repair or 
relocation. 

 
  B. Where water main crosses under field drain lines, replace with 20' lengths of 

Schedule 40 pvc pipe; match size of existing drain line; cut 1/8" to 1/4" wide 
slots at 12" centers transverse to pipe for 1/4 of pipe diameters; place slots on 
bottom; use of solid wall Schedule 40 pvc as directed by Engineer. 

   1. Do not cut slots in pipe located beneath terraces.  Provide solid pipe 20 feet 
beyond terrace in both directions. 

  
  C. Where new water main parallel field drain lines: replace damaged field drain 

lines; match size and material of existing drain line. 
 
 12.  SURFACE REPLACEMENT 
 
  A. Replace surfaces with new surfaces to match existing construction for type, size 

and surface texture unless specified otherwise. 
 
  B. Granular Surfacing: 
   1. Place granular surfacing at locations as shown on plans or as directed by 

Engineer. 



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-10 

 
368276 

   2. Gravel or crushed stone: place 6" of compacted crushed stone to width as 
shown on plans; conform to IDOT Class A crushed stone; place and 
compact in two lifts. 

  
  C. Hot mix asphaltic pavement (HMA) for street and driveways: 
   1. Subgrade and special backfill: as specified for portland cement concrete curb 

and gutter. 
   2. Meet requirements of IDOT Section 2303, except asphalt binder and 

samples will not be measured and paid for separately.  Include in cost for 
hot mix asphalt pavement. 

    a. Certified plant inspection not required. 
   3. Asphalt binder: 
    a. Petroleum asphalt binder, IDOT 4137. 
     b.  Performance grade asphalt PG 64-28. 
   4.  Job Mix Formula:   
    a.  Base course: Type A ½" mixture size, 1M ESAL, min. 60% crushed 

particles, (3.5" Lift). 
    b. Intermediate course: Type A ½" mixture size, 1M ESAL, min. 60% 

crushed particles, (3" Lift). 
    c.  Surface course: Type A ½" mixture size, 1M ESAL, min. 60% crushed 

particles, (1.5" Lift). 
   5.  Placement: 
    a.  Remove all loose and foreign material from pavement surface; provide 

clean surface for placement of asphaltic concrete paving mixture. 
    b.  Surface must be dry prior to application of tack coat and asphaltic 

concrete paving mixtures. 
    c.  Allow all courses to cool to air temperature before placing additional 

course 
    d. If surface of layer becomes dirty, clean and reapply tack coat, at no 

expense to Owner. 
   6.  Roll asphalt surfacing in place with self-propelled steel roller having 

compression force of 250 lbs. per inch width of roller; roll edge even with 
and uniform with surrounding surface. 

    a.  Asphalt pavement: density not less than 94% of lab density of approved 
mixture; percent air voids: 5-10%. 

    b.  Provide approved weight tickets for hot mix asphalt pavement 
incorporated into finished pavement. 

 
  D. Portland cement pavement for street, trail or driveway: 
   1. Subgrade: provide approved selected materials; compact to 95% Standard 

Proctor Density; 12" minimum thickness. 
  



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-11 

 
368276 

   2. Place new concrete slab 1" thicker than existing pavement; 6” minimum 
thickness for trail; 7" minimum thickness of new pour for city street 
crossings; 10" minimum thickness of new pour for highway crossing. 

   3. Vibrate, screed, float, drag and finish to match existing surface texture. 
   4. Concrete: use Class C-3 except use M-3 mix design where shown on plans; 

provide in accordance with IDOT Section 2301 except Articles 2301.34 and 
2301.35. 

   5. Saw cut and seal joints to match existing street joint pattern; saw cut and seal 
perimeter of concrete patches. 

    a. Minimum depth of saw cut: 1/3 of thickness of pavement. 
    b. Bituminous joint filler and sealer: hot poured joint filler: ASTM D3405; 

use with backer rope; comply with IDOT 2301.30. 
   6. Replace dowel bars and expansion joint material where existing dowel bars 

and expansion joint are removed; see IDOT Standard Road Plans RH-50, 51 
and 52 and Standard Drawings. 

   7. Curing: commence curing as soon as free water leaves surface; cover entire 
surface with liquid, pigmented curing compound, W. R. Meadows, Inc. 
Sealtight 2200 - White, or equal, according to manufacturer’s directions; if 
forms are removed from finished concrete pavement within 22 hr. period, 
cure these surfaces. 

   8. Place new concrete curb and gutter section with 6" high curb and 2' width 
as shown on plans and as directed by Engineer. 

 
 13.  SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT 
  
  A. Match existing construction for height, width, thickness and surface texture 

unless otherwise shown on plans or directed by Engineer; reconstruct joints to 
match existing work. 

 
  B. Subgrade: provide approved, selected material; compact to 95% Standard 

Proctor density. 
 
  C. Reconstruct joints to match existing work. 
 
  D. Concrete: Class C-3 in accordance with IDOT, Section 2301.04E. 
 
  E. Cure and protect sidewalks as specified for portland cement concrete pavement. 
 
  F. Pedestrian curb ramps are to be installed at each sidewalk street entrance and 

shall comply with the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
   1. Ramps shall contain a strip of detectable warning pavers or stamped 

truncated domes measuring two feet in width. 



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-12 

 
368276 

    a. Detectable warning strip shall be located adjacent to the curb and shall 
be constructed of contrasting color and texture; color to be selected by 
Owner. 

    b. Cost of detectable warning strip is incidental to sidewalk construction. 
 
 14.  CLEARING AND GRUBBING 
 
  A. Remove and dispose of trees, planting, shrubbery only when in conflict with 

alignment of pipe trenches or location of structure unless otherwise shown on 
plans; tunnel or hand excavate under roots of trees close to trench. 

 
  B. Removal includes grubbing and removing stump and roots, removal from site, 

disposal of debris and backfilling; dispose of removed material as specified in 
SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION. 

 
  C. Notify Owner and obtain written authorization before removing any tree not 

shown for removal on plans.  Owner reserves right to remove and use trees 
approved for removal. 

 
  D. Contractor liable for damage to trees not agreed for removal by Owner and 

Engineer.  
 
 15. PIPE AND STRUCTURE REMOVAL 
 
  A. Remove water main, thrust blocks, valves, hydrants and miscellaneous fittings in 

their entirety where shown on plans.  Includes delivery of specified materials to 
designated location by owner and off-site disposal of all other materials.   

 
 16. FENCE REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT 
 
  A. Remove and replace fence within construction limits and easements as 

necessary for construction unless otherwise noted. 
 
  B. Field fence: replace field fence with new material including barbed wire, fence 

fabric, braces, staples, gates, keepers and miscellaneous materials and labor. 
   1. Line posts: 4" dia., 7'-0" long, pressure creosote or waterborne treated; 

embed 2'-4" in ground. 
   2. Corner, gate and brace posts: 7" dia., 8'-0" long, pressure creosote or 

waterborne treated; embed 3'-4" in ground. 
   3. Fence fabric: heavy woven wire, ASTM A116; Class 1 zinc coating; match 

height and pattern of existing fabric. 
   4. Barbed wire: 12-1/2 gauge steel wire with 14 gauge 4 points, round barbs 



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-13 

 
368276 

spaced 5" o.c., ASTM A121; Class 1 zinc coating. 
   5. Brace all corner and gate posts to brace posts with standard fence pipe 

braces and strands of galvanized wire; provide brace posts both sides of 
corner posts and for each gate post. 

 6. Gates: salvage existing gates and reuse; if damaged, replace in kind with 
new gates. 

 
 C. Miscellaneous fence removal and replacement is incidental to construction; 

restore fence to original or better condition; include in unit price for water 
main removal. 

 
17. PAYMENT 
 
  A. No separate payment will be made for work covered in this part of the 

specifications.  Include all costs in appropriate unit price. 
 
  B.  Slope Protection, Wood Excelsior, Sq.: Unit price includes all labor, material 

and equipment necessary to place wood excelsior mat at locations as shown on 
the plans, determined by the Engineer in the field, and as to comply with the 
Contractors approved erosion control plan. 

 
  C. Water Main Removal, LF: Unit price includes all labor, materials and equipment 

necessary to remove water main pipe, fittings, valves and hydrants as shown on 
plans including offsite disposal and miscellaneous associated work. 

 
  D. Rip-Rap, Tons: Unit price includes all labor, materials and equipment necessary 

to construct rip rap on filter, excavation, backfill and miscellaneous associated 
work. 

 
  E. Clearing & Grubbing, LS: Lump sum price includes all labor, material and 

equipment necessary to cut and remove trees, stumps, brush, fences and other 
miscellaneous items in conflict with construction; includes offsite disposal and 
grubbing of stumps; includes removal, salvage and replacement of fences. 

 
  F. Temporary Access Road, LS; Lump sum price includes all labor, material and 

equipment necessary to grade, prepare, place and maintain temporary granular 
access road to access construction area from end of Industrial Park road. 

  



 Excavation and Backfill 
 

 
3-14 

 
368276 

 
  G. Silt Fence, LF; Unit price includes cost of equipment, labor, materials and 

incidentals necessary to install silt fences at locations determined in the field by 
Engineer and as required to comply with Contractors erosion control plan and 
miscellaneous associated work. 

    1. Silt fence necessary to be removed and reinstalled because silt fence is full 
will be measured and paid for at the unit bid price for linear feet of silt fence. 

 
  H. Field Drain Lines, LF; Unit price includes furnishing new drain lines, handling, 

laying, excavation, connections to existing lines, backfilling and miscellaneous 
associated work. 

 



  
4-1 

 
 368276 

PART 4 – WATER MAINS AND APPURTENANCES 
 

INDEX 
 
 1. WORK INCLUDED 
 2. GENERAL 
 3. PIPE MATERIALS 
 4. VALVES 
 5. WATER SERVICE CONNECTIONS 
 6. VALVE BOXES 
  7. HYDRANTS 

 8. PIPE INSTALLATION 
 9. THRUST BLOCKS 
 10. VALVE AND HYDRANT 

INSTALLATION 
 11. TESTS 
 12. DISINFECTION 
 13. PAYMENT

 
 1. WORK INCLUDED 
 
  A. Pipe, fittings, valves, special valves and accessories necessary for construction of 

water mains and appurtenances and connecting improvements to existing 
system. 

 
  B. Modifications to existing water mains to connect the improvements. 
 
 2.  GENERAL 
 
  A. Before installation, verify all measurements including: 
   1. Location of appurtenances and connections to existing water mains. 
   2. Type and location of joints on existing water mains at points of connections. 
   3. Outside diameter of existing piping. 
 
  B. Owner will shut off existing water mains when notified by Contractor. 
 
  C. Make necessary field measurements to determine pipe laying lengths; work pipe 

into place without forcing or springing. 
 
  D. Details of existing pipe not guaranteed. 
 
 3. PIPE MATERIALS 
 
  A. Ductile iron pipe (DI): AWWA C150, manufactured in accordance with AWWA 

C151; minimum wall thickness: Class 52; standard thickness cement mortar 
lining with asphaltic seal coat, AWWA C104. 

   1. Use petroleum resistant elastomeric gasketed push on joints, AWWA C111; 
use restrained or locked joints on fittings and adjacent to downward, vertical 
bends or as indicated on drawings. 

   2. Shipment and storage: do not telescope small pipe inside larger pipe for 
shipment or storage. 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-2  
 
 368276 

   3. Pipe with damage to cement mortar lining will be rejected; field patching 
not permitted except on cut pipe. 

   4. Use ductile iron pipe for water main for the first two full pipe lengths outside 
of vertical offsets and for all pipe between the elbows used to make vertical 
offsets. 

 
  B. Polyvinylchloride pipe (pvc):  AWWA C900, dimension ratio (DR) 18 for 150 psi 

working pressure rating; for pipe through 12" nominal diameter and AWWA 
C905, dimension ratio (DR) 18, for pipe larger than 12" nominal diameter. 

   1. Outside diameter shall be the same as ductile iron pipe. 
   2. Use elastomeric gasketed push-on joints, AWWA C900 or AWWA C905; 

solvent cement welded joints not permitted. 
   3. Do not use pvc pipe at stream crossings, inside casing pipe, adjacent to 

vertical offsets, in areas where soil is or can be contaminated by petroleum 
products or in locations shown on plans where ductile iron pipe must be 
used. 

   4. Do not telescope small pipe inside larger pipe for shipment or storage. 
   5. When pipe is cut in field, deburr and bevel cut edges to prevent gasket 

damage. 
   6.  Use for water main pipe where ductile iron is not required; ductile iron pipe 

may be substituted for pvc. 
 
  C. Steel casing pipe (S): smooth wall welded steel pipe, ASTM A139; minimum wall 

thickness: 0.281"; use for casing pipe where shown on plans. 
   1. Coat outside of pipe with asphalt liquid, Iowa Paint Mfg. Co., No. 31, or 

equal. 
   2. Pipe Joints: 
    a. Welded joints in conformance with Code of Arc and Gas Welding in 

Building Construction by AWS. 
    b. Bevel or space ends of pipe to ensure penetration of weld for full 

thickness of pipe. 
 
  C. Fittings: ductile iron, mechanical joint fittings, AWWA C110, 150 psi minimum 

pressure rating or ductile iron compact fittings, mechanical joint, AWWA C153, 
350 psi minimum pressure rating.  Provide retainer glands for all fittings and 
valves. 

 
  D. Nuts and bolts: corrosion resistant; Cor Blue, stainless steel or approved equal; 

use for all buried nuts and bolts. 
 
  E. Polyethylene film: 8 mil thickness; black pigmentation; wrap DI pipe as 

recommended by manufacturer; AWWA C105; Clow Corporation F-192, or 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-3  
 
 368276 

equal; wrap and tape all ductile iron pipe, fittings, appurtenances and buried, 
bolted connections. 

   1. Use flat tube width recommended by manufacturer for various pipe 
diameters. 

   2. Use 2" x 8 mil polyethylene adhesive tape with paper backing. 
 
  F. Marking: Pipe shall be legibly and permanently marked in ink with the 

following information: 
   1. Manufactuer and Trade Name 
   2.  Nominal Size & SCH Rating 
   3. Manufacturing Date Code 
   4. (NSF- 61) 
   5. insertion lines 
  
  G. Installation: Installation shall be in strict accordance with manufacturer’s 

procedures and recommendations.  Prior to installation, pipe shall be visually 
inspected to ensure there is not dirt or foreign matter in the pipe, and any such 
material which is found shall be removed before installation. 

 
 4.  VALVES 
 
  A. Gate valves: conform to AWWA C509, iron body, resilient seat type, non-rising 

stem, O-ring seals, 200 psi working pressure, open left, mechanical joints, epoxy 
or polymer coated, 2" square Cor-ten steel operating nut; Mueller; use where 
shown on plans. 

   1. Full-sized waterway opening. 
   2. Valves shall be capable of being re-packed under pressure or O-rings 

replaced under pressure. 
 
  B. Tapping valve and sleeve: All stainless steel construction including nuts and 

bolts; Ford FTSS, or equal; use where shown on plans. 
 
  C. Install valves in accordance with directions of manufacturer. 
 
  D. Place steel post next to all valves not located within pavement to provide means 

for locating valve. 
 
 5. WATER SERVICE CONNECTIONS 
 
  A. Install corporation stops in water main for water service connections as shown 

on Standard Drawing and as directed by Engineer for services 2" and smaller; 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-4  
 
 368276 

note this installation requires use of tapping saddles (not shown on Standard 
Drawing) for all corporation stops installed on pvc water main. 

   1. Larger than 2" connections: install tee fitting and reducer, if required, in 
water main; use gate valve in lieu of curb stop. 

 
  B. Corporation stops: conform to AWWA C800, plug type, pack joint outlet. 
 
  C. Taps and tapping saddles: ductile iron body, double stainless steel strap, 

corrosion resistant nylon coating, design for use on DI pipe. 
   1. Use tapping saddles for all corporation stops. 
   2. Saddles: Smith Blair No. 317, or equal. 
   3. Corporation stop: Ford F-600, Mueller H-1500, or McDonald 4701, or 

equal. 
 
  D. Install new water service from new main to water service connection at curb 

stop; water service pipe shall be Type K (Heavy) soft annealed copper, 
ASTM B88 seamless; install curb stop and box; lay service pipe in dry; 5'-0" 
minimum earth cover. 

 
 6. VALVE BOXES 
 
  A. Provide valve box and cover to accommodate resilient wedge valves specified 

hereinbefore. 
 
  B. Each lid shall be labeled WATER. 
 
  C.  Provide and install valve box for each valve; install box over valves on 

undisturbed earth. 
 
  D. Tyler Pipe/Utilities Division, or equal; select top and bottom sections to suit 

depth of cover shown on plans. 
   1.  Use screw type valve box in unpaved surfaces. 
 
 7. HYDRANTS 
 
  A. Mueller Super Centurion 250, Catalog No. A-423 type hydrant. 
   1. Provide two 2-1/2" hose nozzles and one 5" STORZ connection; 5-1/4" main 

valve opening: O-ring packing; 6" mechanical joint inlet; provide hydrant 
extension length as required to set hydrant nozzle at 22" ±2" above finish 
ground elevation at hydrant location shown on plans. 

    a. Nozzle threads: National Standard. 
    b. Operating nut: National Standard, open left; furnish with chains on cap. 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-5  
 
 368276 

   2. Auxiliary gate valve and valve box: as specified for gate valves. 
   3. Hydrant auxiliary valve not shown on plans. 
 
  B. Furnish and install hydrant using anchoring tee, standard tee and anchoring 

couplings with anchoring pipe and other appurtenances as required. 
 
  C. Install hydrants as shown on plans or as directed by Engineer. 
 
  D. Hydrant color: paint hydrant red to safety flange and black below flange; 

Tnemec alkyd system for exterior exposure, or equal; surface preparation SSPC-
SP6 commercial blast. 

   
 9.  PIPE INSTALLATION 
 
  A. Lay pipe in dry; 5'-6" minimum earth cover over top of pipe, except where 

shown otherwise on plans, as required to provide clearance at existing utilities, 
or when otherwise directed by Engineer. 

   1. Install water main and appurtenances in accordance with AWWA C600, 
C605, and C900. 

   2. Make pipe joints in accordance with AWWA C600, C605, and C900 and as 
recommended by manufacturer; use minimum amount of gasket lubricant; 
apply to gasket only; do not apply to inside of bell. 

 
  B. Clean pipe interior of foreign material before lowering into trench; keep clean at 

all times; when pipe laying is not in progress, including lunch breaks, nights, 
weekends and other non-working periods, securely close open ends of pipe and 
fittings with watertight plugs. 

 
  C. Place in trench in sound, undamaged condition; do not injure pipe coating or 

lining; use web slings to install or move pipe; use of end hooks and dropping 
pipe are prohibited. 

 
  D. Cut pipe in neat and workmanlike manner without damage to pipe; bevel ends 

of pipe. 
   1. Completely coat damaged ends of cut DI pipe with bituminous sealer; use 

spray-on sealer which will adhere to liner at any temperature; do not install 
pipe and fittings showing blisters or holes. 

 
  E. Before installation of ductile iron pipe, tap pipe lightly with light hammer to 

detect cracks; visually inspect pipe lining for defects; do not install defective, 
damaged or unsound pipe. 

 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-6  
 
 368276 

  F. Deflect ductile iron pipe joints as required in accordance with 
recommendations of pipe manufacturer or 3° per joint, whichever is less; use 
suitable fittings for larger deflections in alignment or grade at no additional cost. 

  
  G. Water mains shall be separated from gravity sewers by a horizontal distance of 

at least 10', unless bottom of water main is at least 1'-6" above top of sewer and 
water main is placed in a separate trench or on a bench of undisturbed earth in 
same trench.  If a bench is used, a minimum horizontal separation of 3' must be 
maintained. 

   1. If above separations cannot be achieved, replace sewer with ductile iron 
pipe as specified for water mains. 

 
  H. Water mains shall be separated from sewer force mains by a horizontal distance 

of at least 10' unless force main is constructed of water main materials; a 
minimum horizontal separation of 4' must be maintained. 

 
  I. Vertical separation of water mains crossing over any sanitary sewer should be at 

least 1'-6" when measured from bottom of water main to top of sewer; maintain 
minimum separation of 6" if water main is over sewer, or 1'-6" if water main is 
under sewer; separation distance to be maximum possible in all cases. 

   1. One full length of water main pipe shall be centered at sewer crossing; water 
main and sewer shall be adequately supported and have watertight joints; 
use low permeability soil for backfill within 10' of point of crossing. 

   2. Sewer pipe crossing over water main shall be replaced with one full length 
of sewer pipe constructed of water main material with joints located as far as 
possible from the water main.  A linear separation of 2' shall be provided. 

 
  J. Water mains shall be separated from sewer manholes by a horizontal distance of 

at least 3'. 
 
  K. Plug or cap all pipe ends or fittings left for future connections; construct 

concrete thrust blocks as shown on Standard Drawing. 
 
  L. Construct concrete thrust blocks at all fittings and at dead ends. 
 
  M. Construct thrust blocks as specified hereinafter. 
 
  N. Uncover existing mains a sufficient time ahead of pipe laying operations to 

determine fittings required to make connections; make connections between 
existing and new water main with specials and fittings as required.  

   1. Do not deflect pipe or apply force to existing pipe. 
   2. Do not force pipe, pipe joints or appurtenances in place. 

ssmith
Architect
(Not included in this approval)



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-7  
 
 368276 

   3. Cut and remove existing pipe as necessary; install new appurtenances and 
piping to exact length with minimum clearances between pipe ends at repair 
sleeve. 

 
  O. Use tracer wire with water main:  
   1. Tracer wire: #12 solid copper wire with 45 mil LDPE insulation. 
   2. Splice kits: 3M - Scotchcast No. 3832, or equal. 
   3. Ground rods: 
    a. Provide uniform covering of electrolytic copper metallically bonded to 

steel rod. 
    b. Minimum diameter: 3/8". 
    c. Minimum length: 60". 
    d. Blackburn Catalog #3755, or equal. 
   4. Ground rod clamp: corrosion resistant copper alloy ground rod clamp; 

Blackburn Catalog #G3 or equal. 
   5. For finished water main include terminal box at each hydrant: 
    a. Provide heavy duty cast iron cover and collar with locking bolt. 
    b. Provide terminal boards with threaded stainless steel screws with nuts. 
 
 10. THRUST BLOCKS 
 
  A. Provide concrete thrust blocks at all fittings and at dead ends. 
 
  B. Extend thrust block to undisturbed edge of trench provide minimum thickness of 

1'-6". 
   1. Does not apply to anchor-type thrust blocks. 
 
  C. Refer to Standard Drawings for general arrangement of thrust blocks; place 

plastic film between fittings and thrust block; do not plug end of fitting with 
concrete. 

 
  D. Minimum bearing area of thrust blocks, except anchor- type thrust blocks, CF: 

Pipe Size 
(Inches) 

90° 
Bend 

45° 
Bend 

11-1/4° 
22-1/2° Bend 

Tee or 
Dead End 

4 4 2 2 3 
6 8 5 3 6 
8 14 8 4 10 

10 21 11 6 15 
12 29 16 8 21 
14 39 21 11 28 
16 51 28 14 36 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-8  
 
 368276 

  
   1. Provide Class B concrete for all thrust blocks except anchor-type thrust 

blocks. 
 
  E. Minimum dimensions and anchor rod requirements for anchor-type thrust 

blocks for vertical 45° bends: 

Pipe Size 
(Inches) Height Width Depth 

Concrete 
Volume 

(CY) 
Anchor 
 Rods 

8 3'-8" 3'-8" 3'-8" 2 2 No. 4 
10 4'-3" 4'-3" 4'-3" 3 2 No. 5 
12 4'-9" 4'-9" 4'-9" 4 2 No. 6 

 
   1. Use Class A Concrete for anchor-type thrust blocks. 
   2. Fabricate anchor rods from ASTM A615 Grade 60 billet steel reinforcing 

steel rods; cold bend rods to conform to contour of elbow; no splicing of 
rods allowed. 

   3. Anchor rods shall penetrate concrete to within 6" of bottom of thrust block; 
terminate in standard 90° hooks. 

   4. Coat exposed portions of rods with asphalt mastic and wrap in polyethylene 
film. 

   5. Construct anchor-type thrust blocks and install anchor rods as directed by 
Engineer. 

 
 11. VALVE AND HYDRANT INSTALLATION 
 
  A. Valves: 
   1. Install valve with stem vertical and centered in box, support as required. 
   2. Wrap valves with polyethylene film, as specified for iron pipe. 
   3. Check all valve bolts when installed; tighten as necessary after water main is 

at operating pressure. 
   4. Carefully tamp backfill around each valve box to distance of 4' on all sides 

of box or to undisturbed trench face, if less than 4'. 
 
  B. Hydrants: 
   1. Install plumb; set at elevation so that cover will not be less than for adjacent 

main; set grade mark on hydrant barrel at finish ground surface. 
   2. Set on concrete foundation. 
   3. Wrap hydrant barrel section and fittings with polyethylene film, as specified 

for iron pipe. 
   4. Carefully tamp backfill around hydrant to distance of 4' on all sides of 

hydrant or to undisturbed trench face, if less than 4'. 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-9  
 
 368276 

   5. Tighten all stuffing boxes as hydrant is installed; operate hydrant in open and 
closed position to assure all parts are in working condition. 

   6. Block hydrant in place. 
   7. Install as shown on Standard Drawing. 
  
 12. TESTS 
 
  A. Water test all piping in accordance with AWWA C600 and C605 after 

installation is complete. 
    
  B. Pressure and leakage test: 
   1. Provide test pumps, test plugs, pipe and gauges necessary and make 

connections required for tests. 
   2. Flush water main before test to remove air and construction debris; insert 

taps to release trapped air; flush at water flow rate which will provide 
approximately 2.5 feet per second velocity in water main. 

   3. Quantity of water used for flushing will be measured by Owner; Owner will 
provide water without charge for flushing for first four changes of water main 
contents; additional water will be billed to Contractor at prevailing rates. 

   4. Approximate contents per 100' of water main: 
  

Water Main 
Diameter, in. 

Approximate 
Pipe Contents, gal. 

4 65 
6 147 
8 261 

10 408 
12 588 
16 1,044 

 
  C. Required flow and openings to flush water mains with 40 psi pressure in water 

main: 

Water Main 
Diameter, in. 

Flow Required 
for Approx. 
2.5 ft/sec. 

Velocity, gpm. 

Size of Tap, in. 
Number of Taps 
  1      1 ½     2   

Number of 
2 1/2 in. 
Hydrant 
Nozzles 

4 100 1 - -  
6 200 - 1 1 1 
8 400 - 2 1 1 

10 600 - 3 2 1 
12 900 - - 2 2 
16 1,600 - - 4 2 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-10  
 
 368276 

   1. Measure flow rate with pitot gauge if pressure is other than 40 psi in new water 
main; ensure flow rate is 2.5 feet per second, or greater. 

   2. Test at 150 psi for 2 hrs.; allowable pressure drop during test period: 5 psi. 
   3. Provide and measure make-up water to maintain pressure between 145 psi 

and 150 psi during test period. 
   4. Maximum allowable leakage (L), gallons per hour: 
 
    L = (S)(D)(P)1/2 where: 
              148,000 
    S = length of pipe section under test, feet 
    D = nominal pipe diameter, inches 
    P = average test pressure, psig 
 
   5. Allowable leakage per 1,000 feet of water main with average test pressure of 

150 psig: 
Water Main 

Diameter, in. 
Allowable 

Leakage, gal./hour 
4 0.33 
6 0.50 
8 0.66 

10 0.83 
12 0.99 
16 1.32 

 
   6. Examine trench for leakage during test; if test pressure cannot be maintained 

within limit set out hereinbefore or if quantity of make-up water exceeds 
computed maximum allowable leakage, pipe section fails test. 

    a. Excavate, replace defective pipe and fittings, remake defective pipe joints 
and backfill at no cost to Owner; repeat test until requirements have 
been met. 

 
 13.  DISINFECTION 
 
  A. Disinfect and sample prior to placing main in service; disinfect prior to making 

any water service connections; comply with AWWA C651. 
 
  B. Flush water main after test until extremities indicate same chlorine residual as 

supply water.   
   1. Dispose of chlorinated water to prevent damage to the environment.  

Dechlorinate highly chlorinated water from testing before releasing into the 
ground or sewers. 

  



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-11  
 
 368276 

   2. Quantity of water used for flushing will be measured by Owner; Owner will 
provide water without charge for flushing for first two changes of water main 
contents; additional water will be billed to Contractor at prevailing rates. 

 
  C. Two days after completion of disinfection, Owner will collect bacteriological 

sample from representative locations along new water mains.  Samples must test 
"SAFE" for two (2) consecutive tests, 24 hrs apart; if any samples test 
"UNSATISFACTORY" or "UNSAFE", repeat disinfection procedure until all 
samples test "SAFE", Owner to pay for testing of samples. 

   1. Water shall not be used and connections to water main shall not be made 
until all water samples test "SAFE". 

 
 13. PAYMENT 
 
  A. No separate payment will be made for work covered in this part of the 

specifications except as set forth below.  Contract unit prices include all costs 
for each item of work. 

 
  B. Water Main in Open Cut, LF: Unit price includes furnishing and installing pipe 

in open cut, fittings, and appurtenances except valves and fire hydrants; 
handling, laying, excavation, backfill, dewatering, connections to the existing 
system, sheeting, shoring and bracing and miscellaneous associated work. 

   1. Length will be measured along centerline of pipe with no deduction for 
valves or fittings except as noted on plans. 

   2. Bid Water Main in Open Cut in accordance with depths of bury shown on 
plans or specified; some depths may exceed 6'. 

 
  C. Water Main in Casing Pipe, LF: Unit price includes furnishing and installing 

complete work as shown on plans including casing pipe, RJDI water main, 
casing chocks to support pipe welded connection to existing casing, concrete 
end plugs, sheeting, shoring and bracing, excavation and backfill, and 
miscellaneous associated work; diameter and length as shown on plans. 

 
  D. Connection to Existing, Ea.: Unit price includes necessary draining of existing 

water main, dewatering, excavation, backfill, and furnishing and installation of 
piping, fittings, removal and disposal of pipe, all labor, materials and 
appurtenances necessary for connection to existing water main as shown on the 
plans. 

 
  E. Hydrant Assembly, Ea.: Unit price includes furnishing and installing hydrant, 

hydrant valve and hydrant valve box and cover, hydrant extensions, furnishing 
and installing standard or anchoring tee, anchoring coupling, anchoring pipe, 



 Water Mains and Appurtenances 
 

 
 4-12  
 
 368276 

anchoring elbow (where required), concrete pad, thrust block, pipe bedding, 
concrete blocking, excavation and backfill, painting, wire box, and 
miscellaneous associated work.  Separate payment not provided for hydrant tee 
and wire box. 

 
  F. Gate Valves, Ea.: Unit price includes furnishing all labor, materials, valves, valve 

operators, valve boxes, miscellaneous work and associated equipment to install 
valves as shown on plans. 

 
 
  



 

 

RESOLUTION 1980 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE I-80 

WATER MAIN RELOCATION PROJECT. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of West Branch, Iowa, received and reviewed the 

proposed plans and specifications, notice of hearing, notice to bidders, form of contract, and the 

engineer’s cost estimate; and  

  

 WHEREAS, the aforementioned plans and specifications have been prepared by Veenstra 

& Kimm, INC. (the City Engineering firm) and reviewed by the Iowa Department of 

Transportation; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council finds it appropriate to approve the proposed plans and 

specifications, notice of hearing, and directs that the detailed plans and specifications are filed with 

the City Clerk; and 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of West 

Branch, Iowa, that the proposed plans and specifications are hereby approved; 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the form of contract and the winning bid for the I-80 

water main relocation project will receive City Council consideration at the March 1st City Council 

meeting.  Further, the Mayor and City Administrator are directed to execute said agreement on 

behalf of the City. 

 * * * * * * * 
 

Passed and approved this 16st day of February, 2021. 

 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Roger Laughlin, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Redmond Jones II, City Administrator/Clerk   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

  
                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Public Hearing: Considering a Proposed Amendment to Section 165 

(adding section 50 – Swimming Pools) of the West Branch Zoning 

Ordinance. 

CITY GOAL: Promote quality of life including public safety, community pride events, 

strong citizen involvement, parks and recreation opportunities and 

investment. 

PREPARED BY: Leslie Brick, Deputy City Clerk 

DATE:  January 25, 2021  
     
BACKGROUND:  

 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO SECTION 165 

(adding Section 50 – Swimming Pools) OF THE WEST BRANCH ZONING ORDINANCE. 

 

 

 YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that a public hearing will be held by the West Branch 

City Council in the Council Chambers at the City Office, located at 110 N. Poplar Street in West 

Branch, IA at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, February 16, 2021.  The public hearing will add Swimming 

Pool regulations to Chapter 165 “Zoning Regulations”. 

 

All interested persons are invited to attend these meetings and be heard on the aforementioned 

proposed adoption of the amendment.  Further information regarding same may be obtained by 

contacting the West Branch City Clerk. 

 

 

 

 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Open Public Hearing / Public Feedback / Close Public Hearing  
 
REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        

 

Non Consent Item 3 



 

 

  
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 

AGENDA ITEM: First Reading of Ordinance 780 – An Ordinance Amending Chapter 165; 

Entitled, “Zoning Regulations” regarding adding section 50 – Swimming 

Pools to the West Branch Zoning Ordinance.   

CITY GOAL: Promote quality of life including public safety, community pride events, 

strong citizen involvement, parks and recreation opportunities and 

investment. 

PREPARED BY: Leslie Brick, Deputy City Clerk 

DATE:  January 25, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  
 
In recent months, a few West Branch residents have installed in-ground pools on their properties for 

their leisure.  The current West Branch Code of Ordinances did not have any zoning requirements, 

required permits or parameters regarding swimming pools.   

 

The Planning & Zoning Commission was tasked with coming up with rules for the installation of 

permanent and non-permanent swimming pools for both residential and commercial properties.  The 

ordinance went through several revisions and was agreed to in the form of Ordinance 780 presented 

to you.   

 

This ordinance, if approved will add section 50, entitled “Swimming Pools” to Chapter 165, Zoning 

Regulations of the West Branch Code of Ordinances. 

  

The Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing on January 26, 2021 and approved the 

Ordinance language at their meeting and have recommended to move this ordinance on to the City 

Council for your consideration and/or approval.   
 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve First Reading of Ordinance 780 / Move to Action 
 

REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        

 

Non Consent Item 4 



 

 

ORDINANCE 780 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 165 “ZONING REGULATIONS.” 

 
 WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission of the City of West Branch, Iowa, 

believes that the clarification of certain sections in the Zoning Code will lead to a clearer 

understanding of the Code’s requirements; and 

  

 WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission of the City of West Branch, Iowa, 

believes that a more uniform and consistent wording in the language contained within certain 

sections in the Zoning Code will aide in making the Zoning Code more navigable and lead to more 

consistent interpretation of the requirements; and  

   

 WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission recommends to the City Council of the 

City of West Branch, adoption of these amendment recommendations in the Zoning code; and 

  

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of West Branch, Iowa has reviewed these 

recommendations and concurs with the Planning & Zoning Commission. 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED: 

1. BE IT ENACTED by the City Council of West Branch, Iowa, that Chapter 165 “ZONING 

REGULATIONS” of the Code of West Branch, Iowa is hereby amended by revising the 

following subsections to Chapter 165. 

 

165.50 – Amend Chapter 165 by adding section 50: SWIMMING POOLS  

 

165.50   SWIMMING POOLS  

 

165.50 – DEFINITIONS: 

  1. “Permanent” is defined as a pool that is installed or left up year round and 

winterized for continued use. 

 2.  “Temporary” is defined as a pool that is taken down or dismantled during the 

winter months. 

 

Swimming pools intended for private use by persons that reside on the property or their 

guests are permitted, provided the following conditions are met: 

 

1. Setbacks:  (for temporary and permanent pools) 

a. Residential zones 

i. The use must be set back a minimum of ten (10) feet from any side or 

rear lot line. 

ii. The use may not be located in the front yard unless the use is set back at 

least forty (40) feet from the front property line.  

 

b. Non-residential zones 



 

 

i. In non-residential zones, the use must be set back a minimum of ten (10) 

feet from any side, rear, or front property line, unless the property on 

which the use is located is directly abutting or across the street from a 

property zoned residential.  In the case of such an adjacency, the use 

must comply with the setback requirements for residential zones 

2. Permit Required 

a. Permanent (in-ground) pools with a depth of twenty four (24) inches or more, 

require a permit. 

3. Fence Requirement (for permanent pools only).  Swimming pools with a depth of 

twenty four (24) inches or more and the edge of which is less than four (4) feet above 

grade, must be completely enclosed by a fence according to the following 

specifications: 

a. The fence must be at least four (4) feet in height and must be constructed so that 

a sphere, five (5) inches in diameter, cannot pass through the fence. 

b. A principal or accessory building may be used as part of the enclosure. 

c. All gates and doors opening through the enclosure must be equipped with a self-

closing and self-latching device for keeping the gate or door securely closed at 

all times when not in use, except the door of any building which forms a part of 

the enclosure need not be so equipped. 

d. The building official may permit other protective devices or structures to be 

used so long as the degree of protection afforded by the substitute device or 

structure is not less than the protection afforded by an enclosure built to the 

specifications of this paragraph. 

 

 

 

Passed and approved this ___ day of ________________, 2021. 

 

 

 

First Reading:      February 16, 2021   

Second Reading:   March 1, 2021                   

Third Reading:         March 15, 2021 

 

                

                                                                              

_________________________________ 

                                                                                      Roger Laughlin, Mayor  

 

 

Attest: 

 

________________________________ 

Leslie Brick, Deputy Clerk 

 



 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Resolution 1978 – A Resolution Authorizing Certain Fund Transfers for the 

College Street Bridge, and Second Street Improvements Project. 

CITY GOAL: Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, 

progressive thinking and modernizing the organization. 

PREPARED BY: Gordon Edgar, Finance Officer  

DATE:  January 25, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  

 

These are fund transfers to fund #318 – College Street & 2nd Street Improvements Project and close 

it and #310 – College Street Bridge. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve the Resolution 1978 / Move to Action 
 
REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        

 

Non Consent Item 5 



 

 

RESOLUTION 1978 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CERTAIN FUND TRANSFERS FOR THE COLLEGE 

STREET BRIDGE, AND SECOND STREET IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT. 

 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of West Branch, Iowa that the City Clerk is 

hereby authorized to transfer funds as follows: 

 

 

T/O Sewer Fund    (610) $ 15,000.00 (additional funding for project) 

T/O Water Fund    (600) $ 65,000.00 (additional funding for project) 

T/O Stormwater Utility Fund  (740) $ 70,000.00 (additional funding for project) 

T/O College St Bridge Fund  (310) $145,004.69 (additional funding for project) 

T/O General Fund    (001) $ 50,699.03 (additional funding for project) 

T/I College St & 2nd St Imp Project (318) $345,703.72 (to complete funding of 

project) 

 

*     *     *     * 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 16th day of February, 2021. 

 

        

 

 

___________________________ 

           Roger Laughlin, Mayor  

 

Attest: 

 

_____________________________________ 

Redmond Jones II, City Administrator/Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Resolution 1979 – A Resolution Establishing New Funds. 

CITY GOAL: Develop inviting high profile visual impact projects; including gateways, 

establishing destination, branding and other projects that reflect tax results. 

PREPARED BY: Gordon Edgar, Finance Director  

DATE:  February 12, 2021  
     
BACKGROUND:  

A capital fund must be created for each capital project and the City Council must authorize the 

establishment of new funds.  A fund must be created in order to budget for the capital project. These 

projects have been discussed at previous meetings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve Resolution 1979 / Move to Action 
 
REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        
 
 

Non Consent Item 6 



 

 

 RESOLUTION 1979 

 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING NEW FUNDS 

 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of West Branch, Iowa is planning to complete 

capital projects and funds for these capital projects must be established.  

 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of West Branch, Iowa, as follows: 

 

Section 1. A capital project fund for the School Turn Lane at Main Street and Dawson 

(Fund 325) is hereby created. 

 

Section 2,  A capital project fund for the Roundabout at Main Street and Cedar-Johnson 

Road Project (Fund 326) is hereby created. 

 

Section 3.  All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict with the provisions of this 

resolution are hereby repealed. 

 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED, this 16th day of February, 2021. 

 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Roger Laughlin, Mayor  

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________ 

Redmond Jones II, City Administrator/Clerk   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

                 REQUEST FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 
 

MEETING DATE:  February 16, 2021 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Discussion Item: Budget topics (fine-tuning) and Early Draft of the City 

Administrator’s Recommended Budget. 

CITY GOAL: Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, 

progressive thinking and modernizing the organization. 

PREPARED BY: Redmond Jones II, City Administrator  

DATE:  January 14, 2021  

     

BACKGROUND:  
 
The City Council recently underwent a goal setting exercise in which the following goals were 

reaffirmed: 
1. Promote Quality of life including public safety, Community Pride Events, Strong Citizen 

Involvement, Park and Recreation, opportunities and investment. 
 
2. Develop, maintain and rebuild safe, clean, diverse, healthy, neighborhoods, including partnering 

with the school district. 
 

3. Develop inviting high profile visual impact project’s including gateways establishing destination, 
branding and other that reflect sound use of tax dollars. 
 

4. Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, progressive 
thinking and modernizing the organization. 

 
The non-salary expenditures were built into the proposed budget.  There were items which could not 

fit within the budget and therefore remain unfunded.  These items will be marked unfunded (funded 

in Red).  There are other items that need additional City Council feedback.  These items will be 

marked need additional direction.  Items that are funded which means they are within the current 

budget proposal will be incorporated within the City Administrator’s Recommend Budget.  The City 

Council prioritized the following objectives, tasks and activities: 
 
Also see the latest Certification Form (fine-tuned after salary plan discussion). 
 
Additionally, the early draft City Administrator’s Recommended FY 21-22 Budget is attached 

please note many of the budget work sheets are still being updated. 

 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve Motion / Move to Action 
 
REVIEWED BY CITY ADMINISTRATOR:   

COUNCIL ACTION:       

MOTION BY:      

SECOND BY:        
 

Non Consent Item 7 



 

 

Items Accepted by Resolution from the FY 2021-2022 Goal Setting 
 

TOP 

o Baseline Extension(s) at Cubby Park (12) – / partially funded this project is funded from 

Cubby Park Contingency and Value Engineering dollars.  The Goal is to extend the baseline of all 

three Cubby Park fields, but the City Council will accept and it is understood that the availability 

of funds may only allow two fields to be addressed. 
 
o Greenview Water Main North Loop (11)  with an estimated $75,000 for replacing the 

pipe on the north side of Greenview. 
 
o Introduce Merit Pay System (10) – this project is intended to completed with in-house 

project analysis work.  Although, it is not anticipated consultant fee may need to be budgeted or a 

budget amendment considered at some future date. 
 
o Soil Mitigation Project (9) – $20,000 was estimated for this project.  Department of 

Natural Resources have been consulted and inexpensive clean-up mythologies are at the discretion 

of the city.  Therefore, there is a good chance the entire amount budgeted will not be needed.   
 
o 5th Full-Time Officer / 24 hour patrol (9) – Not Funded, staff has reviewed this request and 

believe this is an item better suited for a consideration on horizon for funding and implementation 

reasons.  For example, vehicle, body camera, and other personnel equipment associated with the 

positon.  However, as the city population continues to grow staff would like start a planning 

process that will consider the appropriate time to increase the police force. 
 
o Cubby Parking Lot Extension (9) – this project has started and funding will be shared 

within the operation budget of Public Works in both FY 21 and FY 22.  

 

HIGH 

o Relocate Brush Pile (8)  in our Wastewater Facility Expansion Plan.  $80,000 budgeted to 

move the brush pile.  A location has yet to be determined. 
 
o Review Building Permit Fees (8)  staff will be reviewing building permit fees and 

comparable fees in surrounding areas. As well as fees for mechanical, plumbing, and electrical 

work, which currently is not being assessed. 
 
o Retire the Building Rebate Program (8) – this project sunset on automatically the only 

thing needed will be an Administrative “Discussion Item”. 
 
o Main Street Storm Sewer Project (7) – Partially this project was underfunded years ago 

when the then Community State Bank was built.  In exchange for being allowed to build the bank 

without build the required stormwater infrastructure, the city allowed an escrow of $10,000 to be 

setup.  The project is estimated $85,000.  It is thought that the city may want contribute to this 

project with a potential developer to buy-down the expense of this project.  At this time Dollar 

General has expressed some interest in considering some type of public / private partnership in 

this regard. 
 
o Paid “On-Call” Time Policy (7) –  
 
o Downtown East Redevelopment (6) – this item is funded with a revolving fund that 

funds economic development activities related to the former Croell Ready-Mix site.  We anticipate 

budgeting $150,000 for potential pre-development activities related to this project.  This doesn’t 

mean we have to spend this amount it is just there should some development activity presents itself 

that the City Council wants to pursue. 



 

 

MODERATE 

o Hoover Hometown Days (4) – at this time the committee has agreed to move forward 

with this project.  Due to COVID-19 it is expected that some events may be cancelled but the 

overall festival is expected to continue. 
 
o Overlay One Alley in an Annual Process (4)  - the Alley between 5th and 4th going from 

Main Street to Green Street estimated cost $20,000. 
 
o Police Replacement Equipment (2) – within the operation budget. 
 
o Greenview Sidewalks (2) – anticipated to be discussion item. 
 
o Housing Trust / LMI Program (2) – anticipated to be a discussion item / policy 

recommendation. 
 
o Develop Fund Balance Policy (2) – anticipated to be a discussion item / policy 

recommendation. 
 
o Invest in More City and Park Cameras (1) – new cameras going around the fire station 

and updates around the police station. 
 
o Naming and Marketing Industrial Park (1) – . 
 
o Annexation Plan (Rummells Farm Back 50 and Cedar / Johnson Area) (1) – anticipated 

to be a discussion item / policy recommendation. 
 
o Parkview / BP Turn Lane (1) Not Funded, staff has reviewed this request and believe this is an 

item better suited for a consideration on horizon for construction and development timeframe 

reasons. 
 
o Planning Alternative Wastewater Treatment (a polishing treatment) wetland mitigation and 

Research Park / Eco Park Concept (1) –  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Currently Draft Proposed 

 Other Employee Benefits same as last year. 

 Civic Center adequate levels 

 Capital Improvement levy Started @ $20,000 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Insert Draft City 

Administrator’s

Recommended 

Budget 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      Gravesite – Herbert Hoover National Historic Site (U.S. National Park Service) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C
it

y 
A

d
m

in
is

tr
at

o
r’

s 
A

d
o

p
te

d
 F

Y 
2

1
-2

2
 B

u
d

ge
t 

(O
p

en
, A

gi
le

, a
n

d
 P

u
rp

o
se

fu
l G

o
ve

rn
m

en
t)

 
))

) 

Roger Laughlin      Colton Miller 
Mayor        Mayor Pro Tem 
 

Jodee Stoolman      Nick Goodweiler 
Councilperson       Councilperson 
 

Tom Dean       Jerry Sexton 
Councilperson       Councilperson 

Redmond Jones II 
City Administrator 

rjonesii
Typewritten Text
Early DRAFT



2 | P a g e    
 

City Council’s Stated Priorities 
 

RESOLUTION 1964 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING GOALS AND OBJECTIVES FOR THE CITY OF WEST 

BRANCH, IOWA FOR 2021-2022. 

 WHEREAS, on December 7, 2020; the governing body of the City of West Branch, Iowa went 

through a process of identifying the service priorities for the coming fiscal year 2021 – 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, the governing body discussed concepts of: Required Services, Core Business Choice, 

Quality of Life Services, Community “Add On”, Organization Foundation, Visioning and Teamwork; and 

 WHEREAS, the establishment of Goals and Objectives by the governing body was accomplished, 

and promotes a general direction for staff; and 

 WHEREAS, this direction promotes the overall efficiency and effectiveness of city services, and 

will facilitate the coming budget discussions and City Council Work Sessions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of West Branch, Cedar County, Iowa: 

 Section 1. That the foregoing recitals are incorporated in and made a part of this resolution by 

reference; and 

 Section 2.  That the Goals and Objectives of the City of West Branch for 2021-2022 are hereby 

declared to be and prioritized as follows: 

1. Promote Quality of life including Public Safety, Community Pride Events, Strong Citizen 
Involvement, Park and Recreation, opportunities and investment. 

 Greenview Water Main North Loop (11 votes – Top Priority) 

 Soil Mitigation Project (9 votes – Top Priority) 

 5th Full-Time Officer / 24 hour patrol (9 votes – Top Priority) 

 Paid “On-Call” Time Policy (7 votes – High Priority) 

 Police Replacement Equipment (2 votes – Moderate Priority) 

 Invest in More City and Park Cameras (1 vote – Low / Moderate Priority) 
 

2. Develop, Maintain and Rebuild Safe, Clean, Diverse, Healthy, Neighborhoods, including 
Partnering with the School District. 

 Relocate Brush Pile (8 votes – High Priority) 

 Main Street Storm Sewer Project (7 votes – High Priority) 

 Greenview Sidewalks (2 votes – Moderate Priority) 

 Housing Trust / LMI Program (2 votes – Moderate Priority) 
 

 

 

 

Preface 



3 | P a g e    
 

  

3. Develop inviting high profile visual impact project’s including gateways establishing 
destination, branding and other that reflect sound use of tax dollars. 

 Baseline Extension(s) at Cubby Park (12 votes – Top Priority) 

 Cubby Parking Lot Extension (9 votes – Top Priority) 

 Downtown East Redevelopment (6 votes – High Priority) 

 Parkview / BP Turn Lane (1 vote – Low / Moderate Priority) 

 Annexation Plan (Rummells Farm Back 50 and Cedar / Johnson Area) (1 vote – Low / 
Moderate Priority) 

 Naming and Marketing Industrial Park (1 vote – Low / Moderate Priority)  
 

4. Establish a sound and sustainable government supported by professionalism, progressive 
thinking and modernizing the organization. 

 Introduce Merit Pay System (10 votes – Top Priority)  

 Review Building Permit Fees (8 votes – Top Priority) 

 Retire the Building Rebate Program (8 votes – Top Priority) 

 Hoover Hometown Days (4 votes – Moderate Priority) 

 Overlay One Alley in an Annual Process (4 votes – Moderate Priority); this item was 
removed by unanimous city council vote at the January 19th City Council meeting. 

 Develop Fund Balance Policy (2 votes – Moderate Priority) 

 Planning Alternative Wastewater Treatment (a polishing treatment) wetland mitigation 
and Research Park / Eco Park Concept (1 vote – Low / Moderate Priority) 

 

************** 

 

Passed and approved this 21st day of December, 2020. 

 

 

ATTEST:       

 

____________________________________ 

Redmond Jones II, City Administrator/Clerk 

 

 

 

Preface 



4 | P a g e    
 

City Organizational Chart 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Preface 



5 | P a g e    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Preface 



6 | P a g e    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 
 

 

City Council’s Stated Priorities (Goal Setting) 

 

City Organizational Chart 

 

City Administrator’s Proposed Budget Message 

 

Adoption of Budget and Certification of City Taxes (Form 16-142) 

 

FY 2021-2022 

Notice of Public Hearing Budget Estimate 

 

FY 2020-2021 

Departmental Revenues City of West Branch Approved Budget As of: January 31st, 

2020 

 

FY 2020-2021 

Departmental Expenditures City of West Branch Approved Budget As of: January 

31st, 2020  

 

FY 2021-2022 (City Administrator’s Recommended) 

Expenditures City of West Branch Expenditures by Activity (Unaudited) As of: January 

31st, 2020. 

 

 

Page 2 

Page 4 

Page 7 

Page 13 

Page 27 

Page 42 

Page 62 

Table of Contents 

Page 28 



7 | P a g e    
 

 

February 16, 202 

Letter from the City Administrator 

Dear Citizens of West Branch: 

On behalf of the Mayor, City Council, and City Staff, I am pleased to present the Fiscal Year 

2020 – 2021 Budget for the City of West Branch. 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

  

 

 

 

(Forecast and Community Outlook) 

As the City Administrator, I would like to 

share with you some of my thoughts and 

beliefs for the future of this great 

community.  It is a testament to the 

leadership and fortitude of this historic 

community that it continues to move 

forward as one of the “Most Livable 

Communities in Iowa” as recognized by the 

Council for Community and Economic 

Research.  It is fair to say that “We are 

continuing to Move Forward”, despite the 

challenges of 2020.   

The Midwest Derecho swept through West 

Branch with torrential rain, hail, and 

hurricane speed winds.  This caused wide 

spread property damage.  Yet, our 

community came together with amazing 

neighborly support and was one of the first 

communities to restore power, open roads, 

and clean-up of the much of the property 

damage. Despite the public health 

emergency of COVID-19 which hit our 

business community hard, threatened the 

revenue stability of the city and challenged 

city workers to meet current and new 

demands for service; together we continue 

to press forward on much needed 

infrastructure investment like the College 

Street Bridge and Second Street 

Improvements. 

  

rjonesii
Typewritten Text
1



8 | P a g e    
 

The challenges of the 2020-2021 fiscal year, did not stop our housing economy.  The first quarter 

of 2020 began in promising fashion: with developer’s providing more buildable lots, more 

builders working in our community, strong buyer confidence and low interest rates West Branch 

was poised to have another record braking housing start year.  However, amidst health concerns 

and the resulting economic uncertainty our housing market have slowed, yet we continue to 

move forward with home sells (many new housing starts) that continue to outpace our previous 

12 months.   

 

Tourism has been arguably one of the hardest-hit industries across the nation during the 

coronavirus pandemic.  Our local tourism industry was not an exception, both the Herbert 

Hoover Presidential Library and Museum.  Our 36,735 visitors to West Branch pre COVID is 

estimated to have been reduced to approximately 7,184 visitors.  The National Park which 

surrounds the presidential library received 140,000 visitors pre COVID.  With the number of 

student / classroom cancellations, “shelter in place” travel advisories, and park closures we 

anticipated similar dramatic drops in visitation.  However, the National Park Service has used 

this slow down to invest in and construct much needed flood mitigation work on Hoover Creek.    

For a small community of approximately 2,500 citizens, we are the fastest growing community 

in Cedar County, with direct I-80 access and international industry partners like:  

 U.S Ventures (a transportation energy and supply chain management company),  

 Procter & Gamble (recently announced remaining in West Branch) 

 Altorfer Inc., 

 Plastic Products Company Inc. 

 Nordex (a global turbine manufacturer) and, 

 Wausau Supply Company. 



9 | P a g e    
 

Our largest industrial partners Procter and Gamble (a 300 job employer) will be staying in West 

Branch after two years of announcing plans to close the West Branch facility.  Procter and 

Gamble plans to invest in its Iowa City Beauty Care Plant while maintaining its production of 

oral rinse.  This will give the West Branch facility the ability to remain a multi-business unit 

supply warehouse.   

I am pleased, proud and somewhat pained by what our community endured in 2020.  However 

our ability to continue to move forward is awe-inspiring.  Our Community Outlook, when 

combined with our educational resources with neighboring University of Iowa and Kirkwood 

Community College, our recreational facilities, our cultural and historical amenities; a synergy is 

created that makes the West Branch community one of the premier destinations to live, work, 

and play.   

 

This budget represents our continued commitment to prudent fiscal management, to effective 

service delivery and to support affordable quality of life for our citizens.  Once adopted by the 

City Council, the budget established the direction for all City government programs and services 

for the coming fiscal year (July 1 – June 31).  It represents the consensus of City Council 

direction and staff recommendations on how best accomplish council goals and respond to the 

priorities of community needs. 

The FY 2021 – 2022 General Fund Budget contains strategic investments in several key focus 

areas for the city and is structurally balanced to fund critical services to our community.  Thanks 

to residents of West Branch for making the choice to invest in our park system, this budget is the 

next step in moving forward into our next phase of providing the operational logistics and capital 

enhancements for our new park amenity.  Opening a large new park, comes with its own set of 

challenges, but this budget has taken measured tactical steps to enhance capital items that were 

initially removed from the overall “Cubby Park” project.  This budget also provides the fiscal 

discipline that meets new operational needs.  This, was achieved without hindering our note-

worthy high level of service, or having increase our tax-rate. 

In addition, to the City’s investments in “Cubby Park”, there are still a number of smart 

infrastructure investments happening in strategic points of our community.  This budget revamps 

our “Capital Improvement Plan (CIP)” and prioritizes infrastructure investment in the older east-

side neighborhoods.  These investments will include water, storm sewer, and street 

improvements.  A three (3) to five (5) year plan has been devised to carry out the aforementioned 

CIP priority.  The budget also continues to address our long time flash flooding challenges in the 

downtown or central city area.  Flood mitigation will not only assist frequently effected 

downtown business and central neighborhoods.  It will also assist our first responders to avoid an 

estimated 12 inches of water from entering into the fire and police facility.  This is another 

capital investment that will not require an increase in taxes.  Despite the time delays due to land 

access negotiations this project is expected to start design and potentially construction in the 

coming fiscal year 2021-2022.   

(Budget Narrative) 



10 | P a g e    
 

This budget also continues investment in maintaining one of the highest public safety ratings in 

the State of Iowa.  Public Safety continues to be one of highest priorities for the West Branch 

community.  The Fire Department continues to be one of the best maintained fire fleets in the 

region, and our budget continues to support these efforts.  With regard to the Police Department, 

recent investments in upgrading the department’s body camera system was successfully 

implemented.  This budget starts the process of planning and working toward 24 hour police 

patrol.  This process starts by developing an “On Call” time policy. Not only will this 

compensate officers who have to stay on the ready on shifts that do not have a physical on the 

streets patrol.  It creates an expenditure that will better track the justifications needed to expand 

current police department service levels. It is a balancing act between managing overtime 

budgets and/or expanding personnel; while improving service levels to meet the increasing 

demands of a growing community.  At the current rate of growth, call demand levels, and 

growing community expectations; we believe within the next 3 – 5 years 24 hours 7 days a week 

service will be an unavoidable reality.  In in the meantime, we intend to be transparent in 

deliberating over the cost and benefits of adding a 5th police officer with the equipment necessary 

for round the clock service.   

Consistent with the City Council’s goal setting and policy direction, West Branch continues to 

find ways to increase the safety of our community.  The West Branch Schools and City 

partnership to implement a resource police officer in the elementary school has received raving 

reviews.  This year’s budget maximizes this relationship and anticipates to make the school 

resource officer a full-time officer to have duties dedicated to school resources and normal 

policing.  This creative and collaborative use of resources has created a win/win for the City, the 

School District, and the citizens.  Using well tested policing and fire science our Police and Fire 

Departments have found low cost methods to improve what are already highly rated services as 

attested by our ISO and safety ratings.     

As we commit to being a leader in continuous improvement of government services, we believe 

that at its basic levels government should always be “Open” to the public, “Agile” enough to 

respond to public demand; and “Purposeful” to ensure that ends make sense for the public 

good.    

 

In the words of President Herbert Hoover: 

(West Branch Native Son) 

 

“One of the crowning glories of American 

life is the natural leadership in every 

community.” 

 

 

 
 

https://westbranchiowa.org/visit-us/herbert-hoover/


11 | P a g e    
 

Building on common ground with an “open, agile, and purposeful” government relies on a 

capable staff in order to achieve success.  It is commonly understood, that strategic investments 

in employees, will attract and keep the best candidates.  Additionally, it will maintain and grow 

our continuous improvement culture.  For these reasons, this budget makes notable 

improvements in providing incentives for our employee who are preforming at high levels.  For 

the first time the city will develop and include a “Merit Pay System” that will allow employee to 

meet certain performance measures for pay raises above any cost of living adjustments.  We 

believe this will be a major step in remaining completive with the market place.  We have also 

made our cost of living adjustment based on Federal Labor Bureau Statistics and local economy 

considerations, which recommended a 2.0% living adjustment to salaries and wages.  Like other 

growing cities striving to keep up with the demands of expanding infrastructure, and managing 

the normal lag time of collecting the new revenues from new residents.  In this environment, 

employees are needed to wear multiple hats with multiple duties that may not easily be reflected 

in benchmark comparisons with the market place.  Although we constantly check to ensure we 

remain competitive with our wage and benefits, we are also cognizant of the need to move 

forward with a “Merit Pay System” that includes a classification study; thus, allowing for clearer 

strategies for promotions, job expectations, and merit bonuses. 
 

(Public Support) 

We try to focus our tax rate policies on making wise public investment and promoting fairness 

across the board.  It takes public trust for a local government to create a tax strategy that offers 

fiscal certainty.  I believe it’s not high taxes that upset citizens, it taxes that are not clearly 

explained or taxes that are not held accountable for clear outcomes.  I would continue to argue 

that this approach is its own form of economic development.  Businesses have to make long-term 

judgment and forecasting, they need to know what the tax rate will be five years from now, and 

they need confidence that the city will be able to fund the infrastructure and services it needs; 

otherwise, their cost of doing business goes up and their odds of long-term success goes down. 

There are two recent ballot measures that have allowed the city to implement this approach.  The 

Hotel / Motel Tax, and the Capital Improvement Reserve Levy.  Both measures were approved 

by the voters and helps to stabilize potential budget influences that could affect the tax rate.  The 

Hotel / Motel Tax is a locally imposed lodging tax that is collected by the State of Iowa.  For the 

City of West Branch, this is a new revenue stream that adds to the city’s fund balance health in 

the amount of approximately $18,000; this is equates to 0.12 cents in taxes that would have to be 

added to the existing tax rate to raise the equivalent amount of revenue. 

The Capital Improvement Reserve Levy is the first step in helping the city move forward with 

a disciplined Capital Improvement Strategy.  This levy does not have to be used or instituted in 

any given year.  It is intended to allow the City to keep the debt obligation portion of the tax rate 

steady.  Normally when cities pay off their debts, their tax rate normally goes down.  However, 

infrastructure needs don’t end, and cities find themselves having to issue more debt in the form 

of bonds to pay for new projects.  Unfortunately, this is an expensive way of paying for 

infrastructure.  Issuing “General Obligation Bonds” to pay for infrastructure typically come with 

bond attorney fees, state-mandated financial advisory fees, and bank issued finance charges.  In 



12 | P a g e    
 

“our plan” the money previously paid in debt service would now go into a Capital Improvement 

Reserve Fund.  This fund would be used like a savings account that could pay for things like 

sidewalks, road repairs or downtown improvements.  This way we avoid the typical expenses of 

General Obligation Bonds; and instead the city now has the ability to plan, approve, and use 

funds from our own reserve fund.    

The last area of public support has been in the area of wastewater.  The city sewer utility will 

required to implement new wastewater compliance regulations which have affected our rate 

structure.  The bad news is that we are in the second year of a three year rate increase plan.  Due 

to state unfunded mandates that require the city to meet higher quality wastewater treatment 

standards; a $2.50 annual increase was implemented in February 2020.  In addition to this year’s 

increase; it is intended to go up another $2.50 February 2022 before being reevaluated in 

February 2023.  The good news is the public has been very supportive as we go through this 

process. 

 

(Tax Rate Comparison) 

Our recommended and proposed Total Property Levy remains 13.09; it should also be noted that 

this is a “Status Quo” budget with a strategic investments to improve the employee benefits 

package budgeting the planning and development of “Merit Pay System”, which will ready to be 

deployed in FY 2022-2023.  The same tax rate also allows us to pursue bold new infrastructure 

improvements such as Design Expenses related to the Johnson County Roundabout at Hoover 

Hwy.  We will continue our efforts related to the Wapsi Flood Mitigating Creek Widening 

project.  We also will be conducting smaller neighborhood infrastructure improvements, and 

making additional investments in our new “Cubby Park”.  Thanks to our growth, all of this will 

be done without raising taxes.  This still ranks West Branch among the lowest tax rates in 

communities our size.  See cities of 2,100 – 2,500 population below: 

Postville (15.46712)  Audubon (20.67481)   Belle Plaine (15.69830) 

Hudson (11.39034)  La Porte City (16.08161) Madrid (19.17057) 

Jesup (14.61569)     Lamoni (16.52928)  Cascade (8.95326) 

West Union (15.20160)  Ida Grove (14.66673)  Marengo (14.69738) 

Bellevue (11.99023)  FairFax (8.10000)  Rock Rapids (16.00000) 

Mitchellville (9.53884)  Sac City (19.69063)  Hawarden (14.59150) 

Hull (12.36248)   Toledo (17.23126)  Kalona (10.59394)  

Lake Mills (13.55021)  Belmond (17.11934)  West Liberty (15.19601) 

Wilton (14.20950)   Durant (14.92904) 

Highlight cities are communities that are currently below West Branch’s current 13.09428. 

Please keep in mind that these rates do not reflect any proposed rate increases these 

communities maybe considering or imposing for next year’s FY 2021-2022 budget.   



13 | P a g e    
 

(Closing Remarks) 

The budget and finance division has introduced a new methodology and approach to preparing 

this year’s budget.  It has placed a greater emphasis on locking down unit cost, budget planning, 

measuring expenses, and examining revenues based on related staffing and/or program activities.  

One of the key elements in the operations budget is the estimated workload (the labor-hours per 

output).  Such units of measurement and staffing ratios are important for organizations that are 

growing (in growing communities).  The practice of funding staffing and activities out of 

funding centers within the budget “just because funding is there” may solve short-term funding 

challenges, but over time the organization loses an understanding of its bottom-line.  We have 

begun the process of reversing this budget culture.  As a result, it may appear that some 

department budget have grown, but in reality, they are just more reflective of “who they really 

are” with realistic service unit cost. 

Last year the City Council had many discussion regarding establishing a 3 month operating 

reserve?  After much discussion, this was delayed due to the concern that the issue of cash flow 

could be a problem during coming fiscal year.  Ultimately, the question is should the city create 

the expectation of encumbered funds when debt service obligations and/or the timing of paying 

said obligations may require these funds.  This policy debate is not over, but this year the city 

administration has implemented a City Council directive to establish a vehicle and equipment 

reserve for each department.  This is another step to become more fiscally disciplined and 

transparent.  If indeed cash flow does become an issue?  Reserve funds can still be made 

available, but the City Council would be obligation to have a public dialogue about why reserve 

funds are needed where they are to be used. 

From a policy making stand point, the strength of this budget comes from the continued financial 

discipline set into motion with the fiscal strategies in this budget. If we hold ourselves 

accountable and adopt policies that task fund categories to be more sustainable or self-sufficient 

and, if we can seek ways to diversify our revenue streams and have our cost reflected in service 

fees; we will emerge from our fiscal challenges stronger and better.  With a city administration 

philosophy that adopts a continuing improvement business model our aim is to combine the 

goals, visions, and efforts of our Mayor, City Council, City Staff, Citizens, and Community 

Volunteers.  Together we are turning vision into reality. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Redmond Jones II 

City of West Branch 

City Administrator 

Adoption of Budget and Certification of City Taxes (Form 16-142) 

 

 

  

https://westbranchiowa.org/city-of-west-branch/mayor-city-council/
https://westbranchiowa.org/city-of-west-branch/departments-2/
https://westbranchiowa.org/community/


14 | P a g e    
 

 

 

 

 



15 | P a g e    
  

Worksheet needs to be updated 



16 | P a g e    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



17 | P a g e    
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



18 | P a g e    
 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



19 | P a g e    
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



20 | P a g e    
  

Worksheet needs to be updated 



21 | P a g e    
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



22 | P a g e    
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



23 | P a g e    
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



24 | P a g e    
 

 

 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



25 | P a g e    
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



26 | P a g e    
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



27 | P a g e    
  

Worksheet needs to be updated 



28 | P a g e    
 

FY 2018 

Departmental Revenues City of West Branch Approved Budget As of: January 31st, 2018 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



29 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



30 | P a g e    
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



31 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



32 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



33 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



34 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



35 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



36 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



37 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



38 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



39 | P a g e    
 

 
 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



40 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated Worksheet needs to be updated 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



41 | P a g e    
 

FY 2018 

Departmental Expenditures City of West Branch Approved Budget As of: January 31st, 2018  

 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



42 | P a g e    
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



43 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



44 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



45 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



46 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



47 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



48 | P a g e    
 

 
 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



49 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



50 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



51 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



52 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



53 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



54 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



55 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



56 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



57 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



58 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



59 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



60 | P a g e    
 

FY 2019 (City Administrator’s Recommended) 

Expenditures City of West Branch Expenditures by Activity (Unaudited) As of: January 31st, 

2018. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



61 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



62 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



63 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



64 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



65 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



66 | P a g e    
 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



67 | P a g e    
 

  
 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



68 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



69 | P a g e    
 

 
 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



70 | P a g e    
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Worksheet needs to be updated 



71 | P a g e    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Documents end 


	Council Claims packet 2-16-2021.pdf
	20210210095828996
	20210210095908107




